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CONFERENCE CHAIRMAN WELCOME ADDRESS 

This proceedings is published to showcase the numerous papers accepted and presented at the 4th 
Annual International Academic Conference on Accounting and Finance with the above captioned 
theme. The Annual Conference is one of the initiatives of the prestigious Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Nigeria (ICAN) designed to give adequate opportunities to its members, and non-
members, to excel in their chosen endeavours. 

 
Members of the Institute working with universities, polytechnics and other tertiary educational 
institutions have been finding it difficult to attend the Annual Accountants' Conference of the Institute, 
thereby missing the opportunity to interact and network with professional colleagues and to earn credit 
points needed for advancement as professionals and for retaining membership certificate. This 
Academic Conference perfectly serves as a cost- effective alternative to ICAN members in the 
academic world as they use it to perfect their research and publication skills, enjoy academic mentoring, 
earn credit points, and ensure their rapid progress on the academic ladder. 

      The Annual International Academic Conference is conducted with the following specific objectives in   

  mind: 

1. To bring together members of the Institute: academics, practitioners, policy makers and students 
for exchange of ideas; 

2. To acquaint delegates with new areas of knowledge in the accountancy profession and related fields; 

3. To provide participants with open and scholarly feedback on their work from a truly global audience; 

4. To provide participants with networking opportunities to share ideas in various areas of accounting 
and related subjects; especially academics that participate in the Conference; 

5. To create avenue for mentor ïmentee relationship through Ph.D. colloquium, capacity building 
workshops and other activities of the Conference; and 

6. To offer a publication outlet for well-researched papers presented at the Conference. 

To achieve the objectives above, the Conference is usually packaged with activities like Opening 
Session, Workshops, Ph.D Colloquiums, Keynote Presentation, Lead Papers Presentation, 
Concurrent Papers Sessions and Closing Ceremonies. In 2017, the Institute commenced a 
programme of collaboration with Nigerian Universities to bring the Conference nearer to its target 
audience. The first collaboration was with the University of Lagos (UNILAG), while we are currently 
holding the second one in collaboration with Covenant University, Ota, Ogun State, Nigeria on their 
Campus. 

 
The proceeding is restricted to those papers that have been reviewed and accepted for presentation 
at the 4th Annual International Academic Conference. The papers reviewers, consisting of experienced 
professors and other senior academics, ensured that each abstract conforms with the requirements of 
highlighting the purpose/main objectives of the paper, methodology, the major findings, 
recommendations and policy implications proposed in the papers. 

 
Twenty (20) Accounting and Finance sub-themes were suggested at this year's Conference for 
prospective paper writers and Conference attendees to take advantage of and make their 
contributions. All the sub-themes have been patronized, even though some are more ñlovedò and, 
therefore, more patronized by the paper writers than others. The Conference received not less than 
200 papers written by members and non-members within Nigeria and from other parts of the world, 
including United Kingdom, Pakistan, Malaysia, Kenya, South Africa, among others. 

 

Finally, I welcome you all to this event and wish you a blissful and highly educative Conference. 

Professor Kabiru Dandago Isa PhD, FCA, FCTI, FNIM, FTMN, MNES, AAIF 

Chairman, Academic Conference Workgroup 
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CONTEMPORARY ISSUES IN ACCOUNTING, FINANCE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
Lead paper presented by: 

Dr. Bernard B. A. Verr, FCA 
BAZE University, Abuja 

 
Introduction 
It is a rare privilege to be before you scholars, captains of industry and established professionals in 
accounting and finance to present a Lead Paper.  It is quite intimidating to be before you and attempt to 
provide a lead on issues you clearly are in leadership position, but to chicken out will not help the cause of 
the organizers to óbring together members in academics, practitioners, policy makers and students for 
exchange of ideasô.  The repeat of the 2017 international academic conference of Contemporary Issues in 
Accounting, Finance and Corporate Governance is germane because a single conference could hardly 
exhaust the contemporary issues.  The accounting professional is still coping with the treatment of 
transactions and preparation of financial statement moving towards a universal convergence under the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Public Sector Accounting Standards 
(IPAS).  In the area of finance, we have the crypto-currency ï a digital currency in which encryption 
techniques are used to regulate the generation of units of currency and verify the transfer of funds, 
operating independent of a Central Bank.  There are also various issues surrounding risks ï with the kinds 
of risks companies are concerned with, how those risks are managed, pension scheme deficit, crowd 
funding, single currency and behavioral finance combining finance and psychology. 

 
I have taken the liberty to delve deeper into contemporary issues in corporate governance in Nigeria 
because this is an area I had to deal with in my public enterprise reform roles in Nigeria as well as service 
on the boards of both private and public companies. 
 
Corporate Governance 

 
It is generally agreed that weak corporate governance has been responsible for some recent corporate 
failures in Nigeria (SEC, 2014).  Corporate governance has received increased attention because of high 
profile scandals involving abuse of corporate power and in some cases, alleged criminal activity by 
corporate officers.  Following the conclusion of the consolidation programme in 2005, a code of corporate 
governance was issued to the banking industry (CBN, 2014).  Internal corporate governance control 
became an important issue in the wake of major accounting scandals both in the US and Europe (Turnball, 
1999).  For all intent and purposes, corporate governance is the internalization of internal control processes 
which aim at ensuring the integrity and reliability of the financial reports, ensuring compliance with 
applicable laws, regulations, professional rules and contractual obligation and promoting strategic, tactical 
and operational efficiency and effectiveness.  Corporate governance is implemented between regulations 
and voluntary codes and what option do we believe will be best for Nigeria?  We will discuss internal control 
and corporate governance codes and the various approaches to its implementation in other climes. 
 
 
Internal Control: 
The óCommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissionô (COSO) describes Internal 
Control as follows (ICAN, 2014) óInternal Control is a process effected by an entityôs BOARD of Directors, 
Management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement 
of objectives in the following categories: 

(a) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations; 
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(b) Reliability of Reporting 
(c) Compliance with applicable laws and regulationsô 
 

The Importance of Internal Control 
A companyôs system of internal control has to serve a number of functions.  (http://treasurytoday.com). 

 
It is one of the main tools used to identify and manage a companyôs risks, protect the investments made by 
shareholders and safeguard the companyôs assets.  Internal control aims to enhance business operations 
and ensure the effectiveness of external and internal reporting.  In addition, an internal control system 
should be designed to detect fraud and support management in complying with laws and regulations.In 
order to achieve this, an internal control system will focus to a large extent on financial controls and the 
detection and management of financial risks.  The system has to be able to adapt to a continuously 
changing risk profile, which also means that the efficiency of internal control methods and processes 
themselves need to be evaluated on a periodic basis.Internal control systems are not designed to avoid 
risks altogether, but to detect and assess the material risks to which a company is exposed and to enable 
the management of these exposures in the most appropriate way. 

 
Regulations and Voluntary Codes of Conduct on Internal Control 
The way in which a company has to organize its system of internal controls and the responsibilities that the 
management board has with regard to internal control depends on the country of operation.  It will be 
governed by law, by voluntary codes of conduct or, in some rate cases, not be governed at all externally. 
 
European Union 
Publicly quoted companies in the European Union are subject to the Directive on Statutory Audit 
(2006/43/EEC) which had to be adopted by all member states by the end of June, 2009.  This directive 
states that effective internal control systems contribute to minimizing financial, operational and compliance 
risks and enhance the quality of financial reporting.  The Directive requires therefore that a companyôs audit 
committee or an alternative body monitors the effectiveness of a companyôs internal control, audit and risk 
management systems.In addition, the EU Company Reporting Directive demands that companies from EU 
member states listed on the stock market have to publish a corporate governance statement together with 
their annual reports or on an individual basis.  This corporate governance statement should feature a 
description of any existing risk management systems and internal controls that are relevant to financial 
reporting.  The statement also has to refer to the corporate governance code applied by the company and 
explain to what extent the company complies with that code.These corporate governance codes of conduct 
exist in nearly all European countries on a largely voluntary basis according to the ócomply or explainô 
principle.  The principle dictates that companies either follow the recommendations of the national code or 
explain why they do not do so.  However, the majority of corporate governance codes do not actually define 
óinternal controlsô and some, like the Turnbull guidance which is part of the Combined Code in the UK, are 
more detailed than others in their prescriptions of how an internal control system should be structured and 
how the effectiveness of internal controls can be ensured.In Europe, EU Directives, national laws and 
corporate governance codes have not yet led to common principles and market practice with regard to 
internal control.  Companies are generally free to decide what kind of internal controls framework they 
would like to adopt. 
Sarbanes-Oxley 
Companies listed on a US stock exchange are subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
which, in response to accounting and financial scandals, requires that companies publish a statement on 
the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting and disclose any material weaknesses they 

http://treasurytoday.com/
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may have identified.  Directors of public companies are personally responsible for the evaluationof internal 
controls and the publication of their findings together with their companyôs Securities and exchange 
Commission (SEC) filings. 
 
Internal control frameworks 
There are a wide range of control frameworks that a company can adopt when implementing an internal 
control system. The most widely used, particularly in the US, is the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring 
Organization at the Treadway Commission) framework, but other frameworks such as COCO, the guidance 
issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, or the Turnbull guidance in the UK can also be 
employed by companies in order to comply with internal control regulations such as Sarbanes-Oxley. The 
differences between the individual frameworks are not fundamental but they may focus on different 
aspects, such as high impact and higher likelihood risks in the case of the Turnbull guidance. 
 
The COSO framework 
COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission) is a non-profit organisation 
that was founded in 1985 with the objective of identifying factors that contributed to fraudulent financial 
reporting. COSO is sponsored and funded by five major professional accounting associations and 
institutes: the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), the American Accounting 
Association (AAA), Financial Executives International (FEI), the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) and the 
Institute of Management Accountants (IMA).In 1992, COSO issued the report óInternal Control ï Integrated 
Frameworkô in order to help businesses and other organisations assess and improve their internal control 
systems. The framework defined internal control and established standards and criteria which companies 
can use to evaluate their own internal control systems.The framework is based on a number of key 
concepts, according to which internal control has to be understood as a process which is affected by 
people at every level of an organization and not simply a set of policies and procedures. Internal control 
can, in addition, only provide a reasonable level of assurance, rather than achieve complete assurance to a 
companyôs management and board that its internal control objectives are met. These objectives are namely 
to guarantee: 

 

¶ The effectiveness and efficiency of operations. 

¶ The reliability of financial reporting. 

¶ Compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

¶ The safeguarding of assets. 
The COSO framework structures internal control into the following interrelated components which are 
integrated into the management process. 

 
(a) Control environment 

The control environment forms the basis of internal control by ensuring that internal control is embedded 
into the structure and thinking of the company on both the management and staff level. The control 
environment consists of elements such as established values, management philosophy, assignment of 
responsibility and the leadership and guidance provided by senior management on internal control. 

 
(b) Risk assessment 

Any company faces a variety of risks to its business objectives. These risks have to be identified and 
evaluated to enable the efficient management of each risk. As business risks are constantly changing, 
internal control mechanisms need to be able to adapt and address the risks resulting from these changes. 
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(c) Control activities 

The control activities are, according to the COSO framework, all policies and procedures which help to 
ensure that management Directives are carried out. They include various aspects such as the segregation 
of duties, authorisations, account reconciliations, verifications, reviews of operating performance and 
information processing controls that ensure the protection of assets and the timely preparation of reliable 
financial statements. 

 
(d) Information and communication 

Business decision making relies to a large extent on internal and external information. This means that 
information and communication systems are needed to identify, process and aggregate all pertinent 
information on business performance and operational, financial and compliance risks. Internal control 
processes must ensure that important information can be passed on efficiently between staff and 
management, as well as between the company and external partners including customers, suppliers, 
shareholders or regulators. The capabilities of a companyôs IT environment are therefore also evaluated 
regularly. 

 
(e) Monitoring 

To manage effectively the risks faced by the company, the quality and effectiveness of internal control 
needs to be assessed on a continuous basis and, if necessary, improved. Monitoring should be part of the 
operational business as well as a supervisory activity performed by management on behalf of the board. It 
is achieved through continuous monitoring and separate individual reports. The reliability of any existing 
continuous monitoring systems and the complexity of the risks that a business faces will determine the 
number of additional individual evaluations and reports that are required by the management board to 
assess the effectiveness of internal controls.For each component, the COSO framework prescribes a 
number of criteria against which companies can evaluate their internal control set-up. The different 
components are connected and may overlap to form a system that can react dynamically to a changing risk 
environment. As such, the internal control system should form part of the operating business and 
infrastructure. Internal control objectives and components are also related in the sense that all components 
have to be in place to address each individual objective.In the US the COSO framework is used not only by 
public companies to comply with Sarbanes-Oxley but also by smaller private companies to establish or 
evaluate existing internal control systems. While the general framework remains the same, the application 
of the principles is adapted depending on the size and nature of the company. The COSO framework has 
also strongly influenced other internal control frameworks internationally. 
 

(f) Turnbull recommendations 
The basic objectives of the COSO framework can also be found in the Turnbull recommendations 
published in the UK in 1999. The fundamental difference is that the Turnbull report focuses on high impact 
and higher likelihood risks. The Turnbull report on internal control places strong emphasis on objective 
setting, risk identification and risk assessments when evaluating internal controls. The reportôs 
recommendations encourage directors to regularly consider the following factors: 

 

¶ The nature and extent of the risks facing the company. 

¶ The likelihood that these risks may materialize. 

¶ The types and levels of acceptable risk. 

¶ The companyôs ability to reduce the likelihood and impact of identified risks. 
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¶ The cost-effectiveness of operating individual internal controls relative to the 
benefit gained by managing the risks. 

 
The Turnbull approach considers the understanding of business objectives and the analysis of risks as a 
pre-requisite to the design of effective internal controls. The basic idea is to understand the risks, to design 
controls based on those risks and to perform tests to evaluate the controls. 

 
The Nigerian Experience 
Two codes of corporate governance operate now in Nigeria.  We have the code of Corporate Governance 
for Banks and Discount Houses and Guidelines for Whistle Blowing in the Nigerian Banking Industry issued 
by the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) and Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies issued by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).  The Central Bank of Nigeria has supervisory and 
regulatory powers in its enabling legislation and may be able to adequately ensure adherence to its code.  
Apart from the lack of regulatory powers of SEC on public companies, there is the question of resistance to 
compliance with law in our environment.  In addition to the above short-comings, the whole of public 
enterprises like the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation, the power sector, the ports sector and other 
very important public enterprises with immense impact on our economy are not covered.  If internal control 
is so central to the success of organizations and Chartered Accountants are the focal point for its 
development, internalization and use, why canôt we make the effort to ensure that it becomes part of our 
Companies and Allied Matters Act? 

 
Observation 
Corporate Governance as Internalization of Internal Control Concept, Processes and Procedures in the 

Systems of Organization 
 

(A) OECD (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development) Principles of Corporate 
Governance, and especially under the responsibilities of the Board provides as follows:- 

 
(i) Board members should act on a fully informed basis, in good faith, with due diligence 

and care and in the best interest of the company and the shareholders. 
(ii) The Board should fulfill certain key functions, including 

(a) Reviewing and guiding corporate strategy, major plans of action, risk policy, 
annual budgets and business plans; setting performance objectives; monitoring 
implementation and corporate performance; and overseeing major capital 
expenditures, acquisitions and divestitures. 

(b) Monitoring effectiveness of the companyôs governance practices and making 
changes as needed. 
 

(c) Ensuring the integrity of the corporations accounting and financial reporting 
systems, including independent audit, and that appropriate systems of control 
are in place, in particular, systems for risk management, financial and 
operational control, and compliance with the laws and relevant standards. 

 

(B) The Securities and Exchange Commission Code of Corporate Governance for Public 
Companies set the duties of the Board of Directors as follows:- 
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(i) Duties of the Board  
The duties of the Board shall include the following: 
(a)  Formulation of policies and overseeing the Management and conduct of the 

business;  
(b)  Formulation and management of risk management framework;  
(c)  Succession planning and the appointment, training, remuneration and 

replacement of board members and senior management;  
(d)  Overseeing the effectiveness and adequacy of internal control systems; 
(e)  Overseeing the maintenance of the companyôs communication and information 

dissemination policy;  
(f)  Performance appraisal and compensation of board members and senior 

executives;  
(g)  Ensuring effective communication with shareholders; 
(h) Ensuring the integrity of financial reports;  
(i)  Ensuring that ethical standards are maintained;  
(j)  Ensuring compliance with the laws of Nigeria; 
(k) Provide non-executive directors with a conducive environment for the effective 

discharge of their duties; and 
(l) Provide non-executive directors in a timely manner adequate and 

comprehensive information on all Board matters. 
 

(ii) The Chairman´s functions should include the following:  
(a) Providing overall leadership and direction for the board and the company;  
(b) Setting the annual board plan; 
(c) Setting the agenda for board meetings in conjunction with the CEO and the 

Company Secretary;  
(d) Playing a leading role in ensuring that Board and its committees are composed 

of the relevant skills, competencies and desired experience;  
(e) Ensuring that Board meetings are properly conducted and the Board is effective 

and functions in a cohesive manner;  
(f) Ensuring that board members receive accurate and clear information in a timely 

manner, about the affairs of the company to enable directors take sound 
decisions; 

(g) Acting as the main link between the Board and the CEO as well as advising the 
CEO in the effective discharge of his duties;  

(h) Ensuring that all directors focus on their key responsibilities and play 
constructive role in the affairs of the company;  

(i) Ensuring that induction programmes are conducted for new directors and 
continuing education programmes is in place for all directors;  

(j) Ensuring effective communication and relations with companyôs institutional 
shareholders and strategic stakeholders;  

(k) Taking a lead role in the assessment, improvement and development of the 
Board; and  

(l) Presiding over general meetings of shareholders. 
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(iii) The Risk Management Committee: 
The functions of the Committee should be guided by written terms of reference or a 
charter and should include the following:-  

 
(a) Review and approval of the companies risk management policy including risk 

appetite and risk strategy;  
(b)  Review the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and controls; 
(c)  Oversight of managementôs process for the identification of significant risks 

across the company and the adequacy of prevention, detection and reporting 
mechanisms;  

(d)  Review of the companyôs compliance level with applicable laws and regulatory 
requirements that may impact the companyôs risk profile; 

(e)  Periodic review of changes in the economic and business environment, 
including emerging trends and other factors relevant to the companyôs risk 
profile; and  

(f)  Review and recommend for approval of the Board risk management procedures 
and controls for new products and services. 

 
(C) The provisions of the Corporate Governance for Banks from the Central Bank is not too 

different from what we have indicated above.  
 

(D) If the specific objectives of internal control include the following:- 

¶ Ensuring the integrity and reliability of the financial reports 

¶ Ensuring compliance with applicable laws, regulations, professional rules and 
contractual obligations 

¶ Promoting strategic, tactical and operational efficiency and effectiveness (Hopwood, W, 
Young G and Leiner J ï 2013). 

 
We must arrive at the inescapable conclusion that Corporate Governance is the internalization 
of internal control in the Systems of Organizations. 
 

Voluntary Adoption of Corporate Governance Codes in Nigeria 
The Nigerian society prides itself in resisting compliance to rules and regulations even when they 
are laws backing compliance, for example, payment of taxes.  IF the conclusion from every learned 
angle is that corporate governance compliance is too important to be left to peoplesô whims and 
caprices, and if we know that its strengthening will impact positively on our economy, we should try 
strong and stringent regulations.  Corruption is fighting back tooth and nail in Nigeria and any 
avenue that provides us with better tools of trade should be grabbed. 

 
The Current Coverage of Corporate Governance Codes in Nigeria 

(a) For the moment, the current coverage of corporate governance codes is limited to public 
companies (SEC) and Banks and Financial Institutions (Central Bank of Nigeria).  I am sure 
that most of you in this hall may have forgotten that the Nigerian Telecommunications 
Limited (NITEL), the leading communications company died exactly at the time when 
international telecommunication companies were scrambling for the Nigerian market.  It died 
because of the abuse of internal control and governance abuses. 
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(b) We came on the Board of NITEL in 2004 and we were led by the best Engineer Nigeria 

could find, Engr. VincentMaduka, the former Director-General of Nigerian Television 
Authority (NTA).  Yours truly was also on the Board and we met a Contract Manager, 
Messrs. Pentascope. 

 
(I) Table I is the Profit Accounts for 2003 when the contract managers, Pentascope were in 

place and 2002 when they were yet to be employed. 
 

 
NIGERIAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED (NITEL)     -            

     Table I 
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2003 
 

                      2003          2002 
                       Nô000     Nô000 
Traffic Revenue                 41,445,534 53,487,296 
Deduct: Direct Costs 
Out-payments            (1,472,813) (1,844,852) 
Other Direct Costs        (15,316,635) (13,342,231)  
Interconnect Charges          (9,497,650)  (6,096,034) 
Gross Profit           15,157,036 32,202,179 
Other Income        1,575,487   2,847,487 
Exchange Gain   462,278 286,222 
       17,194,301 35,335,888 
Administrative Expresses       (6,329,901) (5,114,321) 
Office and General Expenses      (3,205,298) (1,763,107) 
Interest on Loan          (128,528)    (244,047) 
Depreciation       (8,737,822) (7,690,164) 
Amortization  of Carrier  & Gateway Services License            (12,600)  
Statutory Levy         (251,585)    (450,962) 
Other  Expenses    (11,440,577)  (4,571,624) 
(Loss)/Profit on before exceptional item    (12,911,410) 15,026,056 
Taxation         (423,425) (6,468,926) 
(Loss)/Profit on Ordinary Activities after Taxation     (19,561,744)   8,557,130 
(Loss)/Earnings per share (kobo)   (18)  8 
 

(II) The loss incurred for the year was N19,561,744,000 as opposed to a profit of 
N8,557,130,000 made in 2002. Up to their first year of performance, the loss level in NITEL 
had reached N27.12 billion. Whereas income went down about 22.5% of the 2002 
performance, operating costs went up about 14%. 
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TABLE II  

CASH POSITION HANDLED BY THE MANAGEMENT CONTRACTORS 
 

 01/01-31/12/03 
NôBillion 

01/01-31/04/04 
NôBillion 

Opening Balance 16.34  0.11  

Receipts  56.09  11.26  

Treasury Bills Discounted  5.7 78.13  11.37 

Payments     

Treasury Bills Rediscounted      

Closing Balance     

Financing by Overdraft     

TOTAL     

 
(III) From the period under consideration, cash available to the management contractors was 

N78.13 billion. (Approximately U$566 million) out of which all was squandered, resulting 
with an overdraft position of N2.5 billion (Approximately U$18 million). The Bureau of 
Public Enterprises had estimated U$1 billion as the total investment requirement for NITEL 
over 3 ï 4 years. In one year, the whole amount was available in cash. 

TABLE III 
PLANNED REPAIRS, REHABILITATION AND NETWORK EXPANSION 

REQUIREMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT CONTRACTORS 
  

 NôBillion 

Lagos Expansion (250,000 lines 3.13 

Fixed Wireless (CDMA) 1.00 

Switch Upgrades/Data Read/Mediation 2.98 

Mediation System 0.90 

Prepaid Platform 0.60 

Network Expansion 4.53 

Corporate Headquarters  0.40 

Financial Information System 0.12 

Others 1.35 

TOTAL 14.00 

 
(IV) If N14 billion was required incremental in investments to optimize returns for NITEL, how 

come N78.13 billion was obtained in 2003 and an overdraft has to be resorted to at the end 
of the year? 

 
(V) Contract Provisions offended Corporate Governance Framework Stipulated in Company 

and Allied Matters Act 1990 
 

Strangely, they were allowed by a provision in the contract, to operate outside the 
corporate governance framework provided under the companies and Allied Matter Act 
(CAMA 1990).It was provided in S2.9.2 of the management  contract ñContractor and each 
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of NITEL and M-TEL shall establish an Executive Committee  for NITEL and Executive 
Committee  for M-TEL, each of which Executive Committee  shall be  comprised of five (5) 
members, three (3) of whom shall be appointed by the contractor and two (2) of whom 
shall be appointed  by NITEL  and M-TEL as the case maybe, for the purpose of 
implementing and managing the day-to-day operations and affairs of NITEL and M-TEL 
é.ò óS2, 9, 6é.The Executive Committee shall recommend to the subject Board its 
selection of provider in each case with supporting documentation and information from the 
tender process. The Subject Board shall have twenty (20) business days to approve or 
reject the Executive Committee recommendations. In the event the subject Board rejects 
the recommendation of the Executive Committee, it shall do so in writing, stating its 
reasons for same. The matter will then be referred by the Executive Committee to the 
National Council on Privatization which shall have ten (10) business days to review  the 
tender process, the recommendation of the Executive Committee and the decision taken 
by the Board and rule on the matter by upholding the Executive Committee or the Board 
decision. Usually, the management of a company under CAMA, (1990) is the responsibility 
of the Board with day-to-day responsibility delegated to the Executive Management. The 
decision of the Board is always final in such corporate governance framework. In the 
management contract however, if the contractors did not get a favourable decision from 
the Board, they had an appellant body in the National Council on Privatization. The above 
provision whittled down the power of the Board in favour of the contractors and makes the 
Board almost redundant.  NITEL will be around today, offering employment, services and 
contributing taxes to our coffers.  Should we then wait for the death of NNPC?We should 
develop strategies to ensure a larger coverage of the code of corporate governance with 
appropriate legislative to protect our patrimony. 

 
Issues to Consider 
 

¶ Corporate Governance is the internalization of internal control concepts, processes and 
procedures. 

¶ Voluntary adoption of corporate governance codes in Nigeria will not provide optimal 
solutions. 

¶ The current coverage of corporate governance codes in Nigeria is limited to public 
companies and banking and financial institutions excluding public enterprises and therefore 
considered inadequate. 

¶ Effective operations of corporate governance concepts, processes and procedures in 
Nigeria will reduce fraud levels. 

¶ There is a dire need to develop a robust legal and regulatory framework to internalize the 
concept of corporate governance to ensure effective compliance, 

 
Recommendations 
 

¶ A robust legal and regulatory framework should be developed and implemented to internalize the 
concepts of internal control through corporate governance codes in Nigeria. 

¶ Chartered Accountants, who are most impacted and impact on the operations of internal control 
should lead the change, develop a position paper and approach the National Assembly for an 
amendment of the Companies and Allied Matters Act, 1990, the legislation which as has been 
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shown, contains several Sections dealing with powers of the Board of Directors, Financial 
Statements and Audit. 

¶ A communication and related strategies developed to progress the matter should be couched in 
terms of anti-corruption to tie in with the mantra of the current administration to encourage the 
successful coverage of public enterprises and buy-in by Government. 

¶ Emphasis for the project should be placed on the general beneficial effect to the economy if 
organizations are managed efficiently and effectively and there is a legal and regulatory framework 
to ensure that they are so managed. 

Conclusion 
 
Dear colleagues, as you continue informed academic deliberations on the important formidable subject-
matter of the contemporary issues in accounting, finance and corporate governance, the little matter of a 
robust legal and regulatory framework for the implementation of corporate governance codes in Nigeria 
should not be lost on your crowded tables.  If it makes for efficiency and effectiveness of organizations and 
public enterprises and protects their assets, it must be good for the Nigerian economy. 
 
God bless and wishing you fruitful deliberations. 
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Conference theme 1: 

Financial reporting regulations and standards 
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Abstract 
The decision usefulness of financial statements depends on their ability to satisfy the fundamental and 
enhancing qualitative characteristics of relevance, faithful representation, neutrality, understandability, 
completeness, reliability and timeliness. To be relevant, financial statements should provide financial and 
non-financial information needed by providers of all variants of capital to make decisions. From various 
literature, the current financial statements satisfy only the information needs of financial capital providers 
hence a need for a review of the existing practices to find out how the stakeholders information needs can 
be met beyond financial performance which is the thrust of this paper. Using the ex-post facto research 
design of reviewing related secondary data in some published reports and validating revealed practices 
with a survey, this study found that few entities that voluntarily disclose non-financial information enhanced 
their legitimacy and acceptability by their host communities. Since the inclusion of non-financial information 
in financial statements is not mandatory in Nigeria, the attribute of relevance is impaired calling to question 
their completeness, neutrality, credibility and decision usefulness.  This study supports the view that, in the 
interdependent environment of business, value is created by all capitals. Pursuant to this, the resultant 
financial reports should reflect all stakeholdersô information needs both to enhance their legitimacy and to 
justify their resource dependence. The study therefore recommends the mandatory adoption of Integrated 
Report which will contain all financial and non-financial reports.  

Keywords:Integrated Report, Non-financial Information, Relevance, Resource Dependence, Variants of 
Capital. 

 

Introduction  
The nature and purpose of financial reporting are conventionally defined by law and standards.In Nigeria, 
Sections 334 (1) and 335 of the Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), LFN 2004(as amended) and 
Section 8(1) of the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCN) Act no. 6, 2011 respectively require 
boards of directors of all listed entities to prepare audited financial statements in line with applicable 
standards, as part of their stewardship reports, which would be presented to shareholders at Annual 
General Meeting.  

Also, as part of the listing conditions on the Nigerian Stock Exchange, Section 60 of the Investment and 
Securities Act (ISA), 2007 requires intending companies to file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, on periodic or annual basis, audited financial statements. The goal of the requirements is to 
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sustain investorsô confidence in such reports as well as the capital market which provides the framework for 
investible funds.   

The 2011 joint Conceptual Framework by Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) states that such financial statements shouldsatisfy some fundamental 
and enhancing characteristics to be regarded as true and fair. These characteristics are relevance, 
presentational faithfulness, neutrality, comparability, verifiability, completeness, timeliness and 
understandability. Financial statements prepared in conformity with these benchmarks will elicit the 
confidence of a broad spectrum of users, reassure investors and other users and provide them with 
predictive and confirmatory financial information (IASB, 2011; McDaniel, Martin and Maines, 2002; and Van 
Beest, Braam and Boelens, 2009). Increased confidence in these high quality financial statements are 
expected to positively impact the cost of capital and stimulate more investment activities in the economy. 

The thrust of the general purpose financial statements is to provide information on the financial position and 
financial performance of an entity (Brouwer, Faramarzi & Hoogendoorn, 2014; IASB, 2011). A review of any 
corporate entityôs published financial statements will reflect its financial transactions and their impact on 
shareholdersô funds during the period it covers. This is because, the ultimate goal of the board is 
maximization of shareholdersô wealth reflected in the growth of the organisationôs net worth. Such reports 
are skewed in favour of financial capital providers creating the false and misleading impression that 
organisations only operate with financial capital. 

The world of business is changing very rapidly and so are the value creating activities of corporate entities. 
As a result, the resources that an entity uses are now much more than its internal resources. To fill the 
resource gap, the entity needs to obtain additional resources from the society. As the entity engages in 
value creation, the nature and quantum of variants of capital employed may be increased, decreased, 
transformed or completely used up {International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), 2013}. For instance, 
during the process of value creation, wasting natural capital may be used up and the ecosystem degraded 
at great cost to society. If the society shares in the entityôsfinancing costs in this manner, it is legitimate for 
it to desire to share in the resultant benefits (Bhasin, 2017). In view of this, the entityôs business model 
should acknowledge the connectivity between the internal and external factors as it strives to create value 
(Busco, Frigo, Quattrone and Riccaboni, 2014). Given these dynamics and resource interdependence 
between the entity and its environment, corporate reporting should also change to meet the needs of a 
wider stakeholder audience by providing financial and non-financial information (Bhasin, 2017; Hertgers, 
2016).  

Globally, there is a dearth of resources as the population of the world, according to UNFPA (2017), is 
expected to hit the 8.5billion mark in 2030. It was 7.5 billion in 2017. This grim situation is compounded by 
high rate of deforestation, climate change and global warming caused in the main by the productive 
activities of organizations for which they take little or no responsibility. Preserving the earth and its capacity 
to sustain human lives has assumed the front burner in the United Nationôs development programme hence 
the launch of the Sustainable Development Programmes.  

Prior to this launch, there have been several initiatives by various governments, as a collective, to address 
this challenge- the Rio Declaration (1992), the Kyoto Protocol (1997), Millennium Summit (2000) and the 
Johannesburg World Summit (2002). In 2015, the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and its 17 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were agreed at the New York Summit. The common strand in 
most of these summits is the need to create awareness on how the activities of organizations impact 
everyone and everything and the need to take urgent measures not only to get organisations to pay for and 
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abate their externalities but also to save the earth.As aggressive efforts were on to create the desired 
awareness about the need for organisations to address the problem of environmental degradation, it 
became expedient that nations should go beyond the numbers in financial reports of corporate entities and 
push for a reporting framework that will provide relevant and all-inclusive information on how organizations 
are managed, how they do business, their governance and values.   

In most jurisdictions, organisations create value through the interrelationships and interactions between 
various capitals. Natural or environmental capital, manufactured capital, intellectual capital, human capital 
and social and relationship capital collectively play crucial roles in value creation by business entities 
(ICAEW, 2012; IIRC, 2013). The non-reflection of the contributions of these other capitals in the financial 
statements creates a problem of information expectation gap between the corporate entities and their 
stakeholders. 

In Nigeria, financial statements prepared by listed entities are general purpose financial reporting which 
contain only financial information (Section 334 of CAMA, 2004). Although this practice complies with 
standards and regulations, stakeholders now desire non-financial information beyond just financial 
performance. Stakeholders of an entity that operates in the Niger Delta, for instance, cannot rely only on 
financial information to determine its performance and sustainability. The non-financial information 
contained in environmental and sustainability reports prepared by such an entity, may be crucial to its 
legitimacy and acceptance by the community (Owolabi, 2009). 

In response, the FRCN made the preparation and inclusion of corporate governance report in stewardship 
report of boards mandatory (FRCN Act, 2011). However, this requirement deals only with how the 
organisation is directed and controlled while no mention is made of the impact of the entityôs activities on 
the environment. Non-financial information is as relevant to the process of decision making as financial 
information because such information often provide insight into business strategies, its governance, risk, 
opportunities as well as possible future sustainability of the company(IIRC, 2013). 

In the context of financial reporting, relevance can be explained in terms of its impact on decision making. 
Information is relevant if its availability will alter the decision of a user of financial statements. Such material 
information should necessarily include financial and non-financial information to be complete. Citing IASB 
(2011), Mackenzie, Coetsee, Njikizana, Chamboko and Colvas (2011, p.13) observed that, ñto be useful, 
information should be relevant to the decision-making needs of users. Information has the quality of 
relevance when it influences the economic decisions of users by helping them evaluate past, present or 
future events or confirming or correcting their past evaluationò.   

Since accounting numbers in financial statements prepared in Nigeria do not reflect, and are not designed 
to capture, the level of degradation of the environment caused by productive activities, the non-financial 
information needs of stakeholders are not satisfied. The narrow shareholdersô wealth maximisation 
objective,espoused by neoclassical economists over the years, diminishes the decision usefulness of 
financial statements to other stakeholders or providers of other capitals in Nigeria. Therefore, it is 
ñbecoming increasingly less fit for the purpose (Busco et al, 2013 p.34).ò The problem, which this study 
wants to provide solution, is how to satisfy the desire of stakeholders in Nigeria for non-financial information 
as this can influence their (i.e., stakeholders) decision to invest or divest from an entity, patronise or boycott 
its products, grant or deny it trade and long term credits, supply or deny it access to crucial  raw materials. 
The objective of this study therefore is to determine how to satisfy the desire by stakeholders in Nigeria for 
non-financial information by leveraging integrated reporting as a corporate reporting framework which 
encompasses financial and non-financial information.   
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The apriori expectation of the study is that respondents will have a negative perception of IFRS based 
financial statements and support the proposition thatan all-inclusive, concise and condense Integrated 
Report which contains both financial and non-financial information should be introduced. This will bring to 
the fore the urgent need for standard setters, regulators and policy makers to revisit the subsisting IFRS 
Conceptual Framework, the thrust, content and structure of its financial statements such that they are 
consolidated with other non-financial reports, existing in various silos, to form an integrated report. The 
envisaged integrated report will satisfy the relevance and faithful presentation qualitative characteristics of 
financial statements as well as improve their offerings and value relevance in line with stakeholdersô 
theory.It will also demand mandatory disclosures of all relevant information that can influence the economic 
decisions of all capital providers. 

The remaining part of this study is segmented into four sections. The first section reviews the literature 
while the second contains the methodology. The third section discusses the findings while the last section 
contains the summary, conclusions and recommendations. 

Literature Review 
This section provides a conceptual review of the various key concepts as well as a discussion of the 
theories underpinning this study. 

Conceptual review 
Stakeholder information needs 
According to IIRC(2013, p. 33),  stakeholders are ñthose groups or individuals that can reasonably be 
expected to be significantlyaffected by an organizationôs business activities, outputs or outcomes, or whose 
actions canreasonably be expected to significantly affect the ability of the organization to create value 
overtimeò. Stakeholders may include providers of financial capital, employees, customers,suppliers, trade 
creditors, business partners, local communities, NGOs, environmental groups, legislators,regulators, 
providers of other capitals and policy-makers. Thus, stakeholders are diverse and their information needs 
are as diverse as their composition.  

The current reporting framework cannot provide all the information required by stakeholders which can be 
classified into two parts: financial and non-financial information. The general purpose financial statements, 
which are stewardship reports of persons in fiduciary capacity, provide financial information on the assets, 
liabilities and changes in the stock of wealth of the owners of the business, the shareholders.In line with 
morality, regulation, standard and law, members of the board of directors as agents, are required to submit 
these stewardship reports in the form of financial statements to their principals, at least once a year, at the 
annual general meeting. Thus, the stakeholdersô need for credible and reliable financial information is 
satisfied.  

However, there is little or no framework for the provision of non-financial information in financial statements. 
Beyond the mandatory inclusion of corporate governance report, such financial statements do not contain 
non-financial information on how the activities of the entities have impacted the environment or the 
contributions of other variants of capital to the value creating process of the entity. In addition, they are 
largely backward looking instead of offering forward-looking information about strategy, performance and 
risk (Busco et al 2013). Stakeholders, including those in Nigeria, require both financial and non-financial 
information to make optimum investment decisions. They desire to know how their entities are managed, 
their business model, risk management strategy and how values will be created in the short, medium and 
long term.  
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Financial Performance 
The neoclassical economists view on the goal of business is profit maximisation and therefore, they 
reasoned that the prime duty of board members is to strive to maximize the wealth of shareholders who are 
the providers of financial capital.Pursuant to this, the board is empowered to borrow, acquire and use 
resources as they consider fit in the overall interest of the enterprise.Rationality requires that the resultant 
financial statements to be prepared by the board should reflect what it achieved within a given time period 
usually a year. Thus, Financial statements, according to International Accounting Standards Committee 
Foundation (2010, p. A293), are ña structured representation of the financial position and performance of an 
entityò. As evidence of financial performance, financial statements are instruments of accountability with 
which stakeholders can hold directors to account. 

The financial performance of an entity can be discerned from its level of profitability, liquidity, solvency, 
gearing, earnings per share and financial efficiency ratios of return on equity, asset turnover and return on 
assets. When these performance indicators are favourable, the entityôs shareholdersô funds, ability to pay 
dividends and its share prices will increase. These information, which can be computed from general 
purpose financial statements, enable the entityôs diverse shareholders to make investment decisions. 

Integrated Reporting 
As conceptualized and driven by the International Integrated Reporting Committee (IIRC), Integrated 
Reporting, is to bring together material information, including non-financial information, about an 
organizationôs strategy, governance, performance and prospects in a way that reflects the commercial, 
social and environmental context within which it operates(IIRC, 2013). According to IFAC(2017) as cited by 
Bhasin (2017, p18), ñintegrated reporting is the way to achieve a more coherent reporting system, fulfilling 
the need for single report that provides a fuller picture of organisationsô ability to create value over time.ò  

The drive for integrated reports is to fill the gap in the subsisting financial reporting framework which places 
greater, and near absolute, premium on meeting the information needs of financial capital providers.Since 
accounting numbers in financial statements prepared in Nigeria do not reflect, and are not designed to 
capture, the level of degradation of the environment caused by productive activities, the non-financial 
information needs of stakeholders are not satisfied. While these financial information are key to investment 
decision, stakeholders also need non-financial information to make optimal investment decisions. For 
instance, what are the contributions of environmental and human capitals to the values created by the 
entity?  Although their contributions are largely and often positive, they are not reflected in the numbers in 
the financial statements. Stakeholders who desire non-financial information are unwittingly denied access 
to material information which will enhance their decision making processes. In addition to providing non-
financial information, integrated reporting will provide a clear and concise representation of how an 
organization demonstrates stewardship and how it creates and sustains value in the 21st century thereby 
meeting the growing information needs of its diverse stakeholders. 
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Figure 1: components of Integrated Report 

Source: Researchers, 2018 

In Nigeria, some entities (e.g., Zenith Bank PLC and Lafarge Africa PLC) voluntarily prepare environmental, 
social and sustainability reports in separate documents in an effort to address the unsatisfied non-financial 
information needs of stakeholders. How to make this individual corporate practice a national norm is the 
thrust of Integrated Reporting which is an initiative driven by critical thinking. It is about the short, medium 
and long term future of the entity. It involves an organization critically looking at the relationships between 
its six capitals, the introduction of a business model that will lead to value creation over time (Busco et al, 
2013, p.36; IIRC, 2013, p.2).  

Bringing integrated thinking into the way businesses are done is the strategy for driving business 
sustainability and integrated reporting and this will lead to more value creation and benefits. According to 
Shepherd (2017) as cited by Bhasin (2017, p.21), ñwhile much of the focus on IR has been on the needs of 
external stakeholders, the needs for better internal decision making can be significantly improved through 
utilizing the six capitals approach.ò Thus, there are both internal external benefits to be derived if the six 
capital approach that supports the provision of non-financial information is adopted. 
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Theoretical Review 
The theories which underlie this study can be classified into two. The first set of theories explain the 
problem of information asymmetry and conflicts of interests between the principals and Agents who they 
hired to manage the entities for them. These agents are required by law and standard to prepare and 
present stewardship reports in the form of financials statements,which meet the fundamental qualitative 
characteristics of relevance and faithful representation,to their principals. These theories are the 
Shareholdersô Theory, Stakeholdersô Theory, Principal/Agency Theory, Rationality Theory, Policemanôs 
Theory and Inspired Confidence Theory. The second set of theories deal with the issue of resource 
utilisation by entities which create challenges for people and environment in the form of externalities and 
degradation. These include the Theory of the Tragedy of the Commons, Legitimacy theory, Sustainability 
theory and Resource Dependency theory.  

For the purpose of this study, the resource dependence theory is adopted for several reasons. The 
resources that entities use are often beyond its internal resources.  They depend on the external 
environment for additional resources. For instance, out of the six capitals with which an entity creates 
values (i.e., financial capital, manufactured capital, natural capital, intellectual capital, human capital, social 
and relationship capitals), only two (i.e., financial capital, manufactured capital) are somewhat internal to it. 
The other four capitals are externally sourced.  Secondly, manystakeholders, who are not equity holders, 
are affected directly or indirectly by the activities of the entity: employees, trade unions, the government, 
regulatory bodies and members of the public. The interests of these people are crucial and should be part 
of the business model of the entity. Thirdly, the economic activities of the entity creates externalities which 
have negative impact on the society and the environment. Except these are incorporated into the entityôs 
cost of doing business, the entity will prosper at the expense of society and peopleôs welfare.   

Developed by Pfeffer and Salancik, (1978), the Resource Dependence Theoryholds that there exists 
interdependencies between entities and their environments which create uncertainties for the continued 
existence of the entities. For instance, the resources utilised by businesses are external to them: the raw 
materials, the labour, financial credits, the market for finished products and the network of distributors are 
all from outside the entity. These could cease to flow into the entities. Above all, the right to corporate 
existence was conferred by a regulatory body outside the entity and can be withdrawn; and even their 
brand names are a product of public perception of their products. In essence, the environment, based on 
trust, permits the entity to utilize its resources for value creation. Since there exists a lot of uncertainties 
about the external environment, an entity should adopt proactive strategies to ensure the continuity of its 
business. One such strategy is stakeholder engagement.Managers of corporate entities should be 
accountable to such resource providers as a minimum condition for continued business relation (IIRC, 
2010). 

Given that business entities owe their continued existence to outside stakeholders, therefore, they should 
endeavour to build social and economic relations with them. Resource dependence theory simply requires 
that the source of existence be well managed and catered for to sustain the entity. The entity should 
actively engage and recompense the external stakeholders with physical infrastructure and other benefits 
that will impact their welfare and also preserve their natural environment.   

To continue to enjoy societal acceptability and justify its legitimacy, the entity is required to voluntarily 
report how its activities affect the people and environment where it obtains its being and what it has done to 
mitigate the negative impact.  Such feedback and acceptance by the people will confer more legitimacy on 
the entity (Owolabi, 2009). According to Suchman (1995, P 574), ñlegitimacy is a generalized perception or 
assumption that the actions of an entity are desirable, proper or appropriate within some socially 
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constructed system of norms, values, belief and definitionsò. When the organization fails to act and report 
voluntarily, this might lead to a legitimacy gap. This is the gap indicating a discrepancy between an 
organisationôs actions and what the society expects of it.  

In essence, the pursuit of profit should not be at the expense of society. It should incorporate peopleôs 
welfare and care for the environment. Every corporate entity should rightly bear the cost of its activities just 
as it enjoys the benefits of success. They should mandatorily contribute to the restoration of the 
environment in the interest of present and future generation. This is the focus of sustainability which is 
defined as ñdevelopment which meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generation to meet their own needs (Brundtland, 1987, p.43)ò. 

In conclusion, the point should be made, from the above theoretical review, that the current financial 
reporting architecture in Nigeria does not make the preparation and presentation of some non-financial 
information (e.g., environmental and sustainability reports) to be mandatorily included in annual 
stewardship reports notwithstanding the fact that they depend on the environment for their resources. 
Stakeholders in the environment can react negatively as witnessed in Nigeriaôs Niger Delta. Accordingly, 
the non-mandatory inclusion of non-financial information in financial statements in Nigeria, may significantly 
impair the attribute of relevance as one of the fundamental qualitative characteristics of financial 
statements. As observed by Van Beest, Braam and Boelens (2009, p.4), financial reporting quality should 
be perceived as a ñbroader concept that not only refers to financial information, but also to disclosures, and 
other non-financial information useful for decision making included in the reportò. The non-disclosure of 
non-financial information, which he termed, non-proprietary information, may actually lead to sub-optimal 
allocation of resources and decline in the price of the companyôs shares(Dye, 1985).Provision of 
information should go beyond historical to include scientific projections for the future and their possible 
impact on everybody and everything. Entities should produce business report with all its offerings such that 
stakeholders are substantially satisfied.  

Methodology 
This study was carried out with primary data obtained through survey design that was tested for reliability 
and content validity. The population for the study was made up of professional accountants who are the 
experts trained to prepare financial statements as well as provide assurance and financial advisory 
services. A sample of professional accountants was selected using convenience and purposive sampling 
techniques. The study also used secondary information drawn from various publications including journal 
articles, periodicals, standard settersô technical pronouncements, textbooks and pieces of legislations.     

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria (ICAN) operates a committee system in its governance 
structure and each year, members are selected into the various committees, e.g., Strategy Committee, 
Technical, Research and Public Policy Committee and Professional Practice Monitoring Committee. Both 
the number and membership of such committees change each year based on the policy of the Instituteôs 
governing Council.During the 2017/2018 Presidential year, the Institute had35Standing Committees with an 
average membership strength of 40.  

Thus, a sample of two committees was randomly selected from a population of 35 standing committees of 
the Institute. These are the 2018 Annual Conference Transition Committee, the Work Group on Conference 
Theme and Topics as well as selected ICAN staff (who are all professional accountants) who provide 
secretarial support to the two committees. This sample had a total membership strength of 100 professional 
accountants comprising fellows and associates members.Prior to its administration, copies of the 
questionnaire werepeer reviewed by the researcherôs colleagues, who are professional accountants, to test 
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for content and construct validity. A face to face construct and content validity was also done with an expert 
in this area.The results obtained from the administered questionnaire was analysed and further validated 
with ex-post facto information drawn from various publications including journal articles, periodicals, 
standard settersô technical pronouncements, textbooks, pieces of legislations and published annual reports 
of some listed entities. 

The Survey Instrument 
The survey design instrument, the questionnaire, had two parts. The first part contained five questions 
which were designed to obtain the respondentsô socio-demographic data on gender, highest academic 
qualification, years of post-academic qualification, professional qualification and role in the financial 
reporting processes. The second part raised a set of four questions each on the five objectives of the study. 
There were no open-ended questions while the Likert Scale of 1-6 (with Strongly Agree being 6 and 
Strongly Disagree being 1) was adopted to facilitate responses.  

During the meetings of the selected committees, copies of the designed 2-segment questionnaire which 
consists of 25 close-ended questions were administered. Out of the 100 copies of the questionnaires 
administered, seventy-eight copies were completed and returned by respondents. This is a response rate 
of 78%. There were no rejected responses as all were valid and fit for purpose. The various responses 
were inputted and analysed with the SPSS. 

Socio-Demographics 
Although all respondents were professional accountants, their roles in financial reporting vary: 44.9% were 
auditors/assurance providers, 15.4% were preparers of financial reports, 35.9% were users of financial 
reports, 1.3% were regulators,2.6% were others(see Table 1).The increasing involvement of females in 
professional accountancy and financial reporting was underscored by the fact that of the responses 
received, 28.2% were females while males were 71.8%. In the context of the sample used, some of the 
professional accountants had additional qualifications. This explains why 9% (i.e. others, 6.4% and 
CIBN/CII/CIPM, 2.6%) was cumulatively reflected in other qualifications whereas, the professional 
accountants who were either associates or fellows of various professional accountancy bodies were 90% 
(39.7% + 51.3%). 

Table 1: Data Extracted from SPSS analysis of responses 

 FREQUENCY PERCENTAGE VALID 
PERCENTAGE 

CUMULATIVE 
PERCENTAGE 

MALE 56 71.8 71.8 71.8 

FEMALE 22 28.2 28.2 100.0 

TOTAL 78 100.0 100.0  

ACA/ACCA/CPA 31 39.7 39.7 39.7 

FCA/FCCA 40 51.3 51.3 91.0 

CIBN/CII/CIPM 2 2.6 2.6 93.6 

OTHERS 5 6.4 6.4 100 

TOTAL 78 100.0 100.0  

PREPARERS 12 15.4 15.4 15.4 
AUDITORS/ASSURANCE PROVIDERS 35 44.9 44.9 60.3 
REGULATORS 1 1.3 1.3 61.5 
USERS 28 35.9 35.9 97.4 
OTHERS(e.g., teachers) 2 2.6 2.6 100.0 
TOTAL 78 100.0 100.0  
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Test of Reliability 
The total responses to the 25 questionswere 78. These responseswere tested for reliability and set against 
the globally accepted Cronbachôs Alpha. The result obtained, 0.749 when compared to the universal 
minimum benchmark of 0.70 for research studies, confirm the reliability of the results.    

Reliability Statistics 

Cronbach's 
Alpha 

N of Items 

.749 25 

 

Data analysis and discussion of results 
Objective 1: To determine usersô perception of the information adequacy of IFRS-compliant financial 
statements. 

Table 2: Users perception of IFRS financial Statements 

OBJECTIVE 1 SA A PA PD D SD MEAN Std. D 

Proposition 1.1: Generally, IFRS-based Financial Statements assist 
investors to make investment decisions. 

45 

(57.7) 

10 

(12.8) 

21 

(26.9) 

2 

(2.6) 

  5.26 .946 

Proposition 1.2: IFRS-based financial statements are designed, in 
line with the conceptual framework, to meet only the information 
needs of financial capital providers  

8 

(10.3) 

17 

(21.8) 

13 

(16.7) 

27 

(34.6) 

 13 

(16.7) 

3.58 1.525 

Proposition 1.3: IFRS-based financial statements do not provide 
non-financial information required by some stakeholders. 

6 

(7.7) 

3 

(3.8) 

32 

(41.0) 

28 

(35.9) 

4 

(5.1) 

5 

(6.4) 

3.46 1.136 

Proposition 1.4: Non-Financial information are as relevant as 
financial information in stakeholdersô decision making processes. 

60 

(76.9) 

5 

(6.4) 

12 

(15.4) 

1 

(1.3) 

  5.59 .797 

Source: field study, 2018 

The purpose of this objective was to determine the usersô perception of the information adequacy of the 
IFRS-compliant financial statements which are currently in use in Nigeria. In Table 2, the mean values 
indicate, on the average, the perception of respondents on each of the propositions.With a mean score of 
5.6 on proposition 1.1, the 57.7% of respondents strongly agreed that IFRS-based financial statements 
assist investors to make investment decisions. However, the respondents, on the average (3.58 mean 
score) agreed on proposition 1.2 that the current financial statements meet only the information needs of 
financial capital providers. On a mean score of 3.46 on proposition 1.3, the respondents agreed that IFRS-
based financial reports which are prepared on the basis of IASBôs conceptual framework adopted by 
FRCN, do not provide non-financial information required by some stakeholders. With a mean score of 5.59 
on proposition 1.4, 77.0% of respondents strongly agreed that both financial and non-financial information 
are relevant to the decision making processes of stakeholders in Nigeria. In summary, the respondents 
strongly agreed that IFRS-based financial statements meet only the information needs of financial capital 
providers in spite of the fact that financial and non-financial information are relevant to stakeholdersô 
decision making processes.  
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Objective 2: To determine if the Values created by Capitals, other than financial capital, are reflected in the 
IFRS-based Financial Statements. 

This objective sought to determine if the values created by capitals, other than financial capital, are 
reflected in the IFRS-based financial statements. To achieve this objective four questions were asked.  

Table 3: Reflection of Values created by all capitals in Financial Statement 
OBJECTIVE 2 SA A PA PD D SD MEAN Std. D 

Proposition 2.1: All capitals (i.e., financial, intellectual, human, 
environmental, social and relationship and manufactured) 
contribute towards an entityôs value creation process.  

52 
(66.7) 

9 
(11.5) 

15 
(19.2) 

2 
(2.6) 

  5.42 .890 

Proposition 2.2: The values created by other capitals (e.g., 
intellectual capital, human capital, environmental capital) are not 
reflected in accounting numbers in financial statements. 

22 
(28.2) 

11 
(14.1) 

28 
(35.9) 

4 
(5.1) 

9 
(11.5) 

4 
(5.1) 

4.27 1.483 

Proposition 2.3: IFRS-based financial statements are designed to 
show the impact of the boardôs decisions on the financial capital 
entrusted to them for management. 

24 
(30.8) 

14 
(17.9) 

24 
(30.8) 

10 
(12.8) 

6 
(7.7) 

 4.51 1.266 

Proposition 2.4: Without including non-financial information in 
financial statements, the information needs of Nigerian 
stakeholders will not be satisfied.   

3 
(3.8) 

2 
(2.6) 

4 
(5.1) 

14 
(17.9) 

16 
(20.5) 

39 
(50.0) 

4.99 1.324 

Source: field study, 2018 

On proposition 2.1 and a mean score of 5.42 as indicated in Table 3, respondents strongly agreed that all 
the six capitals add to the value created by corporate entities over time. On proposition 2.2 and a mean 
score of 4.27, respondents agreed that such values were not reflected in the financial statements of such 
entities. On proposition 2.3 and a mean score of 4.51, most respondents strongly agreed the subsisting 
IFRS financial statements are designed to show the impact of the boardôs decisions on the financial capital 
entrusted to them for management by their principals, the shareholders. This is in tandem with the thrust of 
the shareholdersô theory.On proposition 2.4, respondents strongly disagreedwith the view that the non-
inclusion of non-financial information in financial statements implies that the information needs of 
stakeholders in Nigeria will not be satisfied. As noted above, some non-financial information (e.g., CSR and 
Corporate Governance reports) are produced in separate documents, independent of the financial 
statements, which the stakeholders can access. Given that 35.9% of the entire respondents are users of 
financial statements and 11.5%(i.e., 3.8+2.6+5.1) agreed that the information needs of stakeholders are not 
met, it is reasonable to surmise that there exists a material expectation gap in the provision of information 
by corporate entities to their stakeholders in Nigeria.  

Objective 3: To determine if the preparation of corporate social responsibility report should be made 
compulsory for all listed companies in Nigeria  

The objective was to determine if the preparation of corporate social responsibility report by corporate 
entities should be mandatory. Disclosure of CSR is currently voluntary. 

Table 4: Mandatory Preparation of CSR Report by listed entities 
OBJECTIVE 3 SA A PA PD D SD MEAN Std. D 
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Proposition 3.1: The preparation and presentation of corporate 
social responsibility report should not be made compulsory for 
listed entities. 

2 

(2.6) 

9 

(11.5) 

4 

(5.1) 

31 

(39.7) 

 32 

(41.0) 

2.54 1.483 

Proposition 3.2: IFRS-based financial statements do not 
provide information on the impact of a companyôs activities on 
the environment and other capitals. 

7 

(9.0) 

7 

(9.0) 

12 

(15.4) 

14 

(17.9) 

22 

(28.2) 

16 

(20.5) 

4.09 1.564 

Proposition 3.3: Only successful companies engage in and 
voluntarily disclose their corporate social responsibility 
activities. 

13 

(16.7) 

19 

(24.4) 

19 

(24.4) 

10 

(12.8) 

11 

(14.1) 

6 

(7.7) 

3.94 1.523 

Proposition 3.4: Entities that produce IFRS-compliant financial 
statements include only disclosures that are mandatory. 

13 

(16.7) 

33 

(42.3) 

13 

(16.7) 

13 

(16.7) 

1 

(1.3) 

5 

(6.4) 

4.37 1.330 

Source: field study, 2018 

As indicated in Table 4, the mean score of 2.54 in proposition 3.1 reflects that respondents disagreed with 
the proposition that CSR should not be made compulsory. From the responses received a total of 63 (i.e., 
PD=31, SD=32) respondents share this view. In other words, they strongly agreed to the proposition that 
the preparation of CSR report should be compulsory for listed entities.To reinforce this reasoning and a 
mean score of 4.09, most respondents agreed to proposition 3.2 that IFRS-based financials do not provide 
information on the impact of a companyôs activities on the environment. On the average and a mean score 
of 3.94, the respondents agreed to proposition 3.3 that only successful companies voluntarily disclose their 
CSR activities in their financial statements. On proposition 3.4, respondents agreed, with a mean score 
4.37, that entities which produce IFRS compliant financial statements only include mandatory disclosures. 
Based on these responses, it can be surmised that respondents strongly agreed that CSR disclosure 
should be made compulsory in annual reports of listed entities. 

Objective 4: To determine if the preparation of sustainability report should be made mandatory for all listed 
companies in Nigeria. 

This objective sought to find out from respondents if the preparation of sustainability reports should be 
made mandatory in Nigeria. In South Africa and Britain, this is a mandatory requirement.  

Table 5: Mandatory Preparation of Sustainability Report by listed entities. 
OBJECTIVE 4 SA A PA PD D SD MEAN Std. D 

Proposition 4.1: Sustainability issues are integral part of 
business planning, risk management and survival 
strategies for listed entities 

51 
(65.4) 

6 
(7.7) 

19 
(24.4) 

  2 
(2.6) 

5.31 1.108 

Proposition 4.2: An entity involved in corporate social 
responsibility activities does not need to adopt 
Sustainability Approach to business. 

25 
(32.1) 

7 
(9.0) 

32 
(41.0) 

9 
(11.5) 

3 
(3.8) 

2 
(2.6) 

2.54 1.296 

Proposition 4.3: Sustainability reporting will make 
corporate entities to take full responsibilities for their 
externalities and also care for other capitals 

39 
(50.0) 

9 
(11.5) 

26 
(33.3) 

2 
(2.6) 

2 
(2.6) 

 5.01 1.168 

Proposition 4.4: Sustainability reporting will encourage 
more stakeholdersô engagement, enhance the entityôs 
legitimacy and better financial performance 

40 
(51.3) 

16 
(20.5) 

21 
(26.9) 

1 
(1.3) 

  5.22 .892 

Source: field study, 2018 

On proposition 4.1 as indicated in Table 5, most respondents strongly agreed that sustainability issues are 
integral part of business planning, risk management and survival strategies. On proposition 4.2, 
respondents on the average and a mean score 2.54 partially agreed that once an entity is involved in CSR 
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activities, it should no longer adopt a sustainability approach to business. However, on a mean score of 
5.01 in proposition 4.3, 61.5% (50.0+ 11.5) of respondents strongly agreed that the adoption of a 
sustainability approach would make corporate entities to take full responsibilities for their externalities and 
also care for other capitals. On proposition 4.4, most respondents strongly agreedthat sustainability will 
promote greater stakeholders engagement and also enhance the legitimacy and financial performance of 
entities involved in it. This agrees with the literature (Bhasin, 2017; Fauzi, 2014 and Owolabi, 2009). 

In summary, there is no contradiction in the responses. An entity that strategically caters to the environment 
through various CSR activities is unwittingly engaged in sustainability approach to business. After all, the 
focus of both initiatives is to build legitimacy and goodwill such that the entity continues in business in the 
short, medium and long terms. However, cosmetic CSR will not achieve sustainability of the entity. 

Objective 5: To determine if the preparation of integrated reports should be made mandatory for all listed 
entities in Nigeria  

This objective sought to establish whether integrated report should be made mandatory in Nigeria as it is in 
South Africa since it contains both financial and non-financial information desired by stakeholders in the 
country.  

Table 6: Mandatory Preparation of Integrated Reports by listed entities 
OBJECTIVE 5 SA A PA PD D SD MEAN Std. D 

Proposition 1: The Integrated Reporting Framework provides 
financial and non-financial information required by Nigerian 
stakeholders 

42 
(53.8) 

13 
(16.7) 

22 
(28.2) 

 1 
(1.3) 

 5.22 .949 

Proposition 2: There is need for boards of directors to 
continuously think of the big picture (integrated thinking) 
when selecting their organisationsô business model. 

47 
(60.3) 

15 
(19.2) 

15 
(19.2) 

 1 
(1.3) 

 5.37 .884 

Proposition 3: Since it is all-inclusive, Integrated reports will 
promote greater confidence in accounting numbers, reassure 
stakeholders and reduce cost of capital 

52 
(66.7) 

10 
(12.8) 

16 
(20.5) 

   5.46 .817 

Proposition 4: Integrated report will satisfy the fundamental 
qualitative characteristics of relevance and faithful 
representation. 

47 
(60.3) 

9 
(11.5) 

21 
(26.9) 

1 
(1.3) 

  5.31 .916 

Source: field study, 2018 

From Table 6, the mean values indicate the opinions of respondents on the 4 propositions on the average. 
Since the mean values to the 4 propositions are above 5, it shows that the respondents strongly agreed 
with the various propositions. In summary, we can conclude that integrated report will meet the financial 
and non-financial needs of Nigeria stakeholders. It will also encourage board members to continually think 
of the big picture if they are desirous of creating value in the short, medium and long term. Therefore, the 
mandatory adoption of an all-inclusive integrated report will enhance stakeholdersô confidence in 
accounting numbers in financial statements as well as positively impact the cost of capital and financial 
performance. If this happens, the information needs of stakeholders in Nigeria beyond financial 
performance will be satisfied.  

Limitation of Study 
The administration of questionnaires is often a problem in our environment where people are reluctant to 
complete the survey instrument for research purpose due in part to lack of motivation (Adamu, Sabi and 
Bawa, 2014) and also because of the cognitive burden it puts on them( Bowling, 2005; Lee, 2009).To 
address this challenge, its questions were close-ended and simple for respondents to answer.  
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Conclusions 
The main objective of this study was to determine how to meet the information needs of Nigeria 
stakeholders beyond financial performance by making it mandatory for listed entities to adopt integrated 
reporting as the reporting framework. Integrated Report was defined as an all-inclusive stewardship report 
which embodies both financial and non-financial information required by stakeholders in Nigeria. Based on 
a survey design the perception of stakeholders, particularly professional accountants who play different 
roles in the financial reporting processes, was sought. The responses from77% of the respondents (see 
proposition 1.4 of Table 2) affirm that financial and non-financial information are both important in the 
decision making process of stakeholders. They also agreed as indicated propositions 2.2-2.4 in Table 3, 
that the current IFRS-based financial statements provide only financial information required by providers of 
financial capital implying thatthey do not satisfy the fundamental qualitative characteristic of relevance. In 
their opinion, the values created by other factors, although invaluable, are not reflected in the current 
financial statements.  

For instance, many corporate entities have priceless intangible assets through which they create value but 
these assets are not captured in their statement of financial position. Management skills, intellectual 
property, good reputation built over the years by generations of employees and customers, etc., are 
invaluable. They count and influence investment and other decisions but are not catered for by the current 
framework of financial reporting. In view of this, the subsisting business model needs to be re-engineered 
to meet the expectations of all stakeholders. 

As indicated in Table 5 and proposition 4.4, 71.8% of the respondents (i.e., 51.3+ 20.5)strongly agreed, as 
established by literature, that organisations thatpractice sustainability reporting will encourage more 
stakeholdersô engagement and voluntary disclosureof non-financial information. They will also leverage the 
associated benefits of improved public perception and goodwill, enhanced legitimacy, reduced cost of 
capital and improved financial performance. The study also observed that some organisations voluntarily 
prepare some form of non-financial information reports as part of the strategy to fill the information 
expectation gap between them and their stakeholders. Given this situation, the respondents agreed that 
these reports should be consolidated into one document both to address the dearth of non-financial 
information and also fulfil the attributes of relevance and faithful representation. 

The study therefore recommends that the regulators and standard setters should commence a process that 
will lead to the adoption of Integrated Reporting as the new framework for corporate reporting in Nigeria as 
it is done in South Africa. The society will be the better for it as it encompasses new business model that 
focuses on value creation in the short, medium and long run. It will persuade and indeed, make it 
mandatory for corporate entities to take full responsibilities for the externalities they create during 
production processes. Except the environment is saved in this manner through total absorption of 
externalities and adoption of sustainability initiatives and reporting, future generations may be deprived of 
their fair share of natural endowments. This is the thrust of sustainable development which focuses on 
people, the society and the environment.  

The recommended processes should include regulatory changes, investment in institutional and human 
capacity building in preparation for the impending change. The professional accountancy bodies need to 
also review their training curricula as well as organize continuing professional education training 
programme on Integrated Reporting for existing members. Lastly, a lot of sensitization needs to be done by 
regulators and the Stock Exchange for all stakeholders. It is no longer a question of whether IFRS will be 
absorbed by integrated reporting, but when.  
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Abstract 
This work examined the relationship between convergence of accounting standards and the financial 
reporting quality of brewery industry in Nigeria. The main objective of the study is to determine the effect 
of (pre and post) IFRS adoption on market value per share of Guinness Breweries Plc. Time series data 
were collected for period of ten (10) years (2006 to 2016)- five years before and five years after adoption 
of IFRS by quoted brewery companies in Nigeria. The proxies for IFRS adoption were earnings per 
share, market share, return on assets, while proxy for dependent variable was market value per share. 
The study made used of multiple linear regression and Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). Two hypotheses 
were formulated and tested and the result revealed that pre-IFRS adoption has no significant effect on 
market value per share, while post-IFRS adoption result shows that there is a significant effect on market 
value per share. Based on the above development, we conclude that there is need for convergence of 
accounting standards. Financial statements of a large number of companies are used outside their own 
domestic borders and investors in international markets, need to be sure that the information on which 
they base their assessments is compiled, using accounting principles recognized in their own country and 
comparable with others regardless of the country of origin.     

Keywords: Convergence, accounting standards, financial reporting quality and brewery industry in 
Nigeria.  

Introduction 

There is evidence in the literature that the underlying reporting standards on which preparation and 
presentation of financial statements are based determines the quality of its information content. This 
follows that quality of accounting information is influenced by the quality of underlying reporting standards 
in use. The failure of some firms is of huge concern to the investors and other stakeholders that 
researchers are in search of solution to the growing concerns over corporate failures. There is need for 
practitioners to look inward to find out whether the problem is with the local accounting standards, that is, 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAPs). Another concern of the users of financial information 
especially the investors is the divergence of accounting reports among countries when information and 
communication technology has reduced the world to a global village. Convergence of accounting 
standards is expected to close the gap of substantial differences that exist in financial accounting and 
reporting practices among countries. Those differences result from a variety of cause, including the legal, 
environmental, political forces, and cultural differences, as well as different economic models. These 
differences lead to significantly different amounts being reported for capital employed, debts, net assets 
and operating income. The growing number of multinational companies in operation and the globalization 
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(worldwide interdependence) of financial markets, brought about by high level of electronic 
communications, has increased the demand for international accounting standards. 

Thus, in the light of the above development, international comparability in financial statements is not 
possible unless business enterprises worldwide follow internationally a common set of generally accepted 
accounting principles. There are various local standards existing in both developing and developed 
economies, for instance, Nigerian Accounting Standards Board (NASB) now replaced by Financial 
Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCN) responsible for producing standards called Statement of Accounting 
Standards (SAS) for Nigeria. In the United Kingdom, Accounting Standard Committee (ASC) is 
responsible for producing local accounting standards called Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 
(SSAP) for Great Britain, Northern Ireland, the Channel Islands and the Isle of Man. In USA, Financial 
Accounting Standards Boards (FASB) is responsible for setting accounting standard called Financial 
Accounting Standards (FAS). 

As part of implementation strategy of Reports on the Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSC) 
reportsô recommendations, Nigeria decided to adopt the IFRSs frameworks as recommended by the 
committee on road map of adaptation of IFRSs in Nigeria. Based on the recommendations, all listed and 
significant entities are to present their financial reports using IFRSs framework by 2012. It is on this 
premise that the researchers are set out to investigate the relationship between market value of 
manufacturing firms and accounting information quality under convergence accounting standards regime 
in Nigeria. 

The World Bank reports on Nigeria rated the accounting practice and financial reporting below required 
standards, and recommended for the adoption of IFRS in 2011. Following the report, a committee on 
Report on the Observance of Standards and Codes committee (ROSC) was set up to review Statement 
of Accounting Standards (SAS) with a view of adopting IFRSs in Nigeria. The transition to IFRSs by many 
countries and accounting jurisdictions is motivated by a desire to implement high quality accounting 
standards expected to produce more reliable and relevant financial reporting. It was also expected that 
the implementation of IFRSs will increase the level of foreign direct investment, enhance transparency 
which will in turn drive down information asymmetry, improve the quality of investment decisions and 
foster international trade. Chukwu (2015), posits that available literature have shown that the confidence 
of users of financial statements have been increasingly destroyed by the poor quality of accounting 
numbers presented in the financial reports issued in Nigeria. Also, Osisioma, Okoye and Ile (2015) 
opined that literature averred that accounting is environment sensitive and hence the concern on 
globalizing accounting reporting standards. They further stressed that fraud typology, magnitude and 
mode of perfection reflect the stage of the environment in which it occurred. Based on the foregoing, it is 
not clear whether the size-fits-all philosophy of convergence accounting standards has achieved the 
desired goals. Hence the debate on the justification of the wholesale adoption of IFRSs is on the front 
burner of academic discussions. It is on this premise that the researcher intends to investigate the 
relationship between convergence accounting standards and quality of financial reports of manufacturing 
sector in Nigeria with particular reference to Brewery industry.  

As such, the main objective of this study is to determine the effect of IFRS adoption on market value per 
share of quoted brewery companies in Nigeria. Specifically the study seeks to (1) Determine the effect of 
Pre-IFRS adoption (EPS, MTS & ROA) on market value per share of brewery companies in Nigeria and 
(2) Determine the effect of Post-IFRS adoption (EPS, MTS & ROA) on market value per share of brewery 
companies in Nigeria. 
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The remainder of this paper is then divided into four sections, thus, conceptual framework, research 
methodology, findings and discussion, and summary, conclusion, and recommendations.  

Literature Review 
Conceptual Framework 

Accounting Standards 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), formerly International Accounting Standards 
Committee (IASC), is an independent private sector body founded in June, 1973 as a result of agreement 
by accountancy bodies in Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, the 
United Kingdom, Ireland and the United States of America, and these countries constituted the Board of 
IASC. Decisions on accounting principles are made by the Board of the IASC and issued in the form of 
IASs. Members of the Board are appointed by International Federation of Accountants Committee (IFAC), 
in consultation with IASC and normally serve for renewable term of 21/2 years. Each member is 
represented by two individuals who can be accompanied by a technical adviser. The individuals are 
widely representative of people in accounting practice, people in business, particularly multinational 
business, financial analysts, academic institutions and national standard setters. The board is supported 
by small staff from offices in London, England. The IASC has consultative Group which meets on the 
boardôs agenda and has an advisory Council to give advice to the board on policy issues and to help with 
funding. They include; the World Bank, Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) of the USA, 
European Commission, International Bar association and International chamber of Commerce.  

According to Akpan (2003), the IASC in setting the international accounting standards, adopts the 
following steps: (a) For each standard, a Steering Committee has the responsibility for making 
recommendations to the IASC board; (b) The Committee publishes a draft statement of principles or 
other discussion document which sets out the various possible requirements for the standard and the 
arguments for and against each one; (c) The Board publishes an exposure draft for public comment. An 
exposure draft can be issued only when two-thirds of board members have voted in favour of doing so; 
(d) it examines the arguments put forward in the comment process before deciding on the final form of 
the standard.  

A final standard requires three quarters of Board votes for approval. For every IAS, the following will be 
considered: i) All associated accounting issues; ii) IASCôs framework document; iii) National and regional 
accounting requirements; iv) Steering Committee recommendations; v) Consultation with Consultative 
Group and others; vi) The exposure draft of the standard, and vii). Evaluation of comments received. 

Convergence of accounting standards 
In the opinion of Ghartey (2002), the essence of convergence of accounting standard is to provide a 
common set of principles of measurement and disclosure, or more precisely, a guide for accounting 
policies and accounting methods that should be followed in preparing financial reports in order to ensure 
reliability and comparability of the reports. According to him, International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) are principle-based standards with interpretations and framework adopted and issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) designed to provide guidance on format and 
information contents of financial statements and to ensure that such statements are reliable, 
understandable, comparable and relevant. It is worthy of note that it is not only accounting matters that 
are covered in IFRSs, but also matters relating to the entire business with a view to enabling users to 



44 
 

better understand how the business is managed, what risk(s) the business is exposed to and what impact 
these have on the entire financial result of the corporation (Osisioma et al; 2015). 

However, Osisoma et al; (2015), also observed that IFRSs are reputed to be principle-based and do not 
recognize national peculiarities. According to them, it appears that convergence of accounting standards 
do not adequately reflect economic, social or legal realities peculiar to each country. Furthermore, the 
standards are one-size-fits-all; micro, small or medium enterprise; all must conform to the same 
standards. It should be noted that the needs of users of accounting information vary from country to 
country, hence the enormity of the challenges in unifying (harmonization) global accounting standards. 

In the view of Ashafoke and Enofe (2016), the need for worldwide convergence of accounting standard 
for an international standard setter is to be familiar with the growing need for international accounting 
standards, make sure no individual standards setter has a dominion on the best solutions to accounting 
problems, ensure no national standard setter is in position to set accounting standards that can receive 
acceptance around the world, and clarify that there are lots of areas of financial reporting in which a 
national standard finds it complex to act alone. According to them, other factors that precipitated the 
development of an integrated set of accounting standards include; tax method, inflation, the legal system 
of a country amongst others. 

There are two methods of IFRS adoption around the world namely; convergence and adoption 
approaches Adoption implies that national rules are set aside and replaced by IFRS requirement, in other 
words, when a country adopts IFRS, it means that the country shall be implementing IFRS in the same 
manner as issued by IASB and shall be 100% compliant with the guidelines. In the case of convergence, 
it means that the countryôs accounting standards board, (for example, in Nigeria, Financial Reporting 
Council of Nigeria) in applying IFRS would work together with IASB to develop high-quality compatible 
accounting standards overtime. 

Empirical review 
In their study on globalizing international financial reporting standards: A focus on developing economies 
Osisioma., Okoye and Ile (2015), surveyed 1,000 professionals from Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of Nigeria (ICAN), Association of National Accountants of Nigeria (ANAN) and Chartered Institute of 
Bankers of Nigeria (CIBN). Z-test and t-test statistics were employed to test the hypotheses using 
Microsoft excel 2010 tool-pack and they conclude that both IFRSs and GAAPs can be relied upon to 
produce fraud-free financial reports. However, they observed that the difference between them is 
statistically in favour of IFRSs implying that the later are preferred. The study also revealed that there are 
environmental peculiarities in developing economies which justifies the rejection of wholesale adoption of 
IFRSs. 

Muharani and Sinegar (2014) explored the impact of IFRS convergence on value relevance of accounting 
information of listed companies in Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore during 2007-2011. The results of 
the study indicate that overall accounting information reported during the periods towards full 
convergence of IFRS is value relevant for listed companies in the three countries but no incremental 
value is observed during that period. 

Clarkson, Hanna, Richardson and Thompson (2011), investigated the value relevance of European and 
Australian firms from 15 countries post IFRS implementation. They conclude that IFRS adoption donôt 
enhance quality of financial reporting. As such, they found no value relevance of book value of equity and 
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earnings difference between local standards (GAAPs) and IFRSs. They associate the result with capital 
market orientation of countries involved and that most local standards were presumably close to IFRs. 

In the study carried out on the listed banks in Nigeria using sample of 12 banks, Umoren and Enang 
(2015), empirically examined whether the mandatory  IFRS adoption improved the value relevance of 
financial information using data in 2011 (pre-IFRS) and 2012 (post-IFRS). The results indicate that the 
equity value and earnings of banks are relatively value relevant to share prices under IFRS than under 
previous Nigerian GAAP. The results further imply that the accounting information is more informative to 
investors under IFRS regime. 

Oshodin and Mgbame (2014), carried out comparative study on the value relevance of accounting 
information in the Nigeria banking and petroleum sectors. Data were collected on the market price per 
share (dependent variable) and earnings per share, book value of equity, and leverage (independent 
variables) for the period 2007-2011, from the annual financial reports of the selected companies. Multiple 
regression analysis was adopted for the analysis of the data and the Ordinary Least Square was the 
method of estimation. The regression results revealed the following: EPS information is the most 
considered by investors when deciding the share price and that the financial information in the oil and 
gas is more value relevant compare to the financial information disclosed by companies in the banking 
sector. 

The study carried out by Enekwe et al (2016), on effect of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) adoption on accounting quality of quoted cement companies in Nigeria used ex-post facto design 
and Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) employing SPSS version 20, multiple regression using both the 
logistic and panel Least square of E-view 9.0 software statistics. They conclude that IFRS adoption has 
no statistically significant effect on earnings smoothing, managing earnings to small positive income, 
timely loss recognition and book value of equity per share. But the general result shows that IFRS 
adoption has significant effect on value relevance of accounting information of quoted cement companies 
in Nigeria.  

The above review explores the impact of IFRS on the improvement of quality of accounting information 
after IFRS adoption or relative to other reporting regimes. Most studies assess the usefulness of IFRS on 
quality reporting, nevertheless, the literatures surveyed indicate  that accounting standard convergence 
studies provides mixed and inconclusive evidence on the increase of value relevance of accounting 
information post IFRS and relatively to local or national GAAP. Further, it is evident from literature that 
countriesô institutional market setting can significantly shape its financial reporting. It is apparently 
provided that IFRS convergence is considered more useful in countries with more developed stock 
markets and better institutional framework than in countries without these attributes. It is then expected 
that IFRS would be less beneficiary to emerging countries with seemingly, weak and questionable 
enforcement mechanisms. Based on these results in extant literature, it is assumed in this study that:  

Ho1: Pre-IFRS adoption (EPS, MTS & ROA) has no significant effect on market value per share of 
brewery companies in Nigeria. 

Ho2: Post-IFRS adoption (EPS, MTS & ROA) has no significant effect on market value per share of 
brewery companies in Nigeria. 
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Theoretical Review 
The theory of corporate governance versus agency theory 
The main thrust of the theory of corporate governance as opined by Ahmadu, Aminu and Tukur (2005), is 
about the ways all parties interested in the well-being of a corporation  (the stakeholders)  attempt to 
ensure that managers and other insiders take measures or adopt mechanisms that safeguard the interest 
of the entire stakeholders. On the other hand, agency theory is about maintaining harmony between the 
principal (shareholders) and the agent (management) or put simply, corporate insiders. According to 
Egbunike and Abiahu (2017), to reduce the likelihood of the moral hazard, principals and agents engage 
in contracting to achieve optimality, including the establishment of monitoring processes such as auditing 
As reported in Osisioma et al., (2015), firm level corporate governance provisions matter more in 
countries with weak legal (or regulatory) environments, implying that ñfirms can partially compensate for 
ineffective laws and enforcement by establishing good corporate governance and providing credible 
investor protectionsò. Abubakar (2011), observed that the depression experienced in the United States of 
America gave rise to accounting standardizations in America. Similarly, in England, a conglomeration of 
accounting professional bodies formed the Accounting Standard Committee that sets standards for the 
country. Abubakar further stressed that standardization in these two countries influenced other countries 
of the world including Nigeria. 

Signaling theory 
This theory was propounded by Ross (1977), and was competing with agency theory popularized by 
Jensen & Meckling (1976). Under signaling theory, managers use accounting numbers to signal their 
expectations to investors who use accounting information for decision making. Enekwe., Onyekwelu & 
Nwoha (2016), posit that managers who expect a high level of future growth would signal such 
expectations via published financial statements. They further stated that even managers of firms with 
poor financials would signal positive news to retain high rating among investors. The logical consequence 
of signaling theory, according to Godfrey Hodgson, Tarca, Hamilton and Holmes (2010) cited in Enekwe, 
Onyekwelu and Nwoha (2016), is that there are incentives for all managers to signal expectations of 
future profits because, if investors believe the signal, share prices will increase and the firm will benefit. 

 
Methodology 
The research design adopted for this study is ex-post facto design. The choice of the design was 
because the event under consideration has taken place and as such the researchers have no influence 
on the data collected. Secondary data sourced from annual reports and accounts of the selected brewery 
together with CBN statistical bulletin of various issues from 2007 ï 2016 were used for this study. 
Guinness breweries were purposively selected and proxy for dependent variable (convergence of 
accounting standards) is market value per share, while proxies for independent variables (financial 
reporting quality) were earnings per share, market share, and return on net assets. The statistical tools 
for this study are multiple linear regression analysis and Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). 

Model Specification 
MVPS = ɓ0 + ɓ1EPS + ɓ2MTS + ɓ3ROA + et 
 Where, 
 MVPS = Market Value per Share 
        ɓ0  = Constant 
  ɓ1,2 & 3 = Co-efficient of regression 
      EPS = Earnings per Share 
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     MTS = Market Share 
     ROA = Return on Assets 
           et = Error term 
Data analysis and discussion of findings 

Table 1: Presentation of data 

GUINNESS 
YEAR 

 MKT 
VALUE 

PER 
SHARE 

ROA EPS MKT SHARE 

2007  122.6 0.15 7.84 1363396904 

2008  124 0.16 8.04 1474925519 

2009  129 0.18 9.18 1474925519 

2010  158.51 0.18 9.31 1474925519 

2011  245 0.19 12.16 1474925519 

2012  226 0.14 9.95 1474925519 

2013  251.07 0.098 7.93 1505888188 

 2014  200 0.072 6.36 1505888188 

2015  162.81 0.064 5.18 1505888188 

2016  165.01 0.065 5.81 1505888188 

Source: Researchersô computation from annual reports and accounts of Guinness Brewery plc, for the 
years under review 

Based on the empirical results on table 2 below, the study revealed that earnings per share (EPS), 

market share (MTS) & return on asset (ROA) are all insignificant. This result is strongly in line with the 

overall significant of the model. The f-statistics value of 11.827 (p=0.210) implied that the null hypothesis 

is accepted while the alternate rejected. This means that Pre-IFRS adoption (EPS, MTS & ROA) has no 

significant effect on market value per share of brewery companies in Nigeria. This result corroborated 

with the work of Enekwe et al (2016). They found out that IFRS adoption has no statistically significant 

effect on earnings smoothing, managing earnings to small positive income, timely loss recognition and 

book value of equity per share. 

Pre ð IFRS analysis result 

Table 2:  ANOVAa 

Model Sum of 
Squares 

Df Mean 
Square 

F Sig. 

1 

Regression 10499.774 3 3499.925 11.827 .210b 

Residual 295.927 1 295.927   

Total 10795.702 4    
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a. Dependent Variable: MVPS 
b. Predictors: (Constant), MTS, EPS, ROA 

 
 
 

Coefficientsa    

 

Model Unstandardized Coefficients Standardized 
Coefficients 

t Sig. 

B Std. Error Beta 

1 

(Constant) -74.619 304.557  -.245 .847 

ROA -1477.637 1594.795 -.467 -.927 .524 

EPS 40.211 11.443 1.336 3.514 .176 

MTS 7.599E-008 .000 .073 .252 .843 

a. Dependent Variable: MVPS 
Post- IFRS analysis result 

Also based on the empirical results on table 3 below, the study revealed that Earnings per Share (EPS), 

Market Share (MTS) & Return on Assets (ROA) were all significant. This result has strongly confirmed 

the overall significant of the model. The f-statistics value of 450.722 (p=0.035) implied that the null 

hypothesis is rejected while the alternate accepted. This means that Post-IFRS adoption (EPS, MTS & 

ROA) has a significant effect on market value per share of brewery companies in Nigeria. This result is in 

line with the work of Clarkson, Hanna, Richardson & Thompson (2011); Umoren and Enang (2015). 

Table 3: ANOVAa 

Model Sum of 
Squares 

df Mean 
Square 

F Sig. 

1 

Regression 12376.099 3 4125.366 450.722 .035b 

Residual 9.153 1 9.153   

Total 12385.252 4    

a. Dependent Variable: MVPS 
b. Predictors: (Constant), MTS, ROA, EPS 

 
Coefficientsa 

Model Unstandardized 
Coefficients 

Standardized 
Coefficients 

t Sig. 

B Std. Error Beta 

1 

(Constant
) 

-4946.462 347.613 
 

-14.230 .045 

ROA 666.368 38.120 2.948 17.481 .036 

EPS 23.625 1.072 4.013 22.045 .029 

MTS 3.284E-006 .000 .817 14.572 .044 

a. Dependent Variable: MVPS 
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Conclusion and Recommendations 

Convergence accounting standards is one of the IFRS adoption approaches. Adoption implies that 

national rules are set aside and replaced by IFRS requirement, in other words, when a country adopts 

IFRS, it means that the country shall be implementing IFRS in the same manner as issued by IASB and 

shall be 100% compliant with the guidelines. In the case of convergence, it means that the countryôs 

accounting standards board, in applying IFRS would work together with IASB to develop high-quality 

compatible accounting standards overtime. Convergence accounting standards is expected to close the 

gap of substantial differences that exist in financial accounting and reporting practices among countries. 

Those differences result from a variety of cause, including the legal, environmental, political forces, and 

cultural differences, as well as different economic models. These differences lead to significantly different 

amounts being reported for capital employed, debts, net assets and operating income. There is no doubt 

that growing number of multinational companies in operation and the globalization of financial markets, 

brought about by high level of electronic communications, has increased the demand for international 

accounting standards. 

Therefore, based on the findings above, we recommend that Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria 

should consider the extent they participated in developing high-quality compatible accounting standards 

together with IASB since adoption of IFRS in 2012. It is apparently provided that IFRS convergence is 

considered more useful in countries with more developed stock markets and better institutional 

framework than in countries without these attributes. It is then expected that IFRS would be less 

beneficiary to emerging countries with seemingly, weak and questionable enforcement mechanisms. 

There is need for all stakeholders especially from emerging countries to contribute their quota in standard 

setting.   
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Abstract 
The study examines the effectiveness of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) on financial 
reporting in Nigeria. The study is based on secondary data and descriptive in nature. Thereafter, content 
analysis method was used to highlight legal, environmental, and cultural challenges peculiar to Nigeria. The 
findings show that standards used in developed nations are also being applied to corporate entities in 
Nigeria to give adequate information to all stakeholders in financial reporting. Nevertheless, the neglect of 
corporate governance practices had led to significant losses to nearly all the stakeholders. Therefore, the 
study recommends   among other things that additional standards should be included in accounting reports 
like translating accounting reports into the three officially recognized indigenous languages in Nigeria and 
addressing information overload in the accounting report. 
 
Keywords: accounting scandals, adoption, board of directors, comparability, harmonization, standards  
 

Introduction  
Recording of transactions and daily activities vary from one culture to the other. In some cultures, financial 
transaction activities were recorded by markings on the walls by chalk or wax or on the trees by spikes or 
hooks. Cam woods and chalks were also used by the traditionalist in recording counts or marks in respect 
of initiations carried out. Transactions were also recorded on wax and tablets. Later, cowries were 
introduced to financial transactions when the trade by barter was jettisoned for money. The real accounting 
in financial transaction  between merchants and traders were not as easy as it  is  today because the entity 
transactions was singular without taking into consideration the dual entity or double entry transaction was 
propounded by Lucas Pacioli in his treatise on double entry in commercial transaction in 1494. His treatise, 
ñSuma Arithmetica Geomatria Proportioni et Proportionalitaò meaning ñEverything about Arithmetic, 
Geometry and Proportionò, dealt on double entry system of bookkeeping which were based on three 
records of memorandum, the journal and the ledger.  
 
A section of the book entitled De Computis et Scripturis contained discussions on double entry book-
keeping. Pacioli who was a professor of mathematics was learnt to have spent some time as an apprentice 
to a Florentine merchant. This exposure might probably had contributed to his background in writing 
Summa. This was useful for the merchants in based in Milan, Florence, Naples and Venice (citation) This 
made records involving business transactions with partners to be recorded in dual form. The basic principle 
was that for every transaction, there is a giver and a receiver, which resulted to the axiom that for every 
debit entry, there is a credit entry. This early rudiment of accounting through double entry system of 
bookkeeping allowed profits  to be determined and distributed in ventures with business partners. The dual 
main soul of accounting then became debit and credit as demand and supply was that of economics.  
 

mailto:osenimike@gmail.com
mailto:labanjog@yahoo.com
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The above accounting system did not adequately address the stewardship accounting function of reporting 
what had happened financially during the past period. This allowed dividend to be paid before the all the 
financial implications were considered. The periodicity concept was lacking. Standardized period of time 
when financial statements should be prepared was not in existence. A venture type of accounting was the 
order of the day and the creditworthiness of business partners was not available to one another. The 
overall profitability or otherwise of the business was impossible to be determined by this accounting 
convention. 
 
In order to determine the profit or otherwise of the business, Simeon Stevin  advocated the yearly 
preparation of profit and loss account in 1605 so as to allow businessmen know how profitably the business 
performed in the last one year. With this introduction of preparation of profit and loss account, the 
management and other stakeholders were able to know the performances of the business venture in the 
past twelve months. Later by 1655 the idea of drawing up a balance sheet at the end of a particular period 
was propounded by Jacques Savary. This would allow the owners to know the amount of assets and 
liabilities at a point in time. This was further made popular by the code of Commerce in France that 
recommended that a balance sheet should be prepared at least once in two years.  
 
As a result of industrial revolution, business activities frog jumped from where it was to an unimaginable 
height. Business boomed everywhere, demand and supply of raw materials and finished goods increased. 
Joint stock companies emerged and the owners of businesses were eventually being separated from the 
management. This then necessitated demand for a more reliable accounting system to cope with the 
volume of business and reporting requirements of the period to satisfy the need of various accounting 
users. Thus, began the divorce of management  from ownership as it was evident that accounting 
information were needed by various users of financial statements like shareholders, governments, revenue 
officers, would-be investors, creditors, suppliers etc. 
 
The Society of Accountants in Scotland was granted a royal charter in 1854 and this was followed with the 
formation of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales in 1880. Across the Atlantic in the 
United States of America, the Association of Public Accountants was launched in 1887. The code of ethics 
of  and conduct of these professional accountancy bodies had their positive impact on the development 
of accounting most especially financial statements of business entities. 
 
The accounts kept by many businesses merely consisted of cash and inventory movements without taking 
into considerations the accrual and prepayments conventions. This often resulted to depletion of capital as 
dividends were wrongly paid before profits were finally determined. Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 
were not provided for and fixed assets were bought and used up without providing for depreciation. 
The industrial growth and the concept that the world is a global village coupled with the contributions by 
various professional accountancy bodies made it necessary that financial statements should be easily 
understandable to the users of accounting information. This now  compelled each nation to individually 
conceptualize accounting  information that are relevant to the local standards and also to be involved in 
international accounting standards that will cut across national borderlines.  
 
In 1982, the Nigerian Accounting Standard Board (NASB) established to provide the standard required in 
preparation of financial statements through issuance of standards (Statement of Accounting Standards) for 
the local needs. In 1989, the International Accounting Standard Committee (IASC) was inaugurated and it 
was saddled with the responsibility of producing a conceptual framework for preparation and presentation 
of an internationally acceptable financial reporting and presentation of standard named as International 
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Accounting Standard (IAS). A reorganization took place in 2001 which changed the working policy of 
International Accounting Standard Committee (IASC) that led to its name being changed to International 
Accounting Standard Board (IASB). Some of the International Accounting Standards (IAS) were adopted 
and modified to produce the new accounting framework and concepts known as International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) for preparation and presentation of financial reports globally. This was adopted 
by many countries in 2005. Japan and China adopted a roadmap in 2009.  
 
In order to comply with global changes to IFRS, the Nigerian Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
issued directives to all business entities operating in Nigeria. They are directed to adopt IFRS for the 
preparation and presentation of their financial statements effective   from January 1st 2012. The small scale 
and medium enterprises had their effective date as January 1st 2013.Meanwhile, Nigeria had signed into 
law an Act establishing Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCN) in 2011 after the repeal of Nigerian 
Accounting Standard Board (NASB).  Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (Act 22 of 2003) is charged 
with the responsibility for developing and publishing accounting and financial reporting standards to be 
observed in the preparation of financial statement of public entities in Nigeria. The adoption of IFRS in 
Nigeria had made financial reports to be comparable when harmonizations of standards are taken into 
consideration.The International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) was adopted by the public 
sector with effective date of January 1st 2015. 
 
In order to  emphasize  the principles and concepts of financial reporting, the code of corporate governance 
made it mandatory that directors of public companies should properly be accountable to the shareholders 
by rendering not only financial reports that are of high standard but also narrative reporting that are self 
explanatory to the users of financial statements. External audit of the financial statements will give 
assurance to the credibility of the financial reporting. With these, financial statements will be more useful to 
all the stakeholders. However, of recent are the losses of confidence in corporate financial statements 
being eroded through manipulation or misappropriations being perpetrated by some of the stakeholders 
most especially the management with the support of the auditors of the companies. Because of these 
infractions, all safeguards formulated and developed by the professional accountancy bodies, the national 
regulatory financial systems and the international financial bodies to fulfill the objectives of financial reports 
are easily thwarted (Wilson, Iheanyi, Okoroafo &   Onyilo,   2016). 
The boards of directors, in collusion with employees, are sometimes involved in accounting scandals due to 
inadequate corporate governance mechanism.Moreover, these infractions had no respect for boundaries, 
as national and international corporations are victims of this malaise. Objectives of financial statement are 
no longer fulfilling their purposes as they should and this is a challenge to academics and professional 
accountants.The above now raises the question of developing theories that would be more purposeful to 
the accounting reports that that will be globally effective in all its ramifications as the present concepts and 
framework are not addressing the shortcomings emanating from different countries. What are the prospects 
and challenges of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to Corporate Governance in Nigeria? 
Pin pointedly, what are the limitations of the present accounting concepts and regulatory framework that fail 
to meet the expectations of the users of accounting reports?In order to find solution to this, the focus of this 
paper will be the effectiveness of the financial statements to the users of accounting reports. Hereafter, the 
paper is then divided into four sections. Conceptual framework is in section two; research methodology will 
be in section three; section four is on findings and discussion. Summary, conclusion, and recommendation 
will be in section five.   
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Literature Review 

Financial statement 
The International Accounting Standard Committee (IASC) metamorphosed into International Accounting 
Standard Board (IASB) in 2001. The boardôs framework pinpointed issues pertaining to the preparation and 
presentation of financial statements. The objective of financial statement, according to IASB is to provide 
information about the financial position, financial performance, and changes in financial status of an entity, 
which will be useful to a wide range of users in making informed economic decisions. In preparing a high 
quality financial reporting,   private sectorsô growth is enhanced and the economy is strengthened with a 
low risk of financial market crises. Foreign investors can easily evaluate corporate prospects thereby 
making informed economic decisions. Financial statement is expected to be easily understandable by all 
the users an d it must also be relevant to the business concerned. So also, the attributes of relevance, 
comparability, reliability, and uniformity are of paramount importance a financial statement should possess 
before justifying its usefulness to the stakeholders. 

 
Disclosure of information in the financial statement  
In compliance with Companies and Allied Matters Act Cap C 20 Laws of the Federation of Nigeria, 2004 (as 
amended) the following information are to be disclosed in the financial statement. 

o Statement of accounting policies 
o Profit and loss account 
o The balance sheet 
o Value Added statement 
o Five Year financial summary 
o Notes to the account 
o Auditorsô report 
o Directorsô report 
o Group financial reports in case of group of companies 

However, based on the newly adopted International Financial Reporting Standards operating in Nigeria, the 
following are the information that are to be disclosed to enhance comparability and transparency of the 
information disclosed. 

o Statement of financial position 
o Statement of comprehensive income 
o Statement of changes in equity 
o Cash flow statements 
o Notes to the accounts 

 
Stakeholders of financial reports 
The stakeholders of any financial statements are ordinarily parties that have interest in that document. They 
may be internal and external. Primarily, the stakeholders comprise investors and potential investors who 
are concerned with the security of their investments and the profits that they can earn. The security or 
otherwise of their investments will be revealed through the solvency of the company as stated by the assets 
and liabilities in the financial position of the firm at a particular point in time. Past performances can 
determine future profits through income statement. Lenders of funds are interested in the types of securities 
available and if they will be paid interests on the facilities. Suppliers need to know if goods and services 
rendered are to be paid for, and new suppliers require assurance about the financial health of the firm 
before supplying goods.  
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Customers, especially those dependent on the company, will be interested to know if the firm is able to 
supply or produce goods and services into the future. Trade union representatives and employees are 
interested in the financial statements to know if the employers can offer secure employment and possible 
pat rises. The disclosure of salaries and benefits of senior managers may be of interest to them. Also useful 
is the divisional profitability of the business if threatened with closure. In order to plan for financial and 
industrial policies, government agencies are interested in the performance of companies through the 
financial statements. Tax authorities use the financial statements as basis for assessing companies for tax 
payable. Finally, the effect of the company on the economy, local environment, and local community will be 
of interest to the public. Corporate social responsibility programmes undertaken by the companies may be 
of special interest to some members of the public. 

Whenever revenues are matched with expenses, the resultant effect is the generation of income. Revenue 
itself is a flow of fund, which has resulted from the trading or business activities of a particular enterprise 
during a particular period, which is normally measured in twelve months. When revenues are more than 
expenses, there is gain, which is also called profit. When reverse is the case, there is loss. In order to be of 
any use to information users, income must be measured periodically (Eldon, 1982; Oseni, 2013). This leads 
to periodicity concept that stipulates that income should be measured once in a year. The measurement is 
also guided by accrual and prepayment concepts. The accrual concept makes clear distinction between 
cash received for goods and services and cash to be received later for the same goods and services. 
Therefore, to follow accrual concepts in totality, all costs (expenses) and revenue are accounted for 
whether paid for or not during the period covered by the financial report. Closely related to this is the 
matching concept that expects the financial statements to match the incurred costs in one year with the 
revenue of that year. All expenses incurred, but not meant for that particular period (prepayment) are to be 
excluded from the total costs. Unrealized profits should not be included with the revenue of that period.   
 
The concept of capital and income are closely related. A stock of wealth existing at a given period of time is 
called capital whereas a flow of benefit from wealth of a given period of time is income. The income is 
derived from capital. One can say income depends to some extent on the size of the capital. Accounting 
income is a surplus derived from a business activity and it is measured by the use of matching concept 
when cost is set against revenue for a given period of time. Accountants measure income and try to ensure 
that the measurement is accurate and near to the truth as possible, therefore the accounting income is an 
ex post measurement. However, to the economist, income is defined as maximum amount an individual 
can earn during a period of time, which makes him to be as well at the end of the period as the beginning of 
the period. it then follows therefore that income is the amount the capital or net worth has increased during 
the given period and as to what  has been withdrawn at the end of the period less new capital at the end of 
the period. 
 
The objectives of income measurement are not farfetched from the concepts of the IFRS. Income is used 
as a basis for measuring efficiency. It shows how much the asset has generated. It also measures the 
company sources of revenue; it acts as a guide to future investment; it is an indicator of managerial 
effectiveness; it provides a basis for tax computation; it acts as a guide to the determination of firmôs credit 
worthiness and provides a basis for dividend policy (Lee, 1974). To the economist, capital means those 
assets that are used in production of goods and services. The capital of the firm is represented by the stock 
of assets and its investment is made when the firmsô stock of capital is increased. Capital includes physical 
assets in form of buildings, plants, and machinery as well as intangible assets. So also human resources 
and technology. In addition, capital is considered as present value of future savings derived from an asset 
of enterprise as a whole so that capital and income are linked together. Economists may prefer broader 
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definition of capital employed and might suggest some assets as human resources that are omitted by 
accountants in their definition because they cannot be quantified and recorded in the books.  
 
To the accountant, Capital is the amount invested in an enterprise by their legal owners. Accountants 
measure capital with reference to tangible assets whose existence, ownership, and cost can be verified. As 
far as the accountant Is concerned,, a personôs capital is increased by the amount of his periodic  which he 
has not consumed.Many concepts have been developed to ensure that financial reporting are made in such 
a way that the value of capital is not necessarily reduced or at least the value capital is maintained. One of 
such concepts is the capital maintenance concept. The capital concept argues that since the objective of 
going into business is to increase the value of oneôs assets (capital) through maximization of 
profits/benefits, then profit should be distributed when profit is available and should not be paid out of 
capital.Value is a useful concept in financial reporting which has its effect on the capital of an enterprise. 
The value of an asset is the present value of the future income stream expected to be derived from the 
assets 
 
The price of the asset is the value set on it in market place by the interaction of the demand and supply. 
The general belief is that when an asset is very expensive, it has a high value and when the price of an 
asset is low, the value of such asset is not high. As far as income is concerned, an asset that generates 
income must have a high value.An asset will have different value according to the purpose, which it is 
made. Individual with different of the potentialities of an asset to produce income will value it differently. 
This shows clearly that the capital, value and income are strongly related. The incomes generated by  an 
asset determine the value of that asset and such value determines what should be paid for the asset as 
income. 
 
The primary objective of financial reporting is to enable investors and other users  to be informed of 
investment decisions (Adetoso and Oladejo,  2013). Two reasons may be given for the interest of investors 
for the worth of their businesses. They are concerned with maintaining the cost of their capital and also 
concerned with maintaining and increasing their income, which is derived from the capital. Therefore, 
financial reporting concerns itself with capital and income. It is on this basis that financial reporting involves 
capital, income and value. 
The accounting cycle consists of the following steps: 

o Documentary evidence: It is the basis of recording a transaction e.g., a purchase invoice for 
recording purchases. 

o Journalizing transactions: It is the recording procedure under double entry book-keeping. 
o Posting to the ledger: It is the process of transferring transactions into various .accounts. An 

account is the basic unit of accounting that classifies diverse economic events into a homogeneous 
group. 

o Balancing of accounts: Accounting is essentially aggregative in nature. The classification of 
transactions into homogeneous groups, called .accounts involve offsetting the positive flow against 
the negative flow of benefits. The remainder is called the balance of the accounts. 

o Preparation of trial balance: A trial balance is the list of the balances of accounts arranged 
according to debits and credits such that the aggregate of the debit balances equals to the 
aggregate of credit balances. This is an apparent proof of the arithmetical accuracy of the balances 
of the accounts. 

o Adjusting entries: Adjusting entries are the post trial balance operations which involve allocation of 
various items of revenues and expenses to the appropriate time period or operations for proper 
matching, e.g., depreciation adjustment, stock adjustment, etc. 
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o Preparation of final accounts: The last stage in the accounting cycle is the preparation of final 
accounts. This involves two steps-the first step is the closing of the temporary accounts (i.e., 
revenues and expenses) which are not be carried forward to the next accounting period. The 
accounting stage for closing of the accounts is called income statement. The second step involves 
preparation of statement of financial position with the remaining balances of accounts that are not 
to be closed during the year to the income statement. 

Accounting, on the one hand, is a practical art attempting to record, classify, summarize certain facts and 
events relating to business. On the other hand, it can be viewed as a theory of financial communication 
founded on assumptions and containing logically derived and internally consistent conclusions. Like the 
most other fields of knowledge, accounting is also oriented to certain concepts, postulates, conventions, 
and assumptions. These concepts, postulates, convention and assumptions which provide the operational 
content of the subject or a frame of reference to achieve the goal of accounting is collectively known as 
accounting bases. Accounting bases provide an orderly and consistent framework for periodic reporting of 
financial transactions of business, which by their very nature are both complex and diverse. 
 
In financial reporting, one of the most important aspects is income. To the stakeholders, income is the most 
important reason of participating in the business activities of the organization. The measurement of income 
occupies a central position in accounting. Income measurement is probably the most important objective 
and function of accounting, accounting concepts, principles and procedures used by a business enterprise. 
Income represent wealth increase and business success; the higher the income, the greater will be the 
success of a business enterprise. The following are some of the major areas where income information is 
practically useful: 
 
Methodology 
Secondary data were used for this study.Qualitative research approach and retrospective literature analysis 
which were mainly secondary sources were used in order to highlight legal, environmental, and cultural 
challenges of financial reporting based on IFRS peculiar to Nigeria. Relevant materials such as textbooks, 
Journals, Newspaper and other official documents that were relevant to the adoption of IFRS in Nigeria 
were also used. 
 
Data analysis and discussion of results 
Financial reporting all over the world are prepared in languages understood by the stakeholders. Legal and 
cultural matters are translated to Scottish and Welsh languages from English languages in the United 
Kingdom. Even, papers in Law and Taxation in professional accountancy examinations often have local 
papers in these languages. However, this privilege is not extended or practiced in other lands colonized by 
the British. The option of having financial reporting in local languages will strengthen the corporate 
governance and dismantle cultural differences. Countries in Africa still use English language as its official 
language in financial reporting without any option for local language. The IFRS, which was adopted in 
Nigeria, has no provisions for local language translation which is a cultural element inherent in the 
standards.   
 
Conclusions 
The main focus of this paper rests on prospects and challenges of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) to corporate governance in Nigeria. The history of accounting worldwide including that of 
Nigeria was discussed. The contributions of various individuals, corporate bodies, and professional 
accountancy bodies towards the development of accounting from the earliest periods to the time the 
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International Financial Reporting Standards was promoted and accepted worldwide. The local development 
of accounting was also discussed. 
The financial reporting in other lands take into consideration the local attributes like the local languages into 
consideration. This paper recommends that local languages should be introduced into financial reporting as 
it is been done in advanced countries. Locally, sports commentaries are now being reported in local 
languages on foreign sports and the enthusiasms and contribution with followership are encouraging. The 
paper then concludes that local content like local languages should be introduced into financial reporting in 
Nigeria.  
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Abstract 
In 2012, Nigerian government adopted IFRS due to inadequacies of the Nigeria GAAP and the need to 
embrace international best practices. This study examines the effect of IFRS Adoption on Shareholders 
Wealth in Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria. The study employs longitudinal research design and collected 
data from published financial statements of Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) listed on the Nigerian Stock 
Exchange (NSE) for the period 2008 to 2015. Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA), Multivariate 
analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) and multiple regression analysis models were used for the data 
analysis. The dividend per share (DPS), market value per share (MVPS), earnings per share (EPS) and 
return on equity (ROE) serve as proxies for shareholder's wealth while IFRS pre and post-treatments serve 
as a categorical variable and inflation as a continuous control variable. The outcome of the study shows 
that IFRS adoption impacted significantly on DMBs shareholdersô wealth of DPS, but on ROE only after 
controlling for inflation effect.  There is, however, no evidence on Market value per share (MVPS) and 
Earnings per share within the same period under review even after controlling for inflation effect. The study 
concludes that IFRS adoption has improved DMBs shareholdersô wealth in Nigeria. The study recommends 
among others that DMBs in Nigeria should sustain the application of IFRS as it improves shareholdersô 
wealth. The policy implication is that this can help reduce the information asymmetry between shareholders 
and managers in Nigeria, thus improving the investment climate for the overall benefit of the Nation.  

 
Keywords: International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), Shareholdersô Wealth, Deposit Money 
Banks (DMBs), Agency Theory, Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA), Multivariateanalysis of 
covariance (MANCOVA), Inflation. 
 
Introduction  
Globalisation and increasing business activities across borders necessitate the International Organizations 
of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 
companieslisted or seeking to list on stock exchanges worldwide (Stenka, Ormrod, & Chan, 2008). The 
International Financial Reporting Standards is a set of high - quality global accounting standards and rules 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) of United Kingdom for the preparation and 
presentation of financial statements worldwide to promote uniformity and transparency (IASB, 2016, 
ICAEW, 2013). 

These International Accounting Standards (IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
are posited to serve as a guide in the preparation of financial statements globally (IASB, 2016; Chen, Tang, 

mailto:hdbirdling@yahoo.com
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Jiang, & Lin, 2010).As at31stMarch 2018, one hundred and fifty (150) countries have adopted IFRS (IASB, 
2018),notwithstanding, the implementation rate differs across countries and continents of the world. In 
2005, European Union (EU) directed all listed companies in Europe to migrate from national accounting 
standards to IFRS.  Also, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) allowed foreign 
corporations that were trading on the US Stock Exchanges to report financial statements in line with IFRS 
rules (Athanasios, 2011).  

Table 1 shows continental adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as stated 
hereunder as at 31st March 2018: 

 
Number of Jurisdictions Percent of total 

Europe 44 29% 

Africa 23 15% 

Middle ïEast 13 9% 

Asia and Oceania 33 22% 

Americas 37 25% 

Totals 150 100% 

Source: http://www.ifrs.org/use-around-the-world/use-of-ifrs-standards-by-jurisdiction 

Statement of the Problem 
In line with the global practice, Nigeria in 2012 adopted the International financial reporting standards 
(IFRS) along with other twenty - two (22) African countries. In the light of adoption, the Financial Reporting 
Council of Nigeria (FRCN)  a government regulatory body directed all listed companies in Nigeria to migrate 
from national accounting standards called the Statement of Accounting Standards (SAS) to International 
Financial Reporting Standards with effect from 1st January 2012 (FRCN, 2015; Madawaki, 2012).In the 
spirit of globalisation, the Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE) and the Nigeria Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) made it mandatory for all companies trading and wishing to be listed on the floor of the 
Nigerian Stock Exchangeô to adopt IFRS reporting for their financial statements in line with Nigeriaôs 
adoption of IFRS (NSE, 2015). 

Nwude, 2012, posits that it had become worrisome to the shareholders in Nigeria when the prices of the 
shares crashed in 2007, although the impact of global economic meltdown contributed to this. Despite this 
fact, companies were throwing up impressive performances in the financial statements presented annually 
to the shareholders. These financial statements were prepared using the local standards,i.e.,Nigeria, 
Generally - Accepted Accounting Principles (NGAAP) known as Statement of Accounting Standards (SAS). 
Dividends were declared, but companies could not offset the obligations on the profit reported by them 
(Nwude, 2012). 

The above necessitated the takeover of five DMBs in 2009 in Nigeria namely: Afribank Nigeria Plc., 
Oceanic Bank Plc; Platinum Habib Bank Plc., Intercontinental Bank Plc., and Spring Bank Plc. These banks 
were caught up in the web of creative accounting when reporting their performances (CBN, 2015). 

Nigeria Deposit Insurance Corporation (NDIC) and Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) intervened by injecting 
six hundred and fifty billion naira 650Bn (the equivalent of USD 4.13 billion) to save depositors fund and 
bank stakeholders (CBN, 2015; Ogunde, 2012). Before, the capital market operators adopted IFRS as 
listing requirements for quoted companies in Nigeria (NSE, 2015); however, Investors also raised concerns 

http://www.ifrs.org/use-around-the-world/use-of-ifrs-standards-by-jurisdiction
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about the inadequacy and lack of credibility of financial information provided in the financial statements 
(Shehu, 2011). 

 
Jensen and Meckling (1976), in their agency theory, posits that conflict arises when an agent (manager), 
pursue their interest (high pay, better perks, and great bonuses) to the detriment of the shareholders 
objective of wealth maximisation. Some managers get involved in window dressing of financial reports and 
unethical practices, and this adversely impacts shareholders value (Mallin, 2013). The principal-agent 
relationship breeds information asymmetry (Hilliard, 2013).This necessitated the need to have financial 
statementsthat potential investors, shareholders and other users of the financial statements such as 
managers, suppliers, creditors, andgovernment can rely on for decision making. (IASB, 2016; Alexander, 
Britton, &Jorissen, 2011).  

This research tries to find out if the adoption of IFRS has improved information asymmetry of these banks 
and hence the shareholders wealth since IFRS adoption.  The studycovers 2008 to 2015 with four years 
before and four years after the adoption of IFRS by Nigeria in 2012 by significant public entities. This is to 
allow a pre and post treatment effect on shareholders wealth for adequate comparison. 
 
Past researchers in Nigeria focused mainly on the impact of IFRS adoption on equity,  foreign direct 
investments, and the cost of capital (Nnandi & Soobaroyen, 2015, Shehu, 2015,  Okafor and Ogiedu, 
2011)., without investigating the effects of IFRS adoption on the wealth of the owners.In addition this 
research employs multivariate analysis of  variance (MANOVA/MANCOVA) to compare the effect of pre 
and post treatment effects in addition to multiple regression of pre and post categorical variable to find out if 
IFRS adoption impacts on shareholders wealth with dividend per share (DPS), market value per share 
(MVPS), earnings per share (EPS) and return on equity (ROE) as proxies. 
 
research objectives 
The primary purpose of this research is to assess the effect of international financial reporting standards 
implementation on shareholders wealth of the listed deposit money banks in Nigeria.  

The study aimed at achieving the following specific objectives: 

I. To evaluate the effect of IFRS adoption on Market Value per Share (MVPS) of the listed 
Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria, pre and post IFRS implementation 
 

II. To ascertain the effect IFRS adoption on Earnings per Share (EPS) of the listed Deposit 
Money Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria, pre and post IFRS implementation 

 
III. To determine the effect of IFRS adoption on Dividend per Share (DPS) of the listed Deposit 

Money Banks in Nigeria, pre and post IFRS implementation 
 

IV. To assess the effect of IFRS adoption on Return on Equity (ROE) of the listed deposit Money 
Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria, pre and post IFRS implementation 

 
Statement Of Research Questions 

(I) Does IFRS adoption have a significant effect on Market Value per Share (MVPS) of listed 
Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria? 
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(II) Does the implementation of IFRS significantly impact Earnings per Share (EPS) of listed 
Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria? 

 
(III) Does IFRS significantly improved Divided per Share of listed Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria 

after adoption? 
 

(IV) Is there any significant impact of IFRS implementation on Return on Equity of listed Deposit 
Money Banks in Nigeria? 

 
Statement of Research Hypotheses 
Ho1:  There is no significant impact of IFRS adoption on Market Value per Share (MVPS) of the listed 

Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria after IFRS implementation 

Ho2:  There is no significant impact of IFRS adoption on Earnings per Share (EPS) of the listed Deposit 
Money Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria after IFRS implementation 

Ho3:  There is no significant impact of IFRS adoption on Dividend per Share (DPS) of the listed Deposit 
Money Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria after IFRS implementation 

Ho4:  There is no significant impact of IFRS adoption on Return on Equity (ROE) of the listed Deposit Money 
Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria after IFRS implementation 

Scope of the study 
The survey covers International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adoption of the fifteen (15) Deposit 
Money Banks (DMBs) listed on the floor of the Nigerian Stock Exchange as it relates to the wealth of the 
shareholders (NSE, 2015). The data collected from published financial statements of the listed Deposit 
Money Banks (DMBs from 2008 to 2015 and the share prices from the website of Deposit Money Banks 
(DMBs) and the Nigerian Stock Exchange (CBN, 2015, NSE, 2015).The period coincides with four years 
before and four years after the adoption of IFRS by Nigeria in 2012 by significant public entities. This is to 
allow a pre and post treatment effect on shareholders wealth for adequate comparison. 
 
Literature Review 
This section covers the conceptual review, theoreticalreview and the Comprehensive review of empirical 
evidence on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adoption and its impact on shareholdersô 
wealth around the world and summary of the study. 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
IFRS are the international accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). IASB is the independent not for profit organisation saddled with the task of developing high - quality 
global accounting norms in the public interest (IASB, 2015). 

IFRS is principle based. Studies revealed the disparity between GAAP standards and IFRS narrow 
(Ampofo&Sellani, 2005). However, the convergence of GAAP and IAS/IFRS eliminated the differences 
between US GAAP and IFRS to having single global accounting standards (IASB, 2015).IFRS standards 
ensure uniformity, standardisation, comparability, and understandability of financial statements across 
borders (ICAEW, 2013). 

The GAAP 
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The Generally Accounting - Accepted Principles (GAAP) is the convention governing accounting, financial 
reporting, and auditing in the preparation and presentation of financial statements (Ampofo&Sellani, 2005). 
GAAP vary from country to the other, and the source and development of GAAP differ from one jurisdiction 
to the other. For instance, we have the US GAAP, UK GAAP, Chinese GAAP, German GAAP and Nigeria 
GAAP. 

The professional accounting bodies and constituted Accounting Boards develop and issues accounting 
standards that guide accounting and accounting related practices (Ampofo&Sellani, 2005). 

Shareholders Wealth 
ñShareholder wealth is the present value of the expected future returns to the owners (that is, shareholders) 
of the firm. These returns can take the form of periodic dividend payments and/or proceeds from the sale of 
the stockò Binder (n. d).The shareholders wealth is enhanced through growth in earnings per share (EPS), 
dividend per share (DPS), market value per share (MVPS) and increase in return on equity (ROE) ratios 
that ultimately maximises shareholders wealth (Hillier, Ross, Westerfield, Jaffe and Jordan., 2014, Elliott & 
Elliott, 2012, Pandey, 2009). 

Earnings per Share (EPS) as it relates to wealth maximisation only 
Earnings per share (EPS) are the portion of the distributable profit to each unit of outstanding equity 
shares; after paying employees, suppliers, creditors and preference shareholders (Elliott & Elliott, 2012). It 
measures the amount of profit available for distribution to the equity shareholders over a period (Silviana, 
2013). The higher the EPS, the better because, a high EPS shows an improvement in the earnings and 
strong financial position of the entity (Elliott & Elliott, 2012). 

Dividend per Share (DPS) as it relates to wealth maximisation only 
Agency theories assume dividend payment is subject to public information (Hail, Tahoun, & Wang, 2014). 
However, over the yearôs companies that payout,dividend had positively impacted their stock prices. The 
rationale for selecting dividend per share (DPS) as a measure to assess the effect of IFRS adoption on the 
wealth of shareholders in Nigeria; because both dividend payment and capital appreciation enhance the 
richness of the owners (Elliott & Elliott, 2012). 

 
Market Value per Share (MVPS) as it relates to wealth maximisation only 
Akbar (2008) investigated factors responsible for the creation of shareholdersô wealth in Indian car 
manufacturing companies listed on Bombay Stock Exchange from 2001 to 2015.Shareholders wealth 
maximised through an increase in earnings per share (EPS) and the market price of shares (Akbar, 
2008).The market value per share of the Deposit Money Banks quoted on the floor of Nigerian Stock 
Exchange, at the end of the reporting period,i.e., 31st December each year from 2008 to 2015 used as a 
dependent variable of the study (NSE, 2016). 

Return on Equity (ROE) as it relates to wealth maximisation only 
Return on equity is a profitability ratio that measures the ability of a firm ñto generate profits from its 
shareholder's investment in the companyò (MyAccountingCourse.Com, 2017, p.22). 

Return on equity indicated how much profit one dollar of ordinary equity shares generates. It shows how 
management utilised shareholdersô investment to produce profits.The higher return on equity the better for 
the company because the excess fund is available for investment and business expansion without requiring 
additional capital from equity shareholders hence the need for borrowing reduces; Warren Buffet often 
regarded this high ROE as investment principle (Buffett, 2017). 



64 
 

Hilliard (2013) examined the effect of adopting IFRS on financial statements in Canada and found that the 
market reacts adversely to IFRS implementation.  Migrating to IFRS from Canadian GAAP enhanced 
financial reporting and reduction of information asymmetry. Despite Hilliard (2013) discovery, that IFRS 
adoption led to the decrease of information asymmetry. The study only examined the first quarter financial 
reports after the passage of IFRS in Canada, for better analysis and generalisation the research could have 
spanned overtime periods, and that is not the case. Notwithstanding, Hilliardôs outcome may be beneficial 
to early adopters in evaluating the impacts of IFRS adoption. 

Common accounting standards across Europe and the globe ensure greater comparability of financial 
information (ICAEW, 2015). Mandatory adoption of IFRS in the European Union; helped improved 
comparability among adopters(Brochet, Alan & Edward 2013; Andre, Dionysia& Ioannis  2012; Yip & Young 
2012; Cairns, Massoudi, Taplin and Tarca 2011; Jones & Finley 2011; Dargenidou and McLeay 2010. 
However, according to Lang, Mark & Edward (2010), the adoption of international financial reporting 
standards has not increased accounting comparability.IFRS adoption improved value relevance in 
Australia, Hong Kong and New Zealand (Cheong, Kim &Zurbruegg, 2010) and the adoption of IFRS 
assisted capital market participants in Korea through improved earnings quality and lower information 
asymmetry (Cho, Kwom, Yi & Yun., 2015). 

Gulani, Malgwi & Idriss (2015) investigated the effects of the adoption of IFRS on ratios of banks in Nigeria. 
A paired sample T-test employed in the analysis of return on capital employed (ROCE), return on assets 
(ROA), return on equity (ROE), equity to loan, equity to total assets and loan to total assets. From the 
study, migrating from Nigeria GAAP to IFRS significantly impacted return on equity and loan to total assets. 
Moreover, return on equity affected shareholders wealth when ROE increases it would enhance the wealth 
of shareholders and vice versa (Gulani, Malgwi & Idriss, 2015).Ibiamke and Ateboh - Briggs (2014) 
examined the impacts of IFRS adoption on the primary financial ratios for the quoted companies in Nigeria. 
A sample of 60 companies quoted on the floor of the Nigerian Stock Exchange used. The IFRS adoption 
caused a decrease in profitability, liquidity, and critical market ratios. 

The study by Yahaya, Onyabe& Usman (2015) similar to the research on hand examined the effect of IFRS 
adoption on value relevance of the listed Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria from 2004 to 2013.Pre - IFRS 
adoption period 2004 to 2008 and post - IFRS adoption 2009 to 2013.  Two models employed in the 
analysis price and earning models. The price model proxiesô earnings per share (EPS) and market value 
per share (MVPS) while annual returns representing earning model; Findings revealed that, earnings per 
share increased significantly and value relevance of accounting information improved. Therefore, 
improvement in accounting information and EPS invariably enhanced shareholders wealth (Yahaya, 
Onyabe& Usman, 2015). 

Tanko (2012) examined the effect of IFRS adoption on the performances of firms in Nigeria measured as 
profitability, growth, liquidity, and earnings per share (EPS) and from the results the quality of financial 
reporting improved through a decrease in managerial discretion in reporting earnings.Adabenege, Kutigi& 
Mohammed (2015) examined the effect of IFRS adoption on earnings behaviour of quoted deposit money 
banks in Nigeria. Financial statements of the15 listed banks on the Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE) for the 
period 2004 to 2013 used. The study showed that banksô ability or tendency to engage in earnings 
management reduced due to transparency involved in financial reporting under IFRS (Fodio, Oba, Olukoju, 
andZik - rullahi, 2015). Several studies in the US, UK, Asia, Australia, and Africa centered on the effect of 
IFRS adoption in the areas of net income, equity, financial ratios, and foreign direct investment, the cost of 
capital. Particularly the comparative analysis of financial statements prepared under the GAAP and IFRS. 
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Theoretical Review  
Jensen &Meckling (1976), in their agency theory, posits that conflict arises when an agent (manager), 
pursue her interest (high pay, better perks, and great bonuses) to the detriment of the shareholders 
objective of wealth maximisation. Some managers get involved in window dressing of financial reports and 
unethical practices, and this adversely impacts shareholders value (Mallin, 2013). The principal-agent 
relationship breeds information asymmetry (Hilliard, 2013). 
A professional manager undertakes a task of preparing and presenting financial statements on behalf of the 
shareholders. Managers have a fiduciary responsibility and accountability to shareholders (Mallin, 
2013).The Agency theory is relevant in this research as the adoption of IFRS will likely impact on 
information asymmetry between the managers and shareholders and hence the shareholder's wealth. 

Methodology 
The study adopts panel or longitudinal research design to test the impact of IFRS adoption of shareholders 
wealth pre and post-adoption. The study also adopted epistemological positivism which stands on the 
assumption that social world exists, and the properties are determined by objective means instead of 
subjective inference from situation or senses (Kothari, 2004). The reality here is that international financial 
reporting standards (IFRS) exist, and the effect of IFRS adoption on shareholders wealth in Nigeria; is what 
this study seeks to establish. 
 
Sources of Data 
The data collected from published financial statements of the listed commercial banks (DMBs from 2008 to 
2015 and the share prices from the website of Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) and the Nigerian Stock 
Exchange (CBN, 2015, NSE, 2015).The period coincides with four years before and four years after the 
adoption of IFRS by Nigeria in 2012 by significant public entities. This is to allow a pre and post treatment 
effect on shareholders wealth for adequate comparison. Monthly inflation data sourced from Central Bank 
of Nigeria (CBN) website.The sample size:  
All the 15 Deposit Money Banks listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange constitute the sample of the study 
from a population of twenty-two (22) DMBs Banks in Nigeria. This is because the study adopted a filter 
based on the availability of the data in the DMBs as seven out of the twenty - two(22), Deposit Money 
Banks in Nigeriaare not listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange, leaving only fifteen listed banks that met the 
criterion.  
 
Method of Data Analysis 
The study employs Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) and Multivariate Analysis of Covariance 
(MANCOVA) along with pooled Ordinary least squared Regression Analysis (OLS) to test the impact of 
IFRS adoption pre and post on shareholders wealth. 
 
Measurement 
This study uses six (6) variables to study the relationship between IFRS adoption and Shareholders wealth. 
 
Shareholders wealth is measured by four variables separately viz: Return on Equity (ROE), Earnings per 
Share (EPS), Dividends per Share and market value per share as a proxy for Shareholders wealth and as 
dependent variables. 
 
IFRS adoption is measured by Pre and post-treatment as a proxy and as a categorical variable and inflation 
factor as control and a continuous variable for regression analysis. 
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The MANOVA and MANCOVA compare the means of the four variables, pre and post while the OLS 
regression is fitted after the comparison to see the effect of pre (1) and post (2) as a categorical 
independent variable on each of the four dependent variables representing shareholders wealth. 
 
Model Specification 
In this study, the relationship between four (4) dependent variables and one (1) two independent variable 
expressed in multiple equations are as below. 
 
MANOVA/MANCOVA 
X1a = X1b; for ROE 
X2a = X2b; for EPS 
X3a = X3b; for DPS 
X4a = X4b. for MVPS 
 
Where Xa = Xb  are pre and post means of the respective dependent variables, X1, X2 X3 and X4 for ROE, 
EPS, DPS and MVPS respectively for MANOVA analysis while MANCOVA compares the Covariance of a 
continuous variable. 
 
Regression Analysis 
Yit= b0 + b1Xi1t1 + b2Xi2t2 + ắit 

 

Where Y= dependent variable (ROE, EPS, DPS and MVPS) 
 
X= independent variable (Pre (1) and Post (2) categorical variable) 
 
b0, b1, b2, ébt = coefficient of the regression 
i = number of banks, t = number of years 
 
ắ = error or random variable or residual  
 
Decision Rule:Accept the null hypothesis (Ho) if the p-value is less than 1%, 5% or 10% or otherwise if the 
p - the value is higher. 
 
Data analysis and discussion of results 
The data and information used in the analysisaremainly obtained from secondary sources. The published 
financial statements of the fifteen (15) Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange 
(NSE) for the period 2008 to 2015 (CBN, 2015, NSE, 2015). MANOVA/MANCOVA and Regression 
modelused for the data analysis with the aid of the STATA 13 statistical package and the results interpreted 
and the summary of findings presented in a suitable format from which inferenceswere drawn. 
 
Descriptive Statistics 
Data on shareholders wealth (SW) that is the dependent variable (market value per share (MVPS), 
earnings per share (EPS), dividend per share (DPS) and return on equity (ROE)) and independent 
variables were analysed using STATA 13 statistical package and presented below: 
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Table II Descriptive Statistics for the Variables 

Variable Obs Mean Std. Dev. Min Max 
MVPS 
 

120 8.8283417 6.900982 0.5 28 

EPS 
 

120 .88775 1.152094 0 8.74 

DPS 
 

120 .3934167 .4838214 0 2 

ROE 
 

120 10.44083 11.65177 0 109.44 

Inflation 96 .08786458 0.06862708 -.6 3.69 

Source:  Researchers Analysis using STATA 13 

From table II above, the market value per share (MVPS) has a mean of 8.28 with a standard deviation 
(SD) of 6.90; the highest MVPS of Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria for the period was 28.00 
while some deposit money banks value depleted to the negative of 50 kobo. The earnings per share (EPS) 
attributable to ordinary shareholders have a mean of 0.89 and an SD of 1.15; the maximum EPS was 

8.74 and the lowest zero. The dividend per share (DPS) averages negative 0.39 and negative SD of 
0.48. For the entire period the maximum dividend received by shareholders was 2.00, and in some years, 
there was no dividend paid. The average return on equity (ROE) was 10.44 and SD of 11.65; the highest 
return accruing to shareholders is 109.44. The average monthly inflation is 8.7% with a standard 
deviation of approximately 0.07%. 

Table III The Correlation Matrix  

Variable MVPS EPS DPS ROE Inflation 
MVPS 
 

1.0000     

EPS 
 

.2471 1.0000    

DPS 
 

.6005 .4024 1.0000   

ROE 
 

.3778 .4907 0.4889 1.0000  

Inflation -0.0874 -0.1318 -0.0419 -0.1125 1.0000 

Source:  Researchers Analysis using STATA 13 

Correlation measures the degree or strength of relationship among variables.  From table III. Correlating 
the relationship among dependent variables (MVPS, EPS, DPS, & ROE) revealed that the 
correlationbetween market value per share (MVPS) and earnings per share (EPS) is 0.25 and between 
market value per share (MVPS) and dividend per share (DPS) is 0.60. Also, the correlation between market 
value per share (MVPS) and return on equity (ROE) is 0.38. The correlation of 0.40 exists between 
earnings per share (EPS) and dividend per share (DPS) whilethe correlation of 0.49 exists between EPS 
and return on equity (ROE). In the same vein correlation of 0.489 exists between dividend per share (DPS) 
and return on equity (ROE). Inflation is inversely correlated with MVPS, EPS, DPS and ROE during the 
period under review. 
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All correlation coefficients between the dependent variables are below 0.8; this indicates the absence of 
multicollinearity among variables under observation. However, if the coefficient of regression is above 0.8 
means, multicollinearity exists.The reason for examining the relationship between the dependent variables 
is to ensure that there isno very high or perfectcorrelation ofthe regression variables. Multicollinearity 
emerges because of a high degree of correlation between dependent variables; if it exists then one 
dependent variable must be eliminated from the study, to avoid redundancy of dependent variables and 
distortion in the values of regression coefficients. 

MANOVA of MVPS, EPS, DPS and ROE 
 

Pre (1) and Post (2) IFRS Treatment serves as a proxyfor the categorical independent variable for IFRS 
adoption 
manova MVPS EPS DPS ROE = TREATMENT 
Number of obs =     120 
 

 W = Wilks' lambda      L = Lawley-Hotelling trace 
 P = Pillai's trace          R = Roy's largest root 
 
Table IV Multivariance Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) 

Source Statistics Df F (df1,  df2) = F Prob ι F 
Treatment             W    
 

0.9324 1  4.0          115 2.09 0.0872 e 

P 
 

0.0676  4.0          115 2.09 0.0872 e 

                                  
L 
 

0.0725  4.0          115 2.09 0.0872 e 

                              R 
 

0.0725  4.0          115 2.09 0.0872 e 

Residual  118     
Total  119     

Source: Researchers Analysis using STATA 13 
Key:   e = exact, a = approximate, u = upper bound on F 
 
From IV above all the statistical measures of difference between pre-IFRS adoption and post IFRS 
adoption has a significant difference (Wilksô lambda, Pillai's trace, Lawley-Hotelling trace and Roy's largest 
root). This means IFRS adoption has a significant difference on shareholders wealth. However, as the 
measures could not determine which has impacted most on shareholders wealth.Thisis determined by 
running a regression using the pre and post-treatment as categorical variable as below: 
 
Table V Regression result for pre and post treatment test 

Variable Obs Treatment Coefficients  Std. Error t P value 
MVPS 
 

120 Pre 0    
post 0.132 1.265 0.10 0.917     

EPS 120 Pre 0    
post 0.254 0.210 1.21 0.228     

DPS 120 Pre 0    
post 0.193 0.869 2.21 0.029      
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ROE 120 Pre 0    
post 1.699 2.131 0.80 0.427     

Source: Researchers Analysis using STATA 13 

From Table V above, only dividend per share (DPS) that has a positive relationship and significant impact 
post-treatment at below 5% significant level. This means IFRS adoption has an impact on shareholders 
wealth of DPS. MVPS, EPS, and ROE have a positive relationship but not significant. This means IFRS 
adoption has not improved shareholders wealth of MVPS, EPS, and ROE.  

Table VI Multivariance Analysis of Covariance (MANCOVA) 
Source Statistics Df F (df1,  df2) = F Prob ι F 
Treatment              W 0.891 2 8.0        180.0 1.34 0.2251 e 

P 
 

0.112  8.0        182.0 1.34 0.2239 a 

L 
 

0.121  8.0        178.0 1.34 0.2264 a 

R 0.095  4.0          91.0 2.15 0.0810 u 
Residual  93     
Inflation                  W 0.975  4.0        90.50 0.59 0.6709 e  
P 
 

0.026  4.0         0.50 0.59 0.6709 e  

L 0.026  4.0        90.50 0.59 0.6709 e  
R 0.026  4.0        90.50 0.59 0.6709 e  
Total  95     

Source: Researchers Analysis using STATA 13 

Key:   e = exact, a = approximate, u = upper bound on F 

Table VII. Regression result for pre and post treatment test with inflation as control variable 

Variable Obs Treatment Coefficients  Std. Error t P value 
MVPS 
 

120 Pre 0   0 
Post 0.0.18 1.354 0.01 0.989     
Inflation -.822 0.992 -0.83 0.410     

EPS 120 Pre 0   0 
Post 0.167 0.240 0.70 0.487     
Inflation -.198 0.176 -1.13 0.262 

DPS 120 Pre 0   0 
Post 0.51 0.088 1.72 0.089     
Inflation -.005 0.64 -0.07 0.025 

ROE 120 Pre 0   0 
Post 3.308 1.449 2.28 0.025      

Inflation -.705 1.061 -0.66 0.508 

Source: Researchers Analysis using STATA 13 

From table VII above, both dividend per share and return on equity have a positive relationship and 
significant impact post-treatment at 10% and 5% respectively. This means using inflation as a control, IFRS 
adoption has an impact on shareholders wealth of DPS and Return on equity. However, MVPS and EPS 
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have an only positive relationship but not a significanteffect on shareholders wealth. This means IFRS 
adoption has not improved shareholders wealth of MVPS and EPS.  

Summary of Findings 
The initial analysis of all the statistical measures of difference between pre-IFRS adoption and post-IFRS 
adoption has a significant difference (Wilksô lambda, Pillai's trace, Lawley-Hotelling trace and Roy's largest 
root). This means IFRS adoption has a significant difference on shareholders wealth. However, the 
measures could not determine which has impacted most on shareholders wealth. Thisis determined by 
running a regression using the pre and post-treatment as a categorical variable. 

The result of regression test shows that only dividend per share (DPS) that has a positive relationship and 
significant impact post-treatment at below 5% significant level. This means IFRS adoption has an impact on 
shareholders wealth of DPS. MVPS, EPS, and ROE have a positive relationship but no significant effecton 
shareholders wealth. This means IFRS adoption has not improved shareholders wealth of MVPS, EPS, and 
ROE. 

Multivariate analysis  of covariance (MANCOVA) outcome after controlling for inflation shows both Dividend 
per share (DPS) and Return on Equity (ROE) have positive relationship and significant impact on 
shareholders wealth; while, Market value per share (MVPS) and Earnings per share (EPS)  reveals positive 
relationship but have no significant effect on shareholders wealth of listed Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) in 
Nigeria. 
 
Conclusions  

As at 31st March 2018, one hundred and fifty (150) countries have adopted IFRS (IASB, 2018). In 2012, 
Nigerian government adopted IFRS due to inadequacies of the Nigeria GAAP and the need to embrace 
international best practices that guarantee understandable, transparent and comparable financial 
statements across borders (ICAEW, 2013). This study was undertaken to assess the effect of IFRS 
adoption on shareholders. 

Extensive studies on IFRS in the US, UK, Asia, Australia,  Africa and Nigeria focused on, the effect of IFRS 
adoption on net income, equity, financial ratios, and foreign, the cost of capital. From the review, 
practical/policy, theoreticalandmethodological and literature gaps exist. Also, data collected for the period of 
eight years (2008 -2015). The data were analysed using multivariate analysis (MANAVOVA/MANCOVA) 
and multiple regression models with the aid of a STATA 13.  

The dividend per share (DPS), market value per share (MVPS), earnings per share (EPS) and return on 
equity (ROE) serves as proxies for shareholder's wealth while IFRS pre and post-treatmentserve as a 
categorical variable and inflation as a continuous control variable. This study reveals that IFRS adoption 
significantly impacted shareholders wealth of the listed deposit money banks in Nigeria particularly 
dividends per share and return on equity.Multivariate analysis (MANOVA/MANCOVA) outcome after 
controlling for inflation shows that Dividend per share (DPS) have a positive relationship and a significant 
impact on shareholders wealth at below 10% significant level. Return on Equity (ROE) has a positive 
relationship and significanteffect on shareholders wealth at below 5% significant level. However, Market 
value per share (MVPS) and  Earnings per share (EPS) has a  positive relationship but have no significant 
effect on shareholders wealth of listed Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria.The study concludes that IFRS 
adoption improves DMBs shareholdersô wealth in Nigeria.  
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The study recommends among others that DMBs in Nigeria should sustain the application of IFRS as it 
improves shareholdersô wealth. The policy implication is that this can help reduce the information 
asymmetry between shareholders and managers in Nigeria, thus improving the investment climate for the 
overall benefit of the Nation. 
 

Further research on the effect of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adoption on 
shareholders wealth should explorefurther, the impact of economic growth and development on 
shareholders wealth as control variables. 
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Abstract 
This study was conducted to examine the perception of accountants on the personal factors influencing an 
auditorôs ethical behaviour in Nigeria. A cross-sectional survey of accountants in Lagos State Nigeria was 
conducted. Data was obtained from 152 accountants (80 chartered and 72 non-chartered) through the use 
of a well-structured questionnaire. The data collected was analysed using nonparametric tests (Wilcoxon 
rank-sum test and MannïWhitney test) to check for differences in the perceptions of chartered and non-
chartered accountants on the personal factors influencing auditorsô ethical behaviours. The results showed 
that, with the exception of auditorsô age, there is no significant difference in the perceptions of the two 
groups of accountants on the personal factors influencing auditorsô ethical behaviours. The study offers 
value to professional accounting bodies in that it provides empirical explanations to guide the pursuit for 
sustainable and resilient ethical values among accounting professionals. 

Keywords: Ethical behaviours, corruption, auditors, chartered accountants 
 
 
Introduction 
Generally, ethics is the bedrock of any responsible society and the basis for a meaningful and sustainable 
development. True professionalism and societal formation are established upon sound ethical values which 
are the foundation for all other standards of performance (Turpen & Witmer, 1997). Globally, the continuing 
decline of ethical values in organizations and societies has heightened the concerns for ethics studies in 
societies (Transparency International, 2016). In 2002, the appeal for ethics in business and accounting 
practices became amplified after the Enron and Andersen debacles (Low, Davey & Hooper, 2008; Arfaoui 
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et al., 2016). The outcome of the investigation only brought to bear what already was a deficiency in the 
very fibres of the business and professional communities.  
 
The issue of unethical business and accounting practices has a long history (Low et al., 2008). Although, 
reported cases only surfaced in the 1970s with the scandals of Lockheed Corporation in 1976, United 
States and Nugan Hand Bank in 1980, Australia. Others include the scandals of Northguard Acceptance 
Ltd. in 1980-82, Canada and ZZZZ Best in 1986, US (Murphy, 2015). Recent cases include the scandals of 
Toshiba in 2015, Japan; Alberta Motor Association in 2016, Canada; and Odebrecht in 2016, Brazil 
(Rusnell, 2016; Associate Press, 2017; Inagaki, 2017). By implication, the recurring global headlines of 
financial scandals and the roles played by accountants and auditors have brought a dent on the image of 
the accounting professionôs nobility (Dellaportas, 2006; Bakre, 2007; Musbah et al., 2016). Also, 
stakeholders remain surprised as regards the moral decline and unethical posture of public accountants 
(Wokukwu, 2015; Herbert et al., 2016). 
 
In Nigeria there have been several outcries over increasing incidents of corruption and unethical accounting 
practices (TI, 2016). Despite increased government legislations and the presence of governance and 
professional ethics codes, as well as common integration of accounting ethics conversations in the 
academic curriculum, cases of unethical practices among accountants in both the public and private 
sectors subsist ( Bakre, 2007; Otusanya, 2010). There are cases of the collusion of accountants with 
companiesô management and directors to falsify companiesô accounts and the compromising stance of 
external auditors. Cadbury Nigeria Plc. suffered a major financial scandal in 2005, while Dunlop Nigeria Plc. 
liquidated in 2009. Likewise, Oceanic and Intercontinental banks collapsed, leaving hundreds of 
shareholders financially impaired (Bakre, 2007; Ogunleye, 2015; Otusanya & Uadiale, 2014). 
 
Confronted with these ethical challenges among accounting professionals, coupled with the consistent 
rankings of African countries among most corrupt in the world (TI, 2016) and the concerns expressed by 
different stakeholder groups for more business and professional ethics studies in Africa, this paper 
examines accountantsô perceptions of the personal factors influencing auditorsô ethical behaviours in 
Nigeria, a developing country. Although, research findings on factors influencing individualsô ethical 
behaviour abound in the literature, however, only few ethics studies relate these factors to auditorsô ethical 
behaviour and decision-making. Yet, audit is one of the major fields in accounting and plays a significant 
role in lending credibility to companiesô financial statements. The public ascribes the auditing profession a 
high social status, regard and esteem over financial information in corporate entities (Adeyemi & Fagbemi, 
2011). There is a dearth of ethics literature relating to auditing in Africa.The other sections are arranged as 
follows: section II presents the review of literature and hypotheses formulation. Section III discusses the 
research methods adopted for the paper. Section IV presents the results and discussions, while section V 
summarises and concludes the paper. 
 
Literature Review 
Ethics, as explained by Bovee, Thill and Mescon (2006), is the principles and criteria for moral conduct on 
what is ñrightò as opposed to the ñwrongò, which society has adopted for its existence. Morf, Schumacher 
and Vitell (1999) described ethics as concerned with moral commitment, responsibility and social justice of 
all parties involved in the process of decision making. 
 
Every professional association is established upon a generally accepted body of knowledge, a widely 
recognized standard of attainment and enforceable codes of ethics (Smith, Smith & Mulig, 2005; 
Karaibrahimoglu, Erdener & Var, 2009). These codes of ethics guide and shape membersô behaviour and 
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enable them to resolve ambiguity or contentious issues concerning ethical conduct (Crebert et al., 2011). At 
times, it is difficult to judge what may be right or wrong in certain situations without some frame of 
reference. Hence, ethics deals with well-based standards of how individuals or professionals ought to act. It 
actually does not describe the way they do act, it deals with the way they should act, and it is prescriptive 
(normative), not descriptive (Mintz & Morris, 2008). 
 
In accounting ethics is primarily a field of applied ethics which prescribe behaviours set forth in accordance 
with accounting principles, which is regarded as the underpinning for all other standards of professional 
conducts and performance (Turpen & Witmer, 1997). Ethical standards and behaviours in accounting can 
be expressed as performing the accounting duties in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) such as reliability, accuracy, objectivity and transparency (Karaibrahimogluet al., 2009). 
These standards of conduct are heavily influenced by the professionôs specifications, national laws and the 
expectations of the society (Mintz & Morris, 2008). 
 
In the literature, Kohlbergôs cognitive reasoning and moral development theory has been widely applied in 
understanding ethical principles and behaviours among accounting professionals (Ogunleye, 2015; Musbah 
et al., 2016; Karaibrahimoglu et al., 2009). Kohlberg proposes, as a reformulation of Piagetôs progression 
from heteronomy to autonomy, a developmental model in six stages with three levels (Barron, 2015; 
Schepers, 2017). This theory assumes six stages of moral reasoning, which an individual can only pass to 
the next stage based on the developments of his/her belief systems (Kohlberg, 1973; Weber, 1991). The 
first of which is obedience to rules motivated by avoidance of punishment and the second, obedience 
influenced by rewards (personal benefits). Generally, these stages (stages 1 and 2) make up the pre-
conventional level of morality. At this level of morality, Kohlberg argued that an individual responds to 
thoughts of órightô or ówrong,ô especially when expressed in terms of consequences of action (punishment, 
rewards, exchange of favours), or in terms of imposition of physical power by those enunciating the rules 
(Kohlberg, 1973; Mintz & Morris, 2008; Musbah, 2010; Weber, 1991; Schepers, 2017).  
The third and fourth stages, of Kohlbergô theory, consist of obedience influenced by fairness to others and 
by law and order (Kolhberg, 1973; Mintz & Morris, 2008). At this level of morality, Kohlberg believed an 
individual would act ethical with a sense of responsibility to maintain the expectations of others, and not 
necessarily for fear of punishment or envisaged rewards. The individual thinks he should be fair to others, 
especially those in his/her group (family, peers, colleagues, etc.), and that he/she owes the society the 
obligation to be ethical as a generalized member of society (Weber, 1991). 
 
In the fifth and sixth stages, the basic understanding of the fundamental rights to liberty and life, the 
principle of human rights and the recognition of the universal principle of rules and regulation characterized 
individualsô moral development (Kohlberg, 1973; Schepers, 2017). These stages (stages 5 and 6) make up 
the post-conventional morality level. At stage five, Kohlberg believed right action is defined in terms of 
general individual rights and in terms of standards, which have been critically examined and agreed upon 
by the whole society (Weber, 1991). Individuals will act ethical, because to do so, would benefits society 
more. Unlike the rigidity of maintaining the laws in stage four, stage five emphasizes flexibility in the law in 
terms of rational considerations of social utility (óutilitarianismô) (Weber, 1991; Kohlberg, 1973). At stage six, 
the laws are valid only if they are grounded in justice, and a commitment to justice carries with it an 
obligation to disobey unjust laws. Here, ethicality is defined by the decision of conscience in accord with 
self-chosen ethical principles appealing to logical comprehensiveness, universality, and consistency 
(Barron, 2015; Mintz & Morris, 2008). 
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Generally, accountants perform their work in many different areas and sectors of human endeavours, which 
involve serious ethical concerns. Likewise, various opportunities exist in their work to engage in unethical 
behaviour (Mele`, 2005). Hence, as a profession, there are specified guidelines and codes of conduct that 
guide accountants on how to conduct themselves in the discharge of their duties as public interest 
protectors. Bakre (2007) noted that in some quarters, there are claims that the foundation of the operating 
activities of the accounting profession are the central elements of ideologies such as the prescription that 
the occupation will encourage and maintain high professional standards, ethical conduct, moral integrity 
and hence give impartial service to the public. On account of the indispensable roles accounting play in 
human endeavours and in the global economy, scholars have sought to understand, from different 
dimensions, what would make highly skilled professionals, well remunerated, charged with the 
responsibility of protecting the interests of the public in financial matters, behaviour contrary to professional 
standards.  
 
Hitherto, Psychologists believed there are intrinsic factors that may contribute in moulding and shaping 
individuals cognitive reasoning and ethical values. Accounting scholars also believed these factors 
influence, motivate and compel accountants to behave ethical when faced with situations or decisions that 
may be unclear or ambiguous on what the ethical stance should be (Dellaportas, 2006). Mintz & Morris 
(2008) argued that an individual may know what is ethical and have the desire to act ethical, but may be 
influenced by pressures, internally and externally, to act otherwise. Kohlberg believed an individualôs ability 
to make ethical judgement develops in stages and is affected by certain factors, which are both internal and 
external to the individual (Kolhberg, 1973). In the literature there is yet to be a consensual persuasion on 
the factors influencing the ethical values and behaviours of accounting professionals. It is still a contentious 
discourse among academics on the way ethical values are acquired. Some of the factors that have been 
found to influence the moral development of individuals include perception, experiences, environment, 
family, personality and education (Nathan, 2015; Karaibrahimoglu et al., 2009; Musbah et al., 2016; 
Marques & Azevedo-Pereira, 2009).  
 
This paper therefore examines accountantsô perception of some of the factors that may influence auditorsô 
ethical behaviour. It assesses the extent to which stakeholders perceive certain intrinsic factors to influence 
auditorsô ethical behaviours. Generally, these factors are grouped into two broad categories, namely: 
personal and external factors (Mintz & Morris, 2008). 
 
Personal Factors and Ethical Behaviour 
In literature, some of the personal factors that have been found to influence individualsô cognitive 
reasoning, moral development, ethical behaviour and decision making include age, gender, upbringing, 
personal values, fear of punishment, conscience and religion (Musbah et al., 2016; Kohlberg, 1973). The 
study of Marques & Azevedo-Pereira (2009) examined the ethical ideology and ethical judgments in the 
Portuguese accounting profession. Their findings suggest that age and gender significantly determine the 
ethical judgment and values of accounting professionals in Portuguese. They further reported that ethical 
judgment did not differ significantly based on ethical ideologies (personal moral philosophy ï ópersonal 
valuesô) among the respondents. Kurpis, Beqiri & Helgeson (2008) investigated the effects of commitment 
to moral self-improvement and religiosity on ethics of business students. The study found religion and 
commitment to moral self-improvement to be significant predictors of perceived importance of ethics, 
ethical problem recognition, and ethical behavioural intentions among the students. Although, the findings 
of Rawwas, Swaidan and Al-Khatib (2006) suggest that religion has less influence on ethical behaviour; 
however, the reason for this outcome was based on the special characteristics of the Japanese culture. 
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Among the religious respondents group, age and gender were found to be possible predictors of ethical 
behaviours compared to the secular respondents group (Rawwas, Swaidan & Al-Khatib, 2006).  
 
From the study of Ogunleye (2015), it was reported that various situational and demographic factors 
significantly influence the ethical perception and predisposition of Nigerian accountants. The study found 
that age, gender, culture and religiosity significantly influence the ethical perception and predisposition of 
accountants. Female accountants were found to be more ethically disposed than their male counterparts. In 
Musbah et al. (2016), the role of individual and organizational variables and moral intensity dimensions in 
Libyan management accountantsô ethical decision making were examined. From their findings, a slight 
significant relationship was reported between age, gender, educational level and personal moral philosophy 
(personal values) and ethical decision making. Contrasting Ogunleye (2015) on gender influence on ethical 
decision-making, Musbah et al. (2016) found male accountants to display more ethical traits than their 
female counterparts.  
 
Nathan (2015) on the other hand, akin to Ogunleye (2015), found that the ethical standards of female 
participants were less affected by societal influences than that of their male counterparts. Evidence from 
the study of Tilley (2010) signals gender differences in ethical decision-making, noting that both genders 
change their behaviour to select more ethical options when a kinship factor is involved. Generally, the 
results and evidences on gender differences and individual ethical behaviour have been mixed (Becker & 
Ulstad, 2007; Valentine et al., 2009; Valentine &Rittenburg, 2007).The study of Becker and Ulstad (2007) 
suggested that biological gender has been found to have an impact on ethical behaviour, of which the 
female gender demonstrates to be more ethical than the male. Buckley, Wiese & Harvey (as cited in 
Becker & Ulstad, 2007, p. 88) argued that social conditioning may lead males toward unethical action more 
often than females, especially when they feel the end justifies the means. This therefore, supports the 
debate of gender socialization theory, which holds that men and women bring different ethical standards 
and values to the work environment (Dawson, 1995).  
 
In reality, men and women differ considerably in moral reasoning processes, irrespective of whatever 
decisions they may make in given circumstances (Dawson, 1995; Tilley, 2010). Valentine and Rittenburg 
(2007) and Valentine et al. (2009) affirmed that, on the average, women are more ethical than men. 
Hitherto, there is no consensus on gender influence on ethical reasoning and behaviour. From the findings 
of Bobek, Hageman and Radtke (2015), professional role, decision context, gender influence and moral 
intensity significantly related to malesô decision making, than females.  
 
Affiliated to the influence of conscience in ethical reasoning, behaviour and decision making, Thilly (1900) 
noted that certain feelings and impulses surround the idea of a deed and lead individuals to make 
judgments. These feelings and impulses are the products of the inner voice,or inward eye (conscience), as 
sometimes referred. Thilly (1900) argued that conscience is not an independent or separate faculty as 
common sense would hold, but a complexof psychical states, and that the characteristic emotional and 
impulsive elements peculiar to it are the feelings of approval (or disapproval) and the feelings of obligation. 
It judges and it is cognitive or intellectual in personality. Hence, conscience functions (ówarnsô or 
ócondemnsô) both before and after the performance of an act.  
 

Howard (1910), citing  Sainte-Beuve, noted that for a Frenchman, the first consideration is not whether he 
is amused or touched by a work of art or mind. What he seeks above all to learn is, whether he was right in 
being amused and moved by it, and in applauding it. Thus,Howard (1910) stated that: 
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óA Frenchmanhas, to a considerable degree, what one may call a conscience in intellectual 
matters; he has an active belief that there is a right and a wrong in them, that he is bound 
to honour and obey the right, that he is disgraced by cleaving to the wrongô (p. 486). 

  
Undoubtedly, every individual has or professes to have conscience in moral matters. According to Howard 
(1910), the word conscience is narrowed, in popular use, to the moral sphere, because this lively 
susceptibility of feeling is, in the moral sphere, so far more common than in the intellectual sphere. It has 
become a man's inclination to admit a high standard of conduct and a perfect authoritative model in 
correcting his everyday moral behaviours. 

According to Lyons (2009) conscience is an inner voice of special moral illumination or expertise and of 
incontrovertible moral authority, which reveals itself inwardly and unavoidably in consciousness and warns 
us to do good and avoid evil, while condemning us when we fail. To complement Lyons (2009), Hansen 
(2011) suggested that conscience forms the connection between God and man. It is an original principle 
and a messenger from God who, both in nature and in grace, speaks to us behind a veil (1 John 3:20, King 
James Version). At times, conscience may be more related to faith and identity (Cummings, 2009). Eberle 
(2007) noted that obedience to the dictates of conscience is an important moral good when exhibited by the 
citizenry, and it is no less good when exhibited by the inhabitants of other social roles. 
 
This study, akin to these persuasions on the interrelationship between conscience and moral behaviours, 
argues that conscience is the inner voice or inward eye in every individual, which, to a considerable degree, 
influences, motivates, justifies or condemns individualsô conducts. It is a significant personal factor that may 
influence auditorsô ethical reasoning and behaviour. Perhaps, what Kohlberg referred to as universal ethical 
principles in stage six of the theory of moral development, may be linked to an active conscience that ought 
to guide the conducts of every individual irrespective of societal norms or legal laws. As hypothesized by 
Fuss (1964), conscience is the very marrow of the moral life. Embedded in conscience is the complete law 
of nature, which universally confined individuals to appreciate what is good as against the bad. It is the very 
voice of nature (Marks, 2006). 
 
Still on personal factors, óageô (Ogunleye, 2015; Musbah et al., 2016) and ópersonal or individual valuesô 
(Musbah et al., 2016) have been found to be significant determinants of ethical reasoning, decision and 
behaviour. Equally, óreligionô (Ogunleye, 2015) and óupbringingô ï home training (Ilmi, 2011) play significant 
roles in influencing individualsô values and behaviour. In Proverbs 22:6 (King James Version), it says that 
ñtrain up a child in the way he should go: and when he is old, he will not depart from it.ò According to 
anecdotal reports, Arthur Andersen's mother had a significant influence in his moral beliefs and conducts. 
She had schooled him in a Scandinavian axiom ð "Think straight, talk straight". These ethical values, 
learnt from his mother during his growing up days, guided Arthur Andersen into building one of the worldôs 
largest accounting firms before the Enron scandal in 2002 that led to the collapse of the firm (Trevino & 
Blown, 2004).  
 
Overtly, to a considerable degree, the moral perception and disposition of an individual has a link to his/her 
religious beliefs and growing up experience. In educational discourses, it is generally accepted that all 
children are defined as blank slates (ótabula rasaô) that are in need of moral inscription. Both teachers and a 
childôs family members are acknowledged as essential means by which children can be imprinted with right 
moral values and, thus, socialized (Rydstrøm, 2001). Given that the results of the influences of some of the 
personal factors in individualsô cognitive reasoning, values and ethical decision and behaviour are mixed, 
this study hypothesizes that:  
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H1: the perceptions of chartered accountants and non-chartered accountantsô stakeholders groups of the 
personal factors influencing auditorsô ethical behaviours are not significantly different. 

By chartered accountants this study refers to those accountants who are qualified accountants of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria (ICAN); while the non-chartered accountants are those 
without a professional qualification or those with other qualifications different from what is offered by ICAN. 
 

Research Methods 
By way of a cross-sectional survey design, data were collected from stakeholders (chartered and non-
chartered accountants) to examine their perceptions of the personal factors influencing auditorsô ethical 
behaviour in Nigeria.The choice of this design was based upon the fact that it helps to elicit data from the 
studyôs sample objectively in order to make generalization to the population. A sample of 200 accountants 
was surveyed using a structured questionnaire of which 160 (80%) copies were filled and returned. After 
due scrutiny of the returned copies of the questionnaire, 152 (76%) copies were found to be usable for 
analysis. 
Upon the development of the instrument, the initial draft was subjected to content and face validity tests 
with the assistance of two accounting scholars and a professor of research methodology and statistics. 
Their constructive criticism and suggestions aided the final version of the instrument. As earlier mentioned, 
this study is a perceptual study. It samples the opinions and perceptions of two stakeholder groups 
(chartered and non-chartered accountants) on certain factors (personal and external) that influence 
auditorsô ethical behaviour on a 5-point Likert scale of agreement [from (5) óStrongly agreeô to (1) óStrongly 
disagreeô] and scale of influence [from (5) óoverwhelming influenceô to (1) óno influenceô] to evaluate their 
opinions.  Descriptive and inferential statistics were employed in analysing the data collected. 
 
Descriptive statistics was performed to present a summary of the demographic information of the 
respondents and their perceptions of the general ethical climate of the accounting profession in Nigeria. 
Each questionnaire item was analysed using frequenting and cross tabulation analysis. The inferential 
statistics was performed at a 0.05 level of significance on the ordinal data collected. Specifically, Wilcoxon 
rank-sum test and MannïWhitney test were performed to test for difference in the perceptions of the two 
independent stakeholders (chartered and non-chartered accountants) groups on the factors influencing 
auditorsô ethical behaviours. 
 
Data analysis and discussion of results 

Descriptive statistics  
To begin, descriptive analysis was performed to assess the accountantsô demographic composition and 
characteristics. The outcome of this analysis provided a level of assessment of the accountantsô 
understanding and ability to provide valid responses to the questionnaire items without bias.The 
respondents were asked to rate the ethical behaviour of an average accountant in Nigeria on a six-point-
scale measure (6, Excellent to 1, very poor). The results showed that half of the respondents (38, chartered 
and 38, non-chartered accountants = 76) perceive the ethical behaviour of an average Nigerian accountant 
is ósatisfactoryô. However, 43 respondents (24, chartered and 19, non-chartered accountants) consider the 
behaviour as ópoorô, while 29 respondents (16, chartered and 13, non-chartered accountants) perceived the 
behaviour as ógoodô. Also, 2 respondents (1, chartered and 1, non-chartered accountant) perceived the 
behaviour as óexcellentô, while the remaining 2 respondents (1, chartered and 1, non-chartered accountant) 
perceived the behaviour as óvery poorô. Generally, the ethical behaviour of an average accountant in 
Nigeria is still perceived to be satisfactory.  
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Furthermore, the study examined the extent of influence the perceived personal factors have on auditorsô 
ethical behaviours in Nigeria. A Cross tabulation analysis was used to examine respondentsô responses to 
each factor. Table 1 present the results of this analysis.  
 

 
Table 1: Cross tabulation analysis of the perceived influence of personal factors on auditorsô  ethical behaviour 
 

 Influence of religion on ethical behaviour  

Overwhelming 
influence 

  Lot of 
influence 

Some influence Little influence No 
Influence 

 
Total 

Chartered accountant 
Non-chartered accountant 

12 15 36 13 4 80 
9 21 24 13 5 72 

Total 21 36 60 26 9 152 

 µ = 3.22;    ů = 1.075;           Min. 1          Max. 5 

 

Influence of upbringing on ethical behaviour 

Overwhelming 
influence 

  Lot of 
influence 

Some influence Little influence No 
influence 

 
Total 

 Chartered accountant 
Non-chartered accountant 

9 45 21 2 3 80 
12 42 15 2 1 72 

Total 21 87 36 4 4 152 

 µ = 3.77;     ů = .818;          Min. 1          Max. 5 

 

Influence of conscience on ethical behaviour 

Overwhelming 
influence 

  Lot of 
influence 

Some influence Little influence No 
influence 

 
Total 

Chartered accountant 
Non-chartered accountant 

19 37 16 6 2 80 
18 36 12 3 3 72 

Total 37 73 28 9 5 152 

 µ = 3.84 ů = .970;           Min. 1          Max. 5 

 

Influence of gender on ethical behaviour 

Overwhelming 
influence 

  Lot of 
influence 

Some influence Little influence No 
influence 

 
Total 

Chartered accountant 
Non-chartered accountant 

- 3 15 38 24 80 
- 2 15 20 35 72 

Total - 5 30 58 59 152 

 µ = 1.88;     ů = .840;           Min. 1          Max. 4 

 

Influence of age on ethical behaviour 

Overwhelming 
influence 

  Lot of 
influence 

Some influence Little influence No 
influence 

 
Total 

Chartered accountant 
Non-chartered accountant 

1 7 21 32 19 80 
0 4 16 22 30 72 

Total 1 11 37 54 49 152 

 µ = 2.09;     ů = .956           Min. 1          Max. 5 

 

Influence of fear of sanction on ethical behaviour 

Overwhelming 
influence 

  Lot of 
influence 

Some influence Little influence No 
influence 

 
Total 

Stakeholders: Chartered accountant 
                         Non-chartered accountant 

17 39 16 8 - 80 
15 27 25 5 - 72 

                         Total 32 66 41 13 - 152 

 µ = 3.77;     ů = .880;            Min. 1          Max. 5 

 

Influence of personal values on ethical behaviour 

Overwhelming 
influence 

  Lot of 
influence 

Some influence Little influence No 
influence 

 
Total 

Stakeholders: Chartered accountant 
                         Non-chartered accountant 

36 31 10 3 0 80 
32 30 8 1 1 72 
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                         Total 68 61 18 4 1 152 

 µ = 4.26;     ů = .818;            Min. 1          Max. 5 

Source: Field survey, 2016 

The results suggest that both groups of accountants (36 chartered and 24 non-chartered accountants) 
perceived religion as having some influence on auditorsô ethical behaviours. In total, 117 accountants (63 
chartered and 54 non-chartered accountants) perceived religion to have a considerable influence on 
auditorsô ethical behaviours, while 35 respondents (17 chartered and 18 non-chartered accountants) 
perceived religion to have little or no influence on auditorsô ethical behaviour.  
 
On the influence of upbringing on auditorsô ethical behaviours, the results displayed in Table 1 suggest that 
both group of respondents (45 chartered and 42 non-chartered accountants) perceived upbringing to have 
lot of influence on auditorsô ethical behaviours. In total, 144 respondents (75 chartered and 69 non-
chartered accountants) perceived upbringing to have a considerable influence on auditorsô ethical 
behaviours, while only 8 respondents (5 chartered and 3 non-chartered accountants) perceived upbringing 
to have little or no influence on auditorsô ethical behaviour. 
 
With regards to the influence of conscience on auditorsô ethical behaviour, the results suggest that both 
groups of respondents (37 chartered and 36 non-chartered accountants) perceived conscience to have lot 
of influence on auditorsô ethical behaviours. In total, 138 respondents (72 chartered and 66 non-chartered 
accountants) perceived conscience to have a considerable influence on auditorsô ethical behaviours, while 
14 respondents (9 chartered and 5 non-chartered accountants) perceived conscience to have little or no 
influence on auditorsô ethical behaviour. 
 
Concerning the influence of auditorsô gender on their ethical behaviours, the results suggest that both group 
of respondents (24 chartered and 35 non-chartered accountants) perceived gender to have no influence on 
auditorsô ethical behaviours. In total, 35 respondents (18 chartered and 17 non-chartered accountants) 
perceived gender to have some influence on auditorsô ethical behaviour, while 117 respondents (62 
chartered and 55 non-chartered accountants) perceived gender to have little or no influence on auditorsô 
ethical behaviours. 
 
On the influence of auditorsô age on their ethical behaviours, the results suggest that both groups (32 
chartered and 22 non-chartered accountants) perceived auditorsô age to have little influence on their ethical 
behaviours. In total, 103 respondents (51 chartered and 52 non-chartered accountants) perceived auditorsô 
age to have little or no influence on their ethical behaviours, while 49 respondents (29 chartered and 20 
non-chartered accountants) perceived auditorsô age to have some influence on their ethical behaviour. 
 
Regarding the influence of fear of sanction on auditorsô ethical behaviour, the results suggest that both 
groups (39 chartered and 27 non-chartered accountants) perceived that the fear of sanction have lot of 
influence on auditorsô ethical behaviours. In total, 139 respondents (72 chartered and 67 non-chartered 
accountants) perceived the fear of sanction to have considerable influence on auditorsô ethical behaviours, 
while only 13 stakeholders (8 chartered and 5 non-chartered accountants) perceived the fear of sanction to 
have little influence on auditorsô ethical behaviour. 
Finally, with respect to the influence of auditorsô personal values on their ethical behaviours, the results 
suggest that both groups (36 chartered and 32 non-chartered accountants) perceived that auditorsô 
personal values have overwhelming influence on their ethical behaviours. In total, 147 stakeholders (77 
chartered and 70 non-chartered accountants) perceived the personal values of auditors have overwhelming 
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influence on their ethical behaviours, while only 5 stakeholders (3 chartered and 2 non-chartered 
accountants) perceived the personal values of auditors to have little influence on their ethical behaviours. 

Test of Hypothesis 
From the descriptive analysis, it is apparent that accountants (chartered and non-chartered accountants) 
perceived the identified personal and external factors as significant influencers of auditorsô ethical 
behaviours. To make inferences and generalization on the outcome of the descriptive analysis, Wilcoxon 
rank-sum test and MannïWhitney test were performed to test the studyôs hypotheses with the aid of SPSS 
version 21. These tests are the non-parametric equivalent of the independent samples t-test (Field, 2009). 
The results of the tests are shown in Tables 2. Table 2 presents the test statistics for hypothesis one (H1). 
 
Table 2: Personal factors and auditors ethical behaviours 

Test Statisticsa 

 Religion Home 
training 

Conscience Gender Age Fear of 
sanction 

Personal 
values 

Mann-Whitney U 2837 2575 2751 2480 2341 2667 2856 

Wilcoxon W 6077 5815 5991 5108 4969 5295 6096 

Z -.166 -1.261 -.511 -1.577 -2.089 -.834 -.098 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) .868 .207 .609 .115 .037* .404 .922 

a. Grouping variable: Professional status;   * P < .05 

 

From Table 7, with the exception of age (.037 < .05), the p-values for religion (.868 > .05), home training 
(.207 > .05), conscience (.609 > .05), gender (.115 > .05), fear of sanction (.404 > .05) and personal values 
(.922 > .05) suggest no significant difference in the perceptions of chartered and non-chartered 
accountants of the personal factors influencing auditorsô ethical behaviours in Nigeria. That is, there is a 
consensual perception among the stakeholders that these personal factors influence auditorsô ethical 
behaviours. With respect to age, the test outcome suggests that stakeholders perceived differently the 
influence of age on auditorsô ethical behaviours, meaning that, while one accountantsô group (say, 
chartered accountants) perceived age as a significant factor influencing auditorsô ethical behaviours, the 
other stakeholders group (non-chartered accountants) perceived age as not a significant influencer. Hence, 
auditorsô ethical behaviours are perceived to be influenced by factors personal to them.  

Discussion 
The results revealed that the both chartered and non-chartered accountants view fear of sanction, religion, 
upbringing, conscience, gender, and personal values in relatively the same way as influencers of an 
auditorôs ethical behaviour. This consensus in opinion suggests that each of these factors inherently 
defines who an auditor truly is, and hence dictates how he behaves, particularly in the discharge of his 
responsibilities. However the stakeholders perceived differently the extent to which age and gender 
influence auditorsô ethical behaviours. This outcome confirmed the mixed results in ethics literature on the 
influence of gender and age on ethical behaviours. Whereas the study of Ogunleye (2015) and Nathan 
(2015) reported significant relationship between age and gender and ethical decision, the study of Musbah 
et al. (2016) reported a slight significant relationship between these demographic variables and ethical 
decision making. Although, Kohlberg argued that, as individuals grow older, they graduate from one stage 
of morality to another in a Six-stage level of morality, supposing the influence of age on ethical behaviours. 
This result is arguable and an experimental study may be required to validate the accountantsô perception 
on the influence of age and gender on auditorsô ethical behaviours.  
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Conclusions 
Given the findings above, this study concludes that personal factors play a crucial role in determining how 
an auditor behaves in examining the books of clients and expressing an opinion thereon. Hence the fear of 
sanction, religion, upbringing, conscience, gender, and personal values of individuals working with audit 
firms go a long way to determining how those individuals will act on the job, and ultimately influence the 
position of the audit firm as a whole.It is therefore recommended that much emphasis should be placed on 
these personal factors in the lives of the individuals that are to be employed or engaged by audit firms in 
the discharge of their duties to their clients. This should be complemented with continuous training on 
ethics particularly as it has to do with the accounting profession and audit practice.   
 
Like prior business ethics studies, there are some limitations to the methods adopted in this paper. Firstly, it 
simply examined the perceptions of the sampled respondents. Hence, the findings represent the opinions 
and perceptions of the sample drawn from the population, and not their behaviour. However, it is a 
reflection of the population since the samples were drawn randomly.This paper lends its voice to call for 
more research efforts in the area of business and professional ethics in Africa. For hitherto, there is still a 
dearth of empirical evidence on professional and business ethics studies in Africa. In addition, further 
studies should be conducted using more advance methodologies to provide empirical explanation on the 
effect of conscience, upbringing and fear of God on the ethical decisions of accounting professionals. 
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Abstract 
This study focused on audit-related factors and examines whether auditorsô attributes measured by audit 
firm size and audit independence mitigate the tendency of listed conglomerates in Nigeria to delay reporting 
of financial information. Data for the study were obtained from the annual report of the sampled companies 
from 2007 to 2016covering a period of 10 years and the data were analyzed using pooled OLS regression. 
The findings from the study indicates that audit firm size has a negative but insignificant relationship with 
financial reporting timeliness of conglomerates in Nigeria while audit independence has a significantpositive 
relationship with financial reporting timeliness implying that the lower the degree of audit independence the 
longer the reporting period and the higher the degree of audit independence the shorter the reporting 
period. The study therefore recommends thatin order to enhance auditorsô independence, policies should 
be made to mandate auditors to sign and submit their audit report before a specified period (which should 
be below 90 days) after the clientôs financial year-end. 
 
Keywords:Audit attribute, Audit firm size, Audit Independence, Audit report lag, financial report lag 

Introduction  
Financial reporting timeliness is one of the most important objectives of financial reporting. The information 
contained in the financial statement is a key guide for informed decision making.  However, delay in 
financial reporting is inimical to the facilitation of such decision making. Timeliness in Accounting refers to 
the need for accounting information to be presented to the users in time to fulfil their decision making 
needs. Although, timeliness alone will not make informationrelevant, information must be timely to be 
relevant. Therefore, financial information presented timely is generally more relevant to users. 

In Nigeria, as rightly observed by Iyoha (2012), the need for high quality and timely financial information 
has become particularly imperative due to the increasing exposure of Nigerian business organizations to 
international capital markets. Thus, the business organizations are being obliged to satisfy the information 
demands of both local and foreign investors and to provide them with more timely information in annual 
financial reports. Recognizing the importance of timely release of financial information, the Nigerian 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has required a maximum of 90 Daysafter the company 
financial year end from listed companies to release their corporate reports. Despite this regulation, listed 
conglomerates in Nigeria still experience time lags in the release of their financial reports. These listed 
conglomerates had recorded very low performance in recent years and as such the need to determine 
factors influencing the time lag. 

Timeliness is therefore crucial and hence the need to determine factors affecting financial reporting 
timeliness. Owusu-Ansah (2000) posited that timely reporting is a function of audit-related and company-
specific factors. Audit-related factors are those factors that are likely to impede the auditor in carrying out 
the audit assignment and issuing out the audit report timely while company-specific factors are those that 
either enable the management to produce amore timely report or reduce thecost associated with undue 
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delay in reporting. Thus, company-specific factors include company size, profitability, gearing and company 
age. 

This study tries to focus on audit-related factor and relevant studies had been conducted in emerging 
economies on how audit related factors specifically, audit firm size; audit independence; qualified audit 
reports affect financial reporting timeliness. Among these studies are the studies of Soltani (2002); Al-Ajmi 
(2008);Al-Ghanem (2011); My, Hoang and Hong (2015) while in Nigeria, existing studies on reporting 
timeliness focuses on company-specific factors, among these include the studies of  Iyoha (2012); Ibadin, 
Izedonmi and Ibadin (2012); Emeh and Appah (2013); Efobi and Okougbo (2014). It is in this vein that the 
study is motivated and tends to examine whether auditorsô attributes mitigate the tendency of firms to delay 
reporting of financial information thereby adding to existing literaturein Nigeria. 

The objective of this studytherefore, is to assess how audit attributes (audit size and audit independence) 
may mitigate the timeliness of financial reporting of conglomerates in Nigeria. The study is made into five 
sections, the first section gives an introduction on the study, the second part of the paper is areview of 
extant empirical work and hypotheses development, the subsequent part showcase the methodology used 
in analyzing the data collected followed by analysis and discussion of the data. A brief conclusion was 
presented in the last section, stating the findings, as well as recommendations. 
 
Literature Review 
The assumption that larger audit firm tends to provide higher quality audit can also be presume to facilitate 
audit report as also pointed out by Iman, Ahmed and Khan, (2001) that larger audit firms are expected to 
complete audits more quickly than smaller firms because they have more resources in terms of staff and 
experience in auditing listed companies. Several studies have examined whether audit firm size influences 
financial reporting timeliness.  

Ahmed (2003) examined the timeliness of corporate annual reporting in three South Asian countries, 
namely, Bangladesh, India and Pakistan. Base on a large sample of 558 annual reports for the year 1998. 
A multivariate regression analysis indicates that financial year-end date is a significant determinant in each 
country. The size of the audit firm, as measured by the factor loading of audit fees, number of reporting 
entity audited by an audit firm and international linkage, indicates large audit firms take significantly less 
time in India and Pakistan. 

Similarly, My, Hoang and Hong (2015)studied the effect of audit firm and firm performance on the 
timeliness of the financial report:  A case study of Vietnamese Stock Exchange.  The study uses data 
collected from 100 companies with largest market capitalization and high liquidity on Ho Chi Minh City 
Stock Exchange in 2014.The Result showed that the audit firm and firm performance measured by Return 
on Equity (ROE) index positively affect the timeliness of financial report. 

In the same vein, Sakka and Jarbai (2016) examined the relationship between corporate governance, 
external auditorôs characteristics index, and timeliness in light of amendments made to the Financial 
Security law (2005) in Tunisia. The study uses panel data methodology of 28 Tunisia companies listed on 
the Tunisians Stock Exchange over the period 2006 ï 2013. The study indicated that whenever the audited 
report publication date proves to be short the external auditorôs characteristics index is discovered to be 
high.Likewise, Ahmad andKamarudin (2001); Leventis, Weetmanand Caramanis (2005); Che-Ahmad and 
Abidin (2008); and Turel (2010) all reported a positive significant relationship between audit firm size and 
financial reporting timeliness. 
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On the other hand, Al-Ajmi (2008) investigated the timeliness of annual reports of an unbalanced panel of 
231 firms-years of financial and nonfinancial companies listed on the Bahrain Stock Exchange. The study 
revealed that no evidence was found to support the effect of accounting complexity or auditor type (Big 
Four or non-Big Four) on the timelines of annual reports. This is also similar to Carslaw and Kaplan (1991); 
Almossa and Alabbas (2007) where they found no evidence to support the effect of auditor type whether 
the Big four or non-Big four on timeliness. 

Base on the above review, where mixed results can be observed and dearth of literaturein Nigeria, this 
study therefore, hypothesizes no significant relationship exists between audit firm size and financial 
reporting timeliness of conglomerates in Nigeria. 

H1: there is no significant relationship between audit firm size and financial reporting  timeliness of 
conglomerates in Nigeria 
 
Audit Independence and Financial Reporting Timeliness 
The auditor in the conduct of his duty is required to report any breach found in the clientôs financial 
statement, the ability of the auditor to exercise this duty relies heavily on his independence. As pointed out 
by De-Angelo (1981) that the quality of an audit relies on the market assessed joint probability that a given 
auditor will both discover a breach in the clientôs financial statement and report the breach. From this view, 
while the ability to discover a breach has to do with the auditorôs competence, reporting the breach greatly 
relies on the auditorôs independence. This is also consistent with the view of Krishnan (2005) that the 
timeliness of financial reports in reflecting publicly availablebad news about future cash flows than good 
news is moderated by audit independence. Therefore, independent auditors have both the expertise to 
detectlosses and the incentives to persuade their clients to report them in a timely manner 

Several studies had observed that where an auditor exercise his independence by qualifying the clientôs 
financial statement, such qualification is characterised by delays in the publication of financial statement for 
investors decision making. Evidence to this can be traced to early research of Whittred (1980) where the 
study compares the reporting behaviour of companies that received audit qualifications with a random 
sample of companies that received no such qualification and with the reporting behaviour of the same 
companies in the years preceding the qualification. The results indicate that the incidence of a qualified 
audit report delays the release of the preliminary profit report and the final annual accounts. It also appears 
that the more serious the qualification, the greater is the delay. Ashton, Willingham and Elliott 
(1987);Bamber, Bamber andSchoderbek (1993) and Simnett, Aitken, Choo and Firth(1995) also showed 
that reporting delay is significantly longer in thecase of companies that receive qualified audit opinions. 

Soultani (2002) also conducted a study on the timeliness of corporate and audit reports in French context. 
The study was analyzed by examining the trend in reporting delay of companies, the effect that qualified 
reports have on the timeliness of corporate reporting, and the relationship between reporting behaviour and 
types of audit reports over a 10-year period. It was evidenced that qualified audit opinions were released 
later than unqualified opinions and that, in general, the more serious the qualification, the greater the 
delay.From the review of these studies, while the studies do not examine audit independence directly, the 
ability to issue a qualified audit report on a client financial statement is a determinant of audit independence 
as also observed by De-Angelo (1981) that reporting the breach in a clientôs financial statement constitutes 
audit independence.  
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This study further argued that audit reports associated with serious audit opinion are usually delayed as a 
result of management influence to compromise the auditor independence, in supporting this assertion, 
Whittred (1980) stated that as a result of the consequence of audit opinion,management take issues with 
the auditorôs findings and an increase in auditor-client negotiation ensues leading to delayed audit report. 
Additionally, Kinney and McDaniel (1993) described audit delay to correction of previously reported interim 
earnings that lead to increasing year-end audit work and auditor-client negotiations about the best 
disclosure action. In this light and aligning with the view of De-Angelo (1981) that the ability to report a 
breach in the client financial statement relies on auditorôs independence, audit lag can therefore, be 
considered as a measure of audit independence. This study opines that audit independence can be 
measured as the ratio of audit report lag and the average audit reporting lag in an industry. The longer the 
audit report lag, the lower the degree of the auditorôs independence, and the shorter the audit report lag, 
the higher the degree of the auditorôs independence. Consequently, Sakka and Jarbai (2016) had indicated 
that whenever the audit report date proves to be short the external auditorôs characteristics index is 
discovered to be high. 

Although, it could be argued that auditing standards requirebefore issuing a qualified opinion, an auditor 
must take all reasonable steps to put himself in a position to issue a confirming opinion which such a 
course of action might be considered as a general time constraint, it is worthy to note as stated by 
(Whittred, 1980)that the standard also states that auditor should not unreasonably defer issuing report in 
the hope of obtaining further evidence to resolve a possible qualification situation, no matter how serious 
the possible qualification might be. Thus, audit report delay remains questionable. 

Therefore, the significance of examining audit independence on reporting timeliness cannot be 
overemphasized as it was evidenced by these research works revealing that there is a significant delay 
associated with serious audit opinions. Furthermore, this association has not been observed by recent 
literatureand it is in this vein that this study hypothesizes no significant relationship between audit 
independence and financial reporting timeliness. 

H2: there is no significant relationship between audit firm size and financial reporting  timeliness of 
conglomerates in Nigeria 
 
Methodology 
This study examined the relationship between audit attributes and financial reporting timeliness of listed 
conglomerate companies in Nigeria for a period of 10 years (2007-2016) with 40 observations. There are 6 
listed conglomerate companies on the Nigerian Stock Exchange as obtained from the Nigerian Stock 
Exchange (NSE) as at 31stDecember, 2016. Out of the 6 companies, four companies are studied. The 
selected companies are those that their annual reports and accounts were obtained for complete 10 years 
period. The companies include; AG Leventis PLC, Chellarams PLC, John Holt PLC and UAC of Nigeria 
PLC.This study utilized documentary firm-level data collected from the annual reports and accounts of the 
sampled firms. Panel data methodology using OLS, and random effect regression methods were used in 
analyzing the data using STATA 13.0.  
 
Model Specification 
In this study, audit attributes are proxied by audit firm size and audit independence; these variables had 
been identified as averitable reflection of audit attribute (De-Angelo, 1981). Financial reporting timeliness 
was measured using similar approach of Soltani, (2002) and Al-Ajmi, (2008) which is the difference of days 
between the financial year end of a company and the date of the annual general meeting. This is preferred 
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because it is a composition of both audit lag and financial reporting lag and itôs the day when the annual 
report is made available to the public. Audit fee is considered as a control variable in the study which is a 
reflection of the incentive that could ensure an effective audit process. 

The equation below represents the model for this study, thus; 

Freptimit = ɓ0i + ɓ1ASizeit + ɓ2AIndit + ɓ3AFeeit + Ůit 

Where; 

Freptim: financial reporting timeliness measured as the financial reporting lag which is the number 
of days between the financial year end of a company and the date of the annual general 
meeting. (Soltani, 2002; Al-Ajmi, 2008) 

ASize: Audit firm size which is measured as a categorical variable where 1 represents the 
engagement of any of the óbig fourô audit firms (Price Waterhouse Coopers PWC, Akintola 
Williams Deloitte, Ernst and Young and KPMG) and 0 otherwise.(Asthana & Boone, 2012; 
Kimeli, 2016) 

AInd:  Audit independence which is measured as the ratio of audit report lag and   
 industry average audit reporting lag 
AFee:  Audit fee measured as the natural logarithm of independent auditor fee disclosed   
 in the clientôs financial statement. (Kimeli, 2016) 
ɓ0i  Intercept of the model 

ɓ1é..3  coefficients of the independent variables, which are expected to reflect thesign  
 and magnitude of the explanatory variables 

it  Individual firm and the period identifiers  
 
Data analysis and discussion of results 
Table 1: Discriptive Statistics Summary 

Variable Obs Mean Std. Dev. Min Max 

Freptim 40 230.85 62.99147 148 351 

ASize 40 .65 .4830459 0 1 

auditlag 40 134.775 62.32894 83 326 

Aind 40 1 .4624666 .6158412 2.418846 

lafees 40 7.279291 .5944222 6.25527 8.90155 

Source: Authors analysis using Stata V.13 

From the descriptive statistics in table 1, the highest financial reporting lag is 351days while the lowest is 
148 days, with an average of 231 days, this is beyond the regulatory requirement of 90 days indicating that 
all the sampled company do not report on timely basis as required by the SEC. audit independence is at 
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highest with 242% above the industry average and 62% lowest below the industry average. Audit 
independence is considered highly effective when it is below 100% of the industry average. 

Post-residual Diagnostic Test (Multicollinearity and Heteroscedasticity) 

Table 2: Multicollinearity 

 FreptimASizeAindlafees VIF 

Freptim 1.0000  

ASize -0.0894         1.0000 1.30 

Aind 0.4477         0.2877            1.0000 1.27 

lafees -0.4229         0.2992            -0.2563           1.0000 1.28 

 Source: Authors analysis using Stata V.13 

The correlation analysis was performed in table 2. It can be observed that audit firm size and audit fee has 
a negative correlation with financial reporting timeliness, this indicates that when a big 4 auditor is engaged, 
there will be a reduction in the time taken to release financial reports likewise when audit fee is high. On the 
other hand, audit independence has a positive correlation with the reporting timeliness, indicating that when 
the audit lag is above the industry average, reflecting lower degree of auditor independence, the reporting 
period tends to be high. 

The variance inflation factor (VIF) for audit firm size, audit independence and audit fees are 1.30, 1.27 and 
1.28 respectively. This indicates that the VIFs are less than 10 respectively.Thus, the study concludes that 
there is no problem of multicollinearity. That multicollinearity exists only when the VIF is greater than 10 
(Samaila, 2014) 

The BreuschPegan/ Cook-Weisberg Test of Heteroskedasticity on the study model gives the Chi2 Prob of 
0.9474, indicating that it is insignificant, hence, the data are homokesdasticity and as such desirable. 

Multivariate Analysis 
In testing the hypotheses for the study, pooled OLS regression, fixed effect and random effect regression 
were conducted and hausman specification test was later conducted to decide between fixed effect and 
random effect. The hausman specification test was not significant and therefore, random effect was 
considered appropriate for the model of the study. Furthermore, Breusch and Pagan Lagrangian multiplier 
test for random effectswere conducted to decide between pooled OLS regression and random effect 
regression. The Breusch and Pagan LM test was not significant and therefore, pooled OLS regression was 
considered more appropriate for interpreting the study model. The result of the pooled OLS regression is 
presented below;  

Table 3: Estimation Results (Pooled OLS Regression) 

Source SS            df         MS                            Number of obs =      40 

          F(  3,    36) =    5.49 
 Model 48575.7969     3      16191.9323             Prob> F      =  0.0033 
Residual 106173.303    36     2949.25842             R-squared     =  0.3139 
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 Adj R-squared =  0.2567 

 Total 154749.1         39     3967.92564             Root MSE      = 54.307 
  
  

Freptim Coef.          Std. Err.              t                     P>|t|          [95% Conf. Interval] 

ASize -16.15967       20.53771         -0.79                  0.437    -57.81207   25.49273 
Aind 56.05015      21.17619          2.65                  0.012      13.10285    98.99745 
lafees -29.71374     16.53604         -1.80                   0.081     -63.25038   3.822904 
_cons  

401.5986     124.8251            3.22                 0.003      148.4415    654.7557 
  

Source: Authors analysis using Stata V.13 

The pooled OLS regression as presented in table 3 provides the estimation result of the model. The F value 
probability of 0.0033 is significant indicating that the model is fit. From the regression, audit firm size and 
audit fee have negative but insignificant relationship with financial reporting timeliness of conglomerates in 
Nigeria. Audit independence has a positive and significant relationship with financial reporting timeliness of 
conglomerates in Nigeria. This implies that the lower degree of audit independence, the longer the 
reporting period and the higher the degree of audit independence the shorter the reporting period. This 
finding is consistent with Sakka and Jarbai (2016) where it was indicated that whenever the audit report 
date proves to be short the external auditorôs characteristics index is discovered to be high and also the 
finding buttress the assertion of Whittred (1980); Kinney and McDaniel (1993). 

This study had therefore, provides an empirical evidence that audit attribute does mitigate the timeliness of 
financial reports of conglomerates in Nigeria, the findings of this study imply that quality audit attributes 
reflected by big 4 audit firms (audit firm size)and a high degree of audit independence do facilitate timely 
financial reports for investorsô decision making. This corroborates the position of De-Angelo (1981) that 
audit quality is the assessed market probability that an auditor will both discover a breach and report the 
breach in the clientôs financial statement. Discovering this breach has to do with competence and reporting 
the breach relies on audit independence. 
 
Conclusions 
This study had examined the relationship between audit attributes and financial reporting timeliness of 
conglomerates in Nigeria. The study proxied audit attributes by audit firm size and audit independence. The 
findings from the study indicates that audit firm size has a negative but insignificant relationship with 
financial reporting timeliness of conglomerates in Nigeria while audit independence has a positive and 
significant relationship with financial reporting timeliness implying that the lower the degree of audit 
independence the longer the reporting period and the higher the degree of audit independence the shorter 
the reporting period. This findingsis consistent with that of Whittred (1980); Kinney and McDaniel 
(1993);Sakka andJarbai (2016)It is therefore recommended that in order to enhance auditorsô 
independence, policies should be made to mandate auditors to sign and submit their audit report before a 
specified period (say 90 days) after the clientôs financial year-end. 
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Abstract 
This study evaluates the determinants of audit fees based on variables that are peculiar to banking industry 
and considered salient to regulators of banking services. It also examines the effect of IFRS adoption on 
audit fee of banks.  Data were sourced from annual reports and accounts of all the fifteen (15) quoted 
deposit money banks for the period covering 2006-2015 and were analysed using descriptive statistics and 
inferential statistics. The result of Hausman specification test favours random-effect over the fixed-effect 
models of panel least square regression.  Findings of the study revealed that capital risk has negative 
influence on audit fees at 10% level of significance while credit risk shows positive influence at 1% level of 
significance. Also, complexity, IFRS adoption and size had significant positive relationship with audit fees at 
1%, 10% and 5% levels of significance respectively. However, management efficiency and profitability 
showed no significant relationship with audit fees. As regards variables considered important to regulators 
of banks, the study concludes that auditors do not seem to consider management efficiency in 
determination of audit fees. The study recommended amongst others that auditors of banks should further 
align the determination of their fees with factors that are considered important to regulatory body; to reduce 
costly litigation associated with audit failure. 

Keywords: Auditors, Audit Fee Pricing, Audit Quality, Deposit Money Banks 

Introduction 
The principal-agent conflict as depicted in agency theory, where principals lack reasons to trust their agents 
because of information asymmetries and differing motives is fundamental to the understanding of the 
development of audit as well as its usefulness and purpose. An agency relationship arises when one or 
more principals (e.g. owners) engage another person as their agent (or steward) to perform a service on 
their behalf. Performance of this service results in delegation of some decision making authority to the 
agent. Auditors are agents of the shareholders whose interests are usually different from those of the 
managers of the company being audited; the more reason information asymmetry is a direct consequence 
of audit. External auditors have two main functions complementing that of reduction in information 
asymmetry; unveiling non compliance with financial reporting regulations, and limit the discretionary 
accounting practices of the managers (Ng, 1978). Furthermore, the need for audit is three folds; to function 
as a monitoring mechanism, to meet the demand for information from investors in order to improve their 
decision-making, and to act as insurance against material misstatements (Ask & Holm, 2013). The global 
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demand for improvement in audit quality mechanism has increased even further with the world being rattled 
with massive economic crises and corporate scandals sparking a plea for stricter control and regulations of 
companies. The Emerging economies are not exceptional from large corporate failures; for instance the 
corporate failures in the Nigerian financial sector in the early 1990s brought auditors into sharp focus and 
caused the public to question the role of accountants and auditors (Akinpelu, Omojola, Ogunseye, &Bada, 
2013).  
 
External audit is an important factor in the corporate governance function, as supervision of performance 
and assurance of accountability in management are important governance function. External audit 
constitutes a significant tool for maintaining good governance levels by creating confidence in the financial 
statements issued for stakeholdersô use, and to enhance the credibility of audited companies. One of the 
main attributes of the auditorôs independence is charging of correct audit fees (i.e. fees that are not too low 
and not too high) for the exercise which is determined ahead of the commencement of the engagement. In 
other words, audit fee is an economic cost of efficient auditors. 
 
In the 1980s and 1990s, large external audit firms have gone through mega-mergers that reduced their 
number from eight ï Big 8 ï to five ï Big 5 (Abidin, Beattie, &Goodacre, 2008). However, with accounting 
scandals in the 2000sï which led to Arthur Andersenôs termination, the last decades have seen the 
consolidation of this sector around the current Big 4. This concentration accentuates the value assigned to 
the accounting information quality. It was revealed in Enron case that the reputation of audit firms has close 
ties with the independent audit conducted by them. Audit has value to the extent that investors, regulators 
and the market believe that the auditor is independent and, as a consequence, he will report significant 
distortions discovered in the audited company, thus reducing expenses due to opportunistic behaviour of 
managers (agency costs) (Watts & Zimmerman,1986). The concentration of the auditing industry reduces 
the options available to audited companies; such concentration, along with accounting scandals and the 
importance of auditing for corporate governance shed light on professional independence issues and the 
determination of external auditorsô fees.  
 

The pricing of audit services has been an interesting topic for audit researchers, and a plenty of audit 
studies were conducted to investigate factors believed to have an influence on audit fees in industrial 
companies. Unlike other industries, banking firms are characterized by the different nature of their 
operation and greater scrutiny from regulatory bodies. Audit fee researchers (Simunic 1980; Fields, Fraser, 
& Wilkins, 2004) suggest that audit fees for every company should be a function of client size, business 
complexities and client business risk. However, the audit fees studies for banking firms have not received 
adequate attention for two key reasons: first, most of the measurement variables for risk and complexities 
used in other industries are not suitable for banks. For instance, leverage and quick/current ratio measures 
used in other industries cannot properly capture the risk and complexities involved with banking firms. 
Secondly, the presence of vigilant regulation cast its effect in the audit service in either of the two ways. On 
one hand, tight regulation of banks may induce auditors to plan their audit in less intensive manner and 
charge lower audit fees (Boo & Sharma, 2008).  

On the other hand, it also places a higher litigation risk on the auditor because both regulators and owners 
may bring court action in case of audit failure (Fields et al., 2004; Boo & Sharma, 2008). As a result of 
these two basic differences in banks operations and operating environment, most audit fee studies exclude 
firms in banking sector (Ireland & Lennox 2002; Gonthier-Besacier&Schatt, 2006; Thinggaard&Kiertzner, 
2008; Caneghem, 2010; &Lawrence,Minutti-Meza, & Zhang, 2011). While few recent studies model bank 
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audit fees in terms of factors that are considered most important to the regulatory bodies and found 
interestingly missed results.  

Auditing of companies in the regulated industries is associated with a higher litigation risk exposure in case 
of audit failures. To avoid such a costly litigation, it is argued that bank auditors should take in to account 
factors that are most important to regulators in their audit fee determination to better align with the interest 
of regulators. It is known that in most countries of the world, be it developing or developed, bank regulators 
use CAMELS (Capital adequacy, Asset quality, Management Efficiency, Earning Quality, Liquidity, and 
Sensitivity to market) for their off-site surveillance mechanism including Nigeria. In the light of this, studies 
on bank audit fee model audit fees around these CAMELS ratios (Fields et al., 2004; Lobo, 
Kanagaretnam&Krishnan, 2010; Ettredge, Fuerherm, & Li,2014). Whether auditors in Nigeria consider 
these factors still remain an open question. It is against this backdrop that the study examines detrninants 
of audit fees of quoted Nigerian deposit money banks 

Literature Review 
There has been consensus among scholars/ authors, professional bodies and standard setters as to the 
exact definition of auditing. The general definition of an audit is an evaluation of a person, organization, 
system, process, enterprise, project or product. The term is commonly referred to as audit in accounting, 
but similar concepts also exist in project management, quality management, and energy conservation. 
Adeniyi (2010) defined audit as the independent examination of and expression of opinion on the financial 
statements of an enterprise by an appointed auditor in pursuance of that appointment and in compliance 
with any relevant statutory obligation. From the above definitions, it can be deduced that auditing is an 
independent examination by an auditor of the evidence from which financial statements of an organisation 
are prepared. The objective of an audit is to express an opinion on whether the financial statements are 
prepared in all material respects, in accordance with an identified financial reporting framework (sometimes 
referred to as established criteria) (Dandago, 2002). 
 
Zerni (2012) explained audit service as a unique among other professional services for two major reasons. 
First, auditors are hired and paid by the client, but their product is really used by the third-parties (e.g., 
investors), to whom they owe a standard of care. Second, the quality of an audit cannot be directly 
observed prior to contracting and, in general, not even after the audit is conducted. The only observable 
outcome of the audit process is the issued audit report, which, at least in its standard form, does not 
contain much information about the state of independence and audit quality. 
 
Needless to say, the opinion of an auditor must be an independent opinion given by a professional person 
with appropriate skills in audit work, and the opinion must not be influenced by anyone else, and in 
particular must not be influenced by the opinions and views of the management of the company whose 
financial statements have been audited. In order that an audit report is of value, auditors must have 
óindependence of mindô and be óindependent in appearanceô. These principles of both being and being seen 
to be independent are at the centre of the role played by independence in auditing. Independence of the 
auditor is a matter of public confidence in the audit process. Auditors need to be fully aware of situations 
that may damage their independence and objectivity. Such situations are referred to as threats to auditorôs 
independence. Any threat to independence may be reduced through safeguards provided in the code of 
ethics issued by accounting profession regulatory bodies (ICAN, 2014). 
 
Several factors have been identified in literature which may influence auditorós independence such as lack 
of stricter regulations, the nature of the auditor-client relationship, extended audit tenure, the provision of 
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non-audit services and competitive pressures leading to lowballing /price cutting. In addition to the audit 
service, audit firms provide various non audit services such as tax consultancy, system consultancy, 
management advice, international business advice, human resource management, and financial and 
investment consultancies. The collapse of the giant US corporations in the year 2002 (Enron, WorldCom 
and Global Crossing) marked a black spot on the auditing profession as a whole. Arthur Anderson, the 
auditor of these collapsed companies was highly criticized for over relying on non-audit fees and 
compromising independence.  Economic dependence (proportion of non audit service fees to total audit 
fees) of external auditors has received researchers attention. It is argued that provision of non-audit 
services by incumbent auditors impair auditor independence. First, non-audit service fees make auditors to 
be financially dependent on their client, and as a result weaken their ability to resist management pressure 
for fear of losing their business.  
 
Secondly, the consultancy nature of non-audit services puts auditors in a compromising position which 
potentially threaten their independence about the transactions they audit. In addition, Positive abnormal 
audit fees or the presence of positive client specific quasi rent creates an incentive for the auditor to 
compromise independence with respect to a specific client (Defond, Raghunandan, & Subramanyam, 2002; 
Choi, Kim, Liu &Simunic, 2008). Although, a counter theoretical argument also suggests that auditors have 
market-based institutional incentives to act independently. The expected costs of sacrificed independence 
include the reputation loss and litigation costs associated with audit failures (Defond et al., 2002).  

DeAngelo (1981) defined audit quality as the market-assessed joint probability that an auditor will discover 
an error in the client's account and report the error to the third parties. She also mentioned that the 
probability that a given auditor will discover a breach depends on the auditor's technological capabilities, 
the audit procedures employed on a given audit, the extent of sampling, etc. Furthermore, the conditional 
probability of reporting a discovered breach is a measure of an auditor's independence from a given client. 
Several researchers investigated the factors which affect audit quality. Size and independence related 
issues (i.e. the proportion of audit fees received from a particular client, auditor tenure, the provision of non-
audit services and other audit client relationships) are given emphasis as determinants of audit quality. 
Huang (2006) reported that non-audit consultancy business began to rapidly develop during the end of the 
1990s. It has been argued that non-audit fees have a higher profit margin than audit services by the US 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) annual report of 2000.  

Consultancy services such as large-scale, big-fee financial information systems design, and 
implementation of information technology projects have been reported as providing more than a third of the 
revenues of the then Big Five accounting firms (Riesenberg, 2002). The new Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (PCAOB) established by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and other various groups have 
asserted that auditorôs independence can be impaired when non-audit services are provided; considering 
the fact that high non-audit fees could lead to auditors compromising their independence to retain clients 
when they are performing auditing (Reynolds & Francis, 2000; & The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 2002). 
Moreover, the PCAOB has to date banned certain non-audit services in the US. However, it has been 
argued that total prohibition of non-audit services for audit clients would, over time, reduce accounting firms 
overall technical competence and expertise, and undermine audit effectiveness. For instance, auditing the 
accuracy of a companyôs tax provision properly requires having skilled tax experts (Riesenberg, 2002). In 
this vein, the existence of such value-added services is reasonable and it is impossible to completely stop 
auditors from providing non-audit services; as the spill-over effect of expert knowledge inevitably adds new 
value to auditing services, and then differentiates auditors in their ability to provide these additional 
services.  
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In the Nigeria context, ICAN code of ethics provide guidance on provision of non-audit services. The Code 
recognises the value to both client and auditor of the provision of non-audit services, but requires the 
auditor to evaluate the significance of any threat to independence created by the provision of such services. 
In some cases, it may be possible to eliminate or reduce the threat by applying safeguards. However, ICAN 
considers that safeguards are not possible for activities such as authorising or executing a transaction, or 
otherwise exercising authority on behalf of the assurance client, or having the authority to do so; 
determining which recommendation of the firm should be implemented; reporting, in a management role, to 
those charged with governance. All these activities involve the auditor or audit firm in assuming a 
management role. ICAN considers several specific areas of non-audit service provision. Most of these 
activities are considered permissible, provided that; management decisions are not taken, andappropriate 
safeguards are put in place. Some of these areas include taxation services, internal audit services, and IT 
systems services. 
 
Choi et al. (2008) speculated that when the auditor receives abnormally high audit fees from a client (i.e., 
abnormal audit fees are Positive), the auditor possibly allows the client to engage in opportunistic 
behaviours like earnings management. He further reasoned that for clients with positive abnormal fees, the 
benefits to the auditor from agreeing to client pressure for opportunistic earnings management can 
outweigh the associated costs (e.g., increased litigation risk, loss of reputation). For those firms whose 
earnings increase has been gained through doubtable accounting practices are likely to pay higher audit 
fee to persuade their auditors to certify those earnings as correct, and give it a better audit opinion than the 
facts merit (Xie, Cai, & Ye, 2010). 

The demand for audit quality is also differ relative to the strength of corporate governance. A more 
independent board of directors could prevent earnings manipulation in the first place and hiring an auditor 
with high quality may also protect the auditor from being fired by managers when he reports a breach or 
material misstatement (Chung &Kallapur, 2003; Ireland & Lennox, 2002). Hermalin and Weisbach (2003) 
argued that effective board monitoring was more likely when insiders have less influence on the board. In 
addition, audit committees are also regarded as an important group, since they are responsible for 
determining audit fees and independence arrangements. However, the effectiveness of the audit 
committees is mostly guaranteed and noticed when positions of the CEO and the chairman are separated 
and headed by two independent individuals (Gregory & Collier, 1999). 
 

Arrunada (2000) explained two important attributes of audit quality; professional judgement and the impact 
of independence on the third party and other clients. Professional judgement is a crucial attribute of audit 
quality because it substantially enhances the informational value of auditing for the third party. However, if 
there is lack of independence, auditors may decide not to make efforts to discover problems they do not 
wish to report on. As a result, they may come to light in decisions that reduce effective technical 
competence. Therefore, the content of audit quality, competence and independence are interrelated.  In 
other words, auditors have to exercise their professional judgement independently (Huang, 2006). 

Gonthier-Besacier and Schatt (2006) examined factors influencing audit fees in France. They attempted to 
elucidate the amount spent on audit fees in 2002 in a sample of 127 French (nonfinancial) firms. The main 
finding was that audit fees depend on firm size, firm risk, and the presence of two of the big four firms. 
According to them, when two big four firms audit company accounts, the fees charged (adjusted for 
company size) are significantly lower in comparison with those paid in the other cases, and that the results 
appeared not to have been influenced by the share of fees paid by the companies to the main auditor. Al-
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Harshani (2008) investigated factors influencing the amount of external audit fees in Kuwait.The results 
indicated that the amount of audit fees was significantly influenced by the audit client size, liquidity ratio, 
and profitability ratio. The results, however, did not provide evidence of a significant relation between audit 
fees and the number of audit locations, or the size of the audit firm. 
 
Hassan and Naser (2013) examined factors influencing audit fees paid by non-financial companies listed 
on Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange (ADX). Data were collected from the 2011 annual and corporate 
governance reports published by the Emirati non-financial companies listed on ADX. Backward regression 
analysis was employed to assess the association between audit fees and certain companyôs attributes. The 
findings showed a direct relationship between audit fees and each of corporate size, business complexity 
and audit report lag variables. An inverse relationship between audit fees and each of industry type and 
audit committee independence was found. The findings also revealed that audit fees are not significantly 
influenced by companyôs profitability, risk, and status of audit firm. 
 
Akinpeluet al. (2013) investigated the determinants of audit fees in commercial banks in Nigeria. Data were 
collected from a sample of banks mostly quoted on Nigerian Stock Exchange. The result showed that bank 
size, degree of bank complexity and transaction and saving accounts to total deposit ratio were positively 
related and statistically significant to audit fees charged by the auditors. Also, the risk weighted capital 
adequacy ratio was negatively related and statistically insignificant to audit fees while non-performing loan 
was statistically insignificant. 
 
Younas, Velte, and Ashfaq (2014) investigated the firm-level factors effect on the audit pricing in China and 
Pakistan. The study used the panel data of 160 firms of each country of study for the period from 2005 to 
2011. They first run the combined model for two countries and observed that complexity of business 
transaction is the only variable contributing positively and significantly in audit pricing for both countries. 
Then, for comparative review, they then segregated the data of each country and run separate model. The 
results of separate models showed that, in the case of Pakistan, auditors mainly consider complexity of 
business transactions and client risk while pricing their engagement as an auditor. However, in the case of 
China, the auditors only considered the Big 4 audit firm effect as a reputational tool while pricing their audit 
activity. The study further added that auditors in China totally ignore the client risk and complexity of 
business transactions which may be problematic for their auditing firm in future. The study concluded that 
audit pricing in Pakistan is more rational in comparison to China. 
 
Tamrat (2014) investigated the determinants of audit fees based on variables that are unique to the 
banking firms and considered important by regulators in a sample of Ethiopian commercial banks. The 
study also examined whether abnormally higher audit fees reduce the audit quality. A panel data for eight 
commercial banks from the year 2004-2012 was used. The panel fixed effect regression result revealed 
that bank size, liquidity, efficiency, loan growth, capital adequacy and auditor size are the main 
determinants of audit fees for the Ethiopian commercial banks. With regard to the factors considered 
important by the regulatory bank, auditors do not seem to consider credit risk in the determination of audit 
fees. In relation to the audit quality, the study failed to find any significant relationship between the extent of 
earning management through loan loss provision and abnormal audit fees. The study therefore concluded 
that auditors do not seem to compromise audit quality for the sake of securing abnormally higher audit fees.  
 

Kikhia (2015) examined the factors influencing the level of external audit fees paid by firms to their auditors 
in Jordan. Specific attention was on the investigation of the potential influence of auditee size, complexity of 
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client, profitability, client risk, auditor size and auditor tenure on audit fees. The study strongly reinforced 
that greatest of prior studies results were also appropriate and applicable to the Jordanian audit market. 
Moreover, the study provided further evidence connecting variables such as the auditor tenure effects and 
auditee risk which have been found to have an inconclusive relationship with the amount of external audit 
fees in prior studies. However, they observed the auditee size seemed to have been the key determinant of 
external audit fees. Lastly, financial risk was found to be negatively and significantly associated with the 
level of external audit fees. On other side, empirical results found that the audit tenure has no significant 
relationship with audit fees.  

Castro, Peleias and Silva (2015) analysed the determinants of audit fees paid by companies listed on the 
BM&F BOVESPA, Brazil. They found a positive relationship between fees and the variables; size, clientôs 
complexity, and Big N auditors. The risk perceived by the auditor demonstrated to affect the values of fees 
differently in larger and smaller clients. In smaller clients, the results suggested that the auditor charges 
lower fees to more leveraged and riskier clients, contrary to the hypothesis that the auditor might charge 
higher fees as a reward for his risk. In turn, in larger clients, the results demonstrated that clients with 
higher risk, as measured by liquidity and leverage, or those having stronger governance practices, tended 
to spend more on auditing. As for changing the auditor, the results revealed that larger clients paid less in 
the first year of audit. 
Ahmed and Abdullah (2016) examined factors influencing the determinants of audit fees in the Kurdistan 
region/ Iraq. Specifically, the study investigated the significance of three major groups of factors which 
might considerably influence audit fees; audited firm attributes, auditor attributes, and market attributes.  
They developed a plausible proxy that can be beneficial in practical work.  Furthermore, research 
questionnaire was distributed among experienced auditors, accountants and financial officers of client 
firms, and academics in the field. The results showed that all three proposed categories of factors are 
significant and might be taken in consideration when audit fees are determined. 
 
Sonu (2017) how the downward pressure on audit fees influences the determinants of audit fees during 
crisis using Korean data for the period 2005-2010. The study revealed that; first, consistent with prior 
studies, audit fees dropped significantly during the financial crisis period, supporting the existence of 
downward pressure on audit fees. Second, among the determinants of audit fees, the coefficients of firm 
size decreased significantly while those of firm risk increased during crisis. Accordingly, the findings 
suggest that auditors respond differently to small firms and risky firms when facing downward pressure on 
audit fees. Collectively, the results provide useful insights into how auditors behave when they are under 
pressure to reduce audit fees. 

Theoretical Review 
The theory of inspired confidence otherwise known as theory of rational expectation, developed by the 
Dutch Professor Theodore Limperg can be used to explain both the demand and the supply of audit 
services (Hayes, Dassen, Schilder, &Wallage, 2005). The demand for audit services is the direct 
consequence of the participation of third parties (interested parties of a company) in the company. These 
parties demand accountability from the management, in return for their investments in the company. 
Accountability is realized through the issuance of periodic financial reports. However, since this information 
provided by the management may be biased, and outside parties have no direct means of monitoring, an 
audit is required to assure the reliability of this information. With regard to the supply of audit assurance, 
the theory states that auditorsô report derives its added value (confidence) from expert work on which the 
audit opinion is to be founded. The auditor in performing his task should be governed by rational 
expectations of the several of users of his report. Wallage and Drie±nhauizen (1995) suggest that, ñthe 
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auditor should act in such a way that he does not disappoint these expectations (usersô expectation). 
However, he should not arouse greater expectations in his report than his examinations justifyò. Saleh 
(2011) argues that with the aid of audit technology, the auditor should do everything to meet reasonable 
public expectations. The public in this context does not preclude the uses to which observers, supervisors 
and regulators may want to put the audit report.  
 
The Official Supervision Theory 
Threats to independence and profit maximisation race by audit firms that may have imprisoned the 
trustworthiness of the auditors may dash sceptic view at their ability to maintain the public expectations of 
protecting the investorsô/depositorsô funds and the general public. The introduction of the complementary 
role of banksô regulators is to ensure probity in the management of depositorsô funds. Hence, the official 
supervision theory as developed by Beck, Demirguc-Kunt, and Levine (2004), theoretically argues that 
governments have both the expertise and the incentives to ameliorate market imperfections, information, 
and enforcement to improve governance of banks. This extends the position of rational expectations theory 
beyond the spheres of public expectations. The responsibility of any government is to avoid public outcry 
and other negative impacts that may succeed incessant bank failures. The official supervision theory 
theoretically justifies further that government is sensitive about market failure, seismic risk and consumer 
dissatisfactions that may emanate from bank failure and is constantly unleashing its political brainpower in 
terms of regulatory institutions to prevent the ugly occurrence (Salami, Uthman, & Abdul-Baki, 2014). It 
therefore reasonably implies that the official regulation of banks shares common goals with external audits 
in the need to ensure healthy banking services. Considering the common goal of the duo, the protection of 
the depositorsô fund and the general public become necessary as this study examines whether auditors of 
banks consider factors that are important to regulators by evaluating audit fees determinants in the 
subsector. This theory is therefore adopted for the study  
 
Methodology 
The study adopted an ex post facto research design, since it examined an already occurred phenomenon. 
The study population consists of the listed deposit money banks on the Nigerian Stock Exchange and was 
all included in the study. Secondary data from annual reports and accounts of banks for the 2006-2015 was 
used. As for the method of data analysis, the inferential statistical methodlike Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) 
was to check the independent variables for possible multicollinearity. Hausman test was also conducted to 
make a choice between the Fixed and Random Effects Model (FEM; REM) of Panel Least Square 
regression 

Model Specification 
 The study builds on audit fee model of Soyemi and Olowoookere (2013) which was modified thus; 

  AFEE = ä (CAR, COMP, NPLR,EFFI, IFRS, SIZE, and ROE)ééééééééé (i) 

LOGFEEit= ɓ0 + ɓ1CARit + ɓ2COMPit + ɓ3NPLRit + ɓ4EFFIit + ɓ5IFRSit+ ɓ6LOGASSETit + 
ɓ7ROEit+ it................................................. (ii) 
Where: 
LOGFEE = Natural log of audit fee 
CAR = Capital Risk  
COMP = Complexity  
NPLR = Non performing loan ratio 
EFFI = Management efficiency 
IFRS = Compliance with IFRS 
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LOGASSET = Natural log of total assets of the auditee 
ROE = Return on Equity 

it = Component error term given as µi + Vit  
ɓ0 = Intercept 
ɓ1, ɓ2 ....... ɓ7 = Parameters being investigated 
The subscripts i and t refer to the cross-dimension and time series dimension of the model respectively, 
explaining the panel nature of the model 

Measurement of Variable 
Table 3.1: Measurement of Study Variables 

Variable Definition Measurement  Expected 
Sign 

Dependent   

LOGFEE (Audit Fee) Natural log of Banks annual Audit Fee  

Independent   

CAR(Capital Risk) Weighted Capital Adequacy ratio -/+ 

COMP (Complexity) Demand deposit/Total deposit + 

NPLR (Credit risk) Non-performing loan/Total Loan  + 

EFFI (Mgt. Efficiency) Total operating expense/ Total revenue - 

IFRS (Compliance with 
IFRS) 

Dummy Variable, 1 if adopted and 0 if otherwise + 

Control   

LOGASSET Natural log of total asset + 

ROE (Profitability) Profits attributable to owners/ ownersô equity + 

 Source: Generated by the Researcher from Previous Studies (Fieldset al., 2004;Soyemi&Olowookere, 
2013;Akinpeluet al., 2013; &Tamrat, 2014). 

Data analysis and discussion of results 

Presentation of PreliminaryTest Statistics 
Table 4.1: Variance Inflation Factor 

Variable VIF 1/VIF 

LOGASSET 1.47 0.679755 

IFRS 1.34 0.746911 

NPLR 1.21 0.826879 

ROE 1.09 0.920290 

COMP 1.06 0.944241 

EFFI 1.02 0.983985 

Mean VIF 1.20  

 Source: Authorôs Computation, 2018 

Table 4.1 brings out in clearer terms the extent to which the standard error of regression coefficients may 
be inflated due to relationship between the predictor variables. In other words, the variance inflation factors 
were conducted to measure the degree of correlation between one independent variable and another. As a 
rule of thumb (Kennedy 1992; Hair, Anderson, Tatham& Black, 1995; &Rogerson, 2001), a VIF in excess of 
5 calls for further investigation whereas a VIF of at least 10 is suggestive of severe degree of collinearity 
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between the predictors of interest which requires correction. A VIF of exactly 1 implies that there is absence 
of correlation. As can be seen from the table, the VIFs were slightly greater than1 meaning that there is low 
relationship between the predictor variables. This is supported by tolerance levels (TOLs) which is the 
inverse of VIFs, the results being significantly higher than the common threshold of 0.20. Hence, there is no 
tendency that the standard errors of the regression coefficients would have been erroneously inflated.   
 

Table 4.3 Hausman Test 
Correlated Random Effects - Hausman Test  
Equation: Untitled   
Test cross-section random effects  

     
     

Test Summary 
Chi-Sq. 
Statistic Chi-Sq. d.f. Prob.  

     
     Cross-section random 10.781954 7 0.1484 
     
     Source: Authorôs computation, 2018 

The results of Hausman test conducted to make a choice between Fixed and Random Effects Model 
estimates were also presented. As shown in the table, since the calculated p-value is higher than the 
significance level of 5%, we are not inclined to reject the null hypothesis that the differences between the 
estimated parameters yielded by the two estimation techniques are not systematic. As a result, Random 
Effects model produces better results for the model and is therefore adopted for this study. 

 Random Effects Model Estimation Results and Testing of Hypotheses 
Table 4.4: Determinants of Audit Fees of Nigerian Deposit money Banks 

Dependent Variable: LOGFEE   

Method: Panel EGLS (Cross-section random effects) 

Date: 08/02/18   Time: 18:06   

Sample: 2007 2016   

Periods included: 10   

Cross-sections included: 15   

Total panel (balanced) observations: 150  

 
     
     Variable Coefficient Std. Error t-Statistic Prob.   
     
     C 2.678573 1.779844 1.504948 0.1346 

CAR -0.012786 0.006726 -1.900981 0.0593 

COMP 0.010496 0.002249 4.666963 0.0000 

EFFI -0.000570 0.003203 -0.177969 0.8590 

IFRS 0.259207 0.137402 1.886484 0.0613 

NPLR 0.020147 0.003278 6.146126 0.0000 

LOGASSET 0.451989 0.152703 2.959928 0.0036 

ROE 0.000356 0.001513 0.235047 0.8145 

R-squared 0.736893     Mean dependent var 8.054779 

Adjusted R-squared 0.715332     S.D. dependent var 0.737325 
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Source: Authorôs Computation, 2018 

Table 4.4gives a comparison of the Fixed and Random Effects estimates.  

Random Effects model results were used to evaluate the factors determining external audit fees in 
quotedNigerian deposit money banks. The results in Table 4.3 showed that   audit fee (LOGFEE) has a 
negative relationship with capital risk (CAR). This means that audit fee decreases withcapital risk. The 
significance of this negative effect is established by t-statistic of -1.901. As a result, the null hypothesis of 
no significant effect can be rejected at10% level of significance. So in marginal effect terms, increase of 1% 
in capital risk would induce a decrease of 0.013% in audit fee provided that all other factors are held 
constant. 

Conversely, the table depicts that audit fee is positively related to complexity of banks operations (COMP) 
at a significance level of 1%. This implies that null hypothesis of no significant influence of operational 
complexity on external audit fees is rejected due to t-statistic of 4.667. Therefore, audit fee increases with 
the level of complexity in the Nigerian deposit money banks operations. In economic terms, an increase of 
0.0105% in external audit fees is expected if the complexity of banks operations in terms of transaction 
volume increases by 1%,assuming that all other things being equal. 

Similarly, the results indicate a direct relationship between audit fee and adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The significance of this relationship is established by t-statistic of 1.886. Given 
a p-value of 0.0613, the null hypothesis of no significant effect of IFRS adoption on external audit fees can 
be rejected at 10%. Hence, audit fee increases with adoption of IFRS. 

In addition, the table shows that external audit fee is positively correlated with credit risk (NPLR).  The 
significance of this relationship is established by t-statistic of 6.146. So the null hypothesis that external 
audit fee is not significantly affected by credit risk is rejected at 1% level of significance. The marginal effect 
then shows that external audit fee will increase by 0.020% if the credit risk builds up by 1%, supposing all 
other factors remain the same. 
 
Nevertheless, the association between audit fee and total asset is positive and significant; given a t-statistic 
of 2.960. By implication, audit fees would ceteris paribus increase by 0.452% if the total assets appreciate 
by 1%. On the contrary, while audit fee has a negative relationship with management efficiency ratio 
(EFFI), its relationship with return on equity (ROE) is positive but not statistically significant given the t-
statistics of -0.178 and 0.235 respectively. Consequently, the null hypothesis of no significant effect of 
management efficiency on audit fees is hereby accepted. 
 
For the goodness of fit of the model, the R-Squared value of 0.7369 shows that 73.69% of the systematic 
variations in audit fees were explained by variations in the predictor variables of interest. Overall, the joint 
significance of all the variables in the model is brought to light by the F-statistic of 3.775. Based on this, the 
null hypothesis that the predictor variables are not jointly significant can be rejected at 1% level of 
significance. Therefore, it can be concluded that capital risk, complexity of banking operations, 
management efficiency, reporting requirements of IFRS, credit risk, size, and profitability are significant 
factors affecting audit fees in the Nigerian deposit moneybank.   

S.E. of regression 0.693504     Sum squared resid 68.29461 

F-statistic 3.774957     Durbin-Watson stat 1.981277 

Prob(F-statistic) 0.000874    
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Conclusions 
The study revealed that capital risks of banks have a significant negative relationship with audit fees. 
Additionally, complexity of banks operations had a significant relationship with audit fees but on a positive 
direction. Similarly, credit risks of banks showed a significant positive relationship with audit fee while 
efficiency of banks management did not appear significant in affecting audit fees determination. As regards 
IFRS adoption, it revealed a significant positive relationship with audit fees. Finally, banks size also showed 
a significant positive relationship with audit fees while banks profitability exhibited no significant 
relationship. 

From the foregoing conclusions, it is recommended that auditors of banks consider factors which are 
important to regulatory bodies. Although, the study finds that salient factors such as capital and credit risks 
were considered by auditors while determining audit fees, adequate cognisance of banks management 
efficiency which is also important to regulatory bodies was not taken. The better alignment of the regulatorsô 
interest in the course of determining audit fees would help auditors focus on important areas, thereby 
avoiding costly litigation associated with audit failure.  
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Abstract 
The broad objective of this study is to investigate the factors affecting audit delay in Nigerian listed firms. 
The research population consists of all (189) listed firms on the Nigerian Stock Exchange in year 2014. A 
sample of 66 firms was selected for the study using the convenience sampling technique. The penal 
regression analysis is the technique for data analysis. The study finds firm size and profitability as negative 
and statistically significant while women in audit committee are found to be negative but insignificant related 
with audit delay. The study recommends large firm size for the Nigerian listed companies since size 
bestows reputation and increase resources which collectively act to reduce reporting lag. 

Keywords:audit report lag, firm size, audit committee, profitability, audit firm type. 

Introduction 
One reliable resource that can be used for decision making is audited financial statements. The decision 
relevance of accounting information is based on its qualitative characteristics of timeliness. Delayed 
disclosure of an auditorôs opinion on the true and fair view of financial statements prepared by Directors 
increase the uncertainty in an investment decision (Standish, 1975). Consequently, this may adversely 
affect investors confidence in the capital market as experience shows that timeliness critically affects the 
investors chance of being defrauded, the degree of uncertainty in investment evaluation as well as the 
expected payoff. This delay may encourage certain investors to acquire a costly private pre disclosure of 
information and exploit their private information at the expense of the less informed investors (Abdulla, 
1996). Delay in audit report may affect stakeholders in decisions and predictions. The accuracy of financial 
reporting of publicly traded companies is affected by the auditors timeliness in completing the audit 
assignment. Timely prepared and reporting of the audit report can influence the value of financial 
statements for users (Carslaw & Kaplan, 1991). 

Despite the regulatory framework and companies law mandating publicly listed companies to release audit 
report within specified dates. Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA, 2004) permits a period of six (6) 
months, the Corporate Affairs Commission and Securities and Exchange Commission requires public 
companies to issue audited annual financial statements to stakeholders within three (3) months after their 
financial year ï end, most companies publicly listed have failed to comply with these specified dates. The 
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motivation for this paper is derived from a long ï standing problem of a lack of timely release of the audit 
report in Nigeria. 

 A rapid growth of the Nigerian economy may imply a growing array of domestic and international investors 
will be interested in receiving timely and reliable information. There are volume of extant literature on 
factors that influence audit delay but there exists mixed results from prior studies while some findings report 
positive relationship between audit delay and profits (Dyer & McHugh, 1975) others found a negative 
relationship (Ibadin & Dabor, 2013); others found a negative relationship between audit delay and company 
size (Ahmad & Kamarudin, 2003); audit firm size Gilling, (1997); Ibadin and Dabor, (2013) and Ibadin and 
Afensimi (2015) found a positive relationship between audit delay and company size and audit firm size 
respectively. 

Against the backdrop there exists a knowledge gap which this study intends to fill.  

The remainder of the paper is organised as follows: following the introduction is section two which focuses 
on the review of the extant literature; section three addresses the methodology; section four presents the 
estimation results and discussion while section five focuses on conclusion and recommendations.  

Literature Review 
Mohammed, Mashid, Keramatolla, Gholam and Faramarz (2013) saw audit delay to denote elapsed time 
between the close of a year ï end and the end of audit field work; the latter is usually the date on which 
substantial audit tests are completed, and the auditors leave the clients premised. Audit delay is the length 
of time in audit completion from the closing date of the financial year to the completion date of the external 
auditors report (Ashton, Willingham & Elliot, 1987). Audit delay is the time needed to complete the audit 
process until the publication of the audited statements which is calculated from the date of publication of 
the annual financial statements of company (Sari & Supadmi, 2014).  

Dyer and McHugh (1975) stated that the cause of the length of time in financial examination by the auditor 
is due to the difference in accounting and auditing issues between the clients, management and the 
auditors. The disagreement between the clients, management and the auditor is often triggered by the 
conflict of interest between the two parties. Lawrence and Bryan (1998) argued that audit delay is caused 
by the length of time in the audit process and will affect the timeliness of financial reporting. 

Audit delay is measured by a dummy variable that has a value of one if the audit reports are delayed and 
zero if the audit reports are presented on time (Bambang, Abukosim, Mukhtarudin & Imam, 2013). In this 
study audit delay which is also referred to as audit report lag is measured as the length of audit completion 
time (in a number of days) starting from the end of the reporting period until the date the audit report is 
issued. 

Audit Delay and Company Size 
The size of firm can have an influence on the timely submission of financial information in various ways; for 
example, size can influence the agency costs that firms bear; in the time invested in the process of 
auditing; in the cost of producing and publishing the information. Size can be regarded as proxy for 
information asymmetry between managers and outside investors. Titman and Wessels (1988) argued that 
larger firms are more diversified and less susceptible to liquidate than small ones. This suggests that firm 
size is an inverse proxy for the profitability of bankruptcy and hence, larger firms have higher debt capacity 
and can borrow at more favourable risk ï adjusted interest rates than smaller firms. Singhvi and Desai 
(1971) observed that there is a direct relationship between the size of a firm and its timeliness in the 
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dissemination of its accounts giving rise to the testable hypothesis that larger firms disseminate such 
information more promptly. 

Larger firms have more extensive and complex accounts to be audited. It could be thought that the auditors 
of these companies need more time and that this is more likely to cause a delay in releasing the accounts. 
However, the larger companies employ more staff, which should reduce the time needed for auditing 
(Garsombke, 1981). These are economies of scale in auditing a large company. Ashton et al. (1987) 
argued that the greater volume of audit work might not necessarily lead to longer audit delay, as the auditor 
has flexibility in timing the audit work.Besides, larger firms being politically visible, having more external 
stakeholders, being more closely monitored by analysts having more to lose from a negative signal 
provided by a longer than expected audit delay, and being able to exert pressure on the auditor to expedite 
the audit process, have incentives to opt for smaller audit lag (Waresur ï Karim and Ahmed, 2005).  

Empirical evidence is overwhelmingly in favour of negative relationship between audit delay and company 
size (Abdulla, 1996, Shukeri & Islam 2012, Ilaboya & Iyafekhe 2014). Courtis (1979) and Simnett (1995) 
found no significance for company size in explaining audit delay.The multivariate results of (Schwartz & 
Soo 1996, Ibadin & Dabor, 2013 and Mohammed, et al. 2013) found a direct relationship between company 
size and audit delay. 

H1: There is no significant relationship between company size and audit delay. 

Audit Committee Gender composition and Audit delay 
Diversity on the committee is clearly well encouraged in corporate governance literature, such diversity as 
is often advocated includes: the combination of executive, independent and non-executive directors, 
diversity of experience and expertise skill (Carter, Simkins & Simpson, 2003). Gender is a set of 
characteristics that is considered distinguishing between men and women, which reflects oneôs biological 
sex or gender identity (Rini & Deliona, 2011). Gender diversity is becoming a strategic issue as some 
institutional investors are beginning to see gender diversity as a crucial criterion of the investment policy 
(Carter, et al. 2003).  

Adams and Ferreira (2009) observed that gender diversity in boards has significant effects on board inputs. 
Women appear to behave differently than men with respect to attendance behaviour of more directors: 
female directors are also more likely to sit on monitoring ï related committees than male directors. In 
particular women are more likely to be assigned to audit nominating and corporate governance committee. 

In Nigeria, section 359 sub ï section 4 of CAMA (2004) vested the responsibility of examining the report of 
the auditor on the audit committee and made recommendations thereon to members in the annual general 
meeting as it may think fit. Since every public company is expected to set up an audit committee so as to 
enhance the integrity of financial statements, the earlier the task to examine auditorôs report is completed 
the more timely the audit report is made available to shareholders and other stakeholders. 

Amanatullah, Shropshire, Erikai and Lee (2010) argued that women play their roles according to the social 
attributes and distinguish them from the menôs roles. The audit process and accelerate the audit 
completion. The higher percentage of female gender in the composition of the audit committee, the more 
improvement the timeliness of financial reporting. The greater the number and competence of audit 
committee members the greater the force in improving the quality of reports by reducing the possibility of 
misstatements (Aditya, 2012). 
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Sari and Supadmi (2014) examined the effects of gender composition an audit committee on audit delay of 
75 listed companies on IDX for 2012 financial year; and the result showed that statistically gender audit 
committee has negative and significant effect on audit delay. This describes that the presence of the 
feminine gender in the composition of audit committee plays a role in shortening the time span of audit 
assignment completion. Aditya (2012) stated that the competences of audit committee members influence 
audit report lag and that gender composition in audit committee has a negative influence on audit delay. 

H2: There is no significant relationship between gender composition of audit committee and audit delay. 

Audit firm type and Audit delay 
Auditor type can influence audit delay. Auditors are classified into Big Four and non-Big four. The Big four 
refers to KPMG, Ernest and Young, Pricewater House Coopers and Akintola, Deloitte and Touche. Afify 
(2009) showed that larger audit firms have a stronger motivation to complete their work on time in order to 
maintain their reputation and name. The larger audit firms normally have more efficient audit team as they 
have more resources to conduct trainings for their staff and employ better audit technologies which will 
reduce the time of audit work (Owusu-Ansah & Leventis, 2006). Big ï four firms complete their audit work 
faster than the non ï Big four audit firms, companies audited by the Big four audit firms tend to have a 
shorter audit delay because they are big companies, thus are able to employ a larger number of 
employees; and since they are large firms it is assumed that they are able to audit more efficiently and 
effectively and have greater flexibility in scheduling the audits so that it can be completed on time (Shukeri 
& Islam, 2012). 

Gilling (1977) found a significant positive relationship between the auditor type and audit delay. Most prior 
studies also found a negative relationship between audit firm size and audit delay (Ahmad and Kamarudin, 
2003; Owusu ï Ansah & Leventis, 2006; and Shukeri and Nelson, 2011). Davies and Whittred (1980) found 
no significant association between audit firm size and audit delay. This was also found in the studies of 
(Garsombke, 1981 and Carslaw & Kaplan, 1991). 

H3: There is no significant relationship between audit firm type and audit delay. 

Firm Operational Complexity and Audit Delay 
Complexity is today often considered the fastest business buzzword ï it reflects a current common reality 
but not lasting one. The industry to which a company is classified can be the cause of its submission being 
more or less timely. The adoption of different industry ï related accounting measurement, valuation and 
disclosure techniques and policies may cause delay in preparing accounts and audit of complex industries. 
Therefore, the time to perform the work may be longer for the companies having complex operational 
process than other companies. 

Givoly and Palmon (1982) found an improvement in the timeliness of annual reports as the result from the 
study indicated that reporting delay appeared to be more closely associated to industry patterns. i.e audit 
delay is positively associated with operational complexity. Ashton, et al. (1987) found that firms operational 
complexity is significantly related with audit delay i.e positively related. Fagbemi and Uadiale (2011) 
examined the determinants of timeliness of the audit report in Nigeria using forty ï five (45) listed public 
companies and found that there is a positive relationship between timeliness of financial reports and 
business complexity, but statistically insignificant. Bambang et al. (2013) found that there is significant 
effect of complexity of operations on the timeliness of financial reports. 

H4: There is no significant relationship between firm operational complexity and audit delay. 
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Firm Financial Performance and Audit Delay. 
A firm financial performance measures how well a firm is using resources at its disposal to generate 
revenue. It is natural that managers would be more willing to report good news (profit) faster than reporting 
bad news (loss) as a result of the impact such news could have on the firms share price and other 
indicators (Iyoha, 2012). 

Adelberg (1979) found that narrative disclosure in corporate annual reports are deliberately made complex 
to communicate bad news and made more lucid and easily understandable to communicate good news. 
Waresul ï Karim and Ahmed (2005) argued that in years of high ï profit companies are likely to feel more 
confident to face the shareholders than in other years. Therefore, at least, meeting lag should be minimal in 
profitable years. The audit delay could also be shorter in profit years compared to the loss years as there 
would be less perceived audit risk in profit years. 

Some studies indicated a positive relationship between profitability and audit delay (Ahmad & Kamarudin, 
2003; Cheng, 2006; Courtis, 1976; Dyer & McHugh, 1975). Whereas other researches indicated a negative 
correlation between profitability and audit delay (Almosa & Alabbas, 2007; Vuko & Cular, 2004). 

H5: There is no significant relationship between firmsô financial performance (profitability) and audit delay. 

Theoretical Review 
The framework for the analysis of the determinants of audit delay is anchored on the stakeholderôs theory. 
The stakeholderôs theory evolved from the agency theory. The agency theory deals with the contractual 
relationship between the agent (Professional Managers) and the principal (shareholders) under which 
shareholders delegate responsibilities to the professional managers to run their business. Freeman (1984, 
p.120) defined stakeholder theory as a ñtheory of organisational management and business ethics that 
addresses morals and values in managing an organisationò. This theory is based on the view that the 
purpose of corporate governance should be to satisfy as far as possible, the objectives of all key 
stakeholder, stakeholders each have their expectations from the company which the companyôs 
management should attempt to satisfy. This means that there is greater information demand on the entity; 
this, therefore, places greater demands on the auditor to ensure a true and fair representativeness of the 
audit report. It is expected that auditors will spend more time inspecting the managerôs activity to ensure the 
interest of all the major stakeholders are protected, hence, delay if the stakeholders are significant. 

Methodology 
The study was promised on the positivist philosophy which entails working with an observable social reality 
the deductive research approach (which theories provided the basis of explanation, allow for the prediction 
and control of phenomenon). The research design employed in this study is the survey design since the 
researcher has no control over the variables regarding being able to manipulate them. The population of 
the study comprising the universe of companies quoted on the Nigeria Stock Exchange (189) as at 
December, 2014. The convenience sampling method was adopted in the choice of sixty-six (66) and the 
judgemental sampling method (subjectively in the selection of the companies). Data for the study were time 
series converging 2008 to 2014 which is seven (7) years and cross- sectional converging sixty-six (66) 
companies on the NSE. The data were sourced from the content analysis of the annual financial 
statements for the relevant years of sampling companies. The choice of panel data approach is promised 
on the fact that it provides larger data points increase the degree of freedom and reduces the problem of 
collinearly of the explanatory variables. Data analysis was done by e-view 8.  
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The functional relationship that exist between audit delay as the dependent variable and the explanatory 
variable (company size, gender composition on audit committee audit firm type, operational complexity and 
firm financial performance in this study is depicted as;  

AUDITLAG= ɓo + ɓ1 FSIZEit + ɓ2 AUDCFEMit + ɓ3 AUDTYPEit + ɓ4 

  COMPLEXITYit + ɓ5 PAT-MARGINit + ×it 

Where 

AUDTLAG= Audit delay,  

FSIZE=Log of companyôs total assets 

AUDCFEM= Women on audit committee 

AUDTYPE= Audit Firm type  

COMPLEXITY= Firm Operational Complexity,  Firm financial performance 

PAT-MARGIN  

I= Sampled Companies  

t=time covered 

×=error term   

 

ESTIMATION RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 

Estimation Result  

Descriptive Statistics  

Table 1: Results of the Descriptive Statistics for Nigeria Companies 

 AUDTLAG AUDCFEM PAT_MAGIN COMPLEXITY FSIZE AUDTYPE 

 Mean  111.6688  0.497835  0.073377  0.312518  7.266212  0.709957 

 Median  90.00000  0.000000  0.070000  0.240000  7.085000  1.000000 

 Maximum  362.0000  2.000000  1.240000  1.050000  9.640000  1.000000 

 Minimum  41.00000  0.000000 -1.780000  0.000400  4.940000  0.000000 

 Std. Dev.  54.02892  0.647870  0.208451  0.255837  1.000482  0.454274 

 Skewness  2.025089  0.942351 -1.939610  0.543088  0.399320 -0.925364 
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 Kurtosis  7.737023  2.774996  22.86846  2.128824  2.365251  1.856298 

       

 Jarque-Bera  747.7339  69.35252  7888.728  37.32050  20.03409  91.11498 

 Probability  0.000000  0.000000  0.000000  0.000000  0.000045  0.000000 

       

 Sum  51591.00  230.0000  33.90000  144.3833  3356.990  328.0000 

 Sum Sq. Dev.  1345716.  193.4978  20.03133  30.17363  461.4447  95.13420 

       

 Observations  462  462  462  462  462  462 

Source: Researchers Computation (E-views 8) 2016. 

The result of the descriptive statistics shows that the mean audit delay in Nigeria companies is 112 days 
with a maximum of 362 days and a minimum of 41 days. The Jarque-Bera statistic, test the normality of the 
regression variables reported large values and the associated probabilities are significant which implies that 
the variables follow the standard normal distribution. The mean Jarque-Bera statistic of audit report lag 
(AUDTLAG) is 747.7339 with a significant probability value of 0.000000. Auditor type (AUDTYPE) reported 
a Jarque-Bera value of 91 and associated probability of 0.000000.The validity of the Gaussian normality 
residuals of the estimation is further reinforced by the bell-shaped histogram in Fig. 1. Except AUDTLAG 
and PAT_MAGIN, which are leptokurtic (positive excess kurtosis), the other regression variables are 
platykurtic (negative excess regression variables). Kurtosis measures the degree of peak in distribution. 
The regression data are positively skewed; this is evident in the histogram normality test in Fig. 1 which 
shows that the distribution is skewed to the right. The standard deviation of the variables is relatively small 
except the dependent variable of AUDTLAG with a standard deviation of 54.02892. The implication of this 
is that the variables are clustered around their mean values and hence very reliable. The maximum number 
of women on the audit committee of Nigerian firms (AUDCFEM) is 2 with a mean value of 0.497835 which 
shows low women representation on the audit committee. The audit type with a mean value of 0.709957 
shows that about 71% of the companies under focus were audited by the Big 4 audit firms. 
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Observations 462

Mean       3.69e-16

Median  -3.216623

Maximum  164.1347

Minimum -104.1928

Std. Dev.   37.92019

Skewness   0.986298

Kurtosis   6.255840

Jarque-Bera  278.9639

Probability  0.000000

 

Fig. 1: Result of the Histogram Normality Test. 

The mean Jarque-Bera value of 278.9639 and the associated probability value of 0.000000 is a reflection of 
the normality of the regression variables. The average Kurtosis of 6.255840 shows that the variables on the 
average are leptokurtic. These results further strengthened the results of the descriptive statistics in Table 
2. 

Correlation coefficient and variance inflation factor 
Table 2: Results of the Coefficient of Correlation 

Covariance Analysis: Ordinary     

Date: 11/28/16   Time: 13:07     

Sample: 2008 -2014      

Included observations: 462     

Correlation      

t-Statistic      

Probability AUDTLAG AUDCFEM PAT_MAGIN COMPLEXITY FSIZE AUDTYPE 

AUDTLAG  1.000000      

 -----       

 -----       

       

AUDCFEM  -0.030045 1.000000     
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 -0.644690 -----      

 0.5194 -----      

       

PAT_MAGIN  -0.327649 0.040852 1.000000    

 -7.437869 0.876919 -----     

 0.0000 0.3810 -----     

       

COMPLEXITY  -0.215950 -0.113543 0.051484 1.000000   

 -4.743532 -2.451071 1.105675 -----    

 0.0000 0.0146 0.2694 -----    

       

FSIZE  -0.274187 0.071688 0.331205 -0.134019 1.000000  

 -6.115005 1.541501 7.528467 -2.900562 -----   

 0.0000 0.1239 0.0000 0.0039 -----   

       

AUDTYPE  -0.135785 0.137901 0.054576 0.119591 0.434574 1.000000 

 -2.939494 2.986170 1.172277 2.583493 10.34887 -----  

 0.0035 0.0030 0.2417 0.0101 0.0000 -----  

Source: Researchers Computation (E-Views 8) 2016. 

The correlation coefficient between the dependent and explanatory variables in the sample of Nigerian 
companies is negative and significant except the variable of the number of women in audit committee 
(AUDCFEM), which is statistically insignificant, having reported a probability value of 0.5195. The highest 
probability value is between the variable of audit type and firm size, with a coefficient of 0.434574. 
Consistent with Bryman and Cramer (1997), the result of the coefficient of correlation is not indicative of 
any problem of multicollinearity since none is above the threshold of 0.80. The result of the coefficient of 
correlation is further strengthened by the outcome of the variance inflation factor reported in Table 3. 
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Variance inflation factor 
Table 3: Results of Test of Variance Inflation Factor 

Variance Inflation Factors  

Date: 11/28/16   Time: 13:22  

Sample: 1-462   

Included observations: 462  

 Coefficient Uncentered Centered 

Variable Variance VIF VIF 

C  372.7379  72.24706  NA 

AUDCFEM  12.81367  1.655766  1.040218 

PAT_MAGIN  137.6782  1.300723  1.157043 

COMPLEXITY  86.77272  2.741131  1.098463 

FSIZE  7.651940  79.78905  1.481378 

AUDTYPE  33.44544  4.602411  1.334898 

Source: Researchers Computation (E-Views 8) 2016. 

The centered variance inflation factor has an average value of 1.2224 which is not significantly different 
from i.0000 and indicates the absence of multicollinearity in the regression variables. AUDTYPE has a 
centered VIF of 1.994898. Complexity 1.098463, and AUDCFEM 1.040218. The values are relatively low 
and below the benchmark of 10, above which there is a serious problem of multicollinearity. 

Regression Assumption Tests 
Table 4: Regression Diagnostics 

Regression Test F-Statistic Probability 

Ramsey RESET  0.333793 0.5637 

Serial Correlation 1.512134 0.0946 

Heteroskedasticity  9.276585 0.0000 

Source: Researchers Computation (E-Views 8) 2016. 
 

The accuracy of the regression model and by implication the regression result is a function of the results of 
the diagnostic tests. To achieve this, we carried out the usual regression assumption tests of normality 
using the histogram test of normality, heteroskedasticity using the Breusch-Pagan-Godfrey test, model 
misspecification using the Ramsey RESET test, and serial correlation using the Breusch- Godfrey test. The 
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result of the test of heteroskedasticity could not reject the null hypothesis of equal error variance since the 
F-statistic of 9.276585, and the probability value of 0.0000 are both robust and significant at the 5% level. 
However, the presence of heteroskedasticity does not result in biased parameter estimates. The result of 
the Ramsey regression specification error test could not sustain the null hypothesis of misspecified model. 
The test reported F-statistic of 0.333793 and a probability value of 0.5637 which are both insignificant. The 
implication is that the regression model is well specified. 

Analysis of the Regression Result  

Preliminary specification tests 
Table 5: Results of the Hausman Test 

Correlated Random Effects - Hausman Test  

Equation: Untitled   

Test cross-section random effects  

Test Summary Chi-Sq. Statistic Chi-Sq. d.f. Prob.  

Cross-section random 24.665484 5 0.0002 

Source: Researchers Computation (E-Views 8) 2016. 

The panel regression analysis is based on a balanced panel data with annual data from 66 firms listed on 
the Nigerian Stock Exchange for the period 2008 to 2014 comprising 462 observations. Table 6 presents 
result for a Hausman specification test of random versus fixed effect. The Hausman test is required in 
situations where the number of cross-sectional units in this case 66 companies, is large compared to the 
time period in this case 7 years. The test presents estimated chi-square value of 0.0002 which implies that 
there is a systematic difference between the coefficients of the fixed and random effect models. Therefore, 
our preferred model specification is the fixed-effect model 

Table 6: Results of the Cross-Section Fixed Effect Model 

Dependent Variable: AUDTLAG   

Method: Panel Least Squares   

Date: 11/28/16   Time: 13:14   

Sample: 2008-2014   

Periods included: 7   

Cross-sections included: 66   

Total panel (balanced) observations: 462  

Variable Coefficient Std. Error t-Statistic Prob.   

C 315.3593 102.0382 3.090601 0.0021 
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AUDCFEM -4.071469 5.505425 -0.739538 0.4600 

PAT_MAGIN -37.79788 11.86371 -3.186008 0.0016 

COMPLEXITY -18.99330 24.67393 -0.769772 0.4419 

FSIZE -31.93721 14.09443 -2.265946 0.0240 

AUDTYPE 55.08547 11.41799 4.824446 0.0000 

 Effects Specification   

Cross-section fixed (dummy variables)  

R-squared 0.507407     Mean dependent var 111.6688 

Adjusted R-squared 0.419219     S.D. dependent var 54.02892 

S.E. of regression 41.17490     Akaike info criterion 10.41404 

Sum squared resid 662890.6     Schwarz criterion 11.04959 

Log likelihood -2334.642     Hannan-Quinn criter. 10.66426 

F-statistic 5.753694     Durbin-Watson stat 1.827369 

Prob(F-statistic) 0.000000    

Source: Researchers Computation (E-Views 8) 2016. 

Table 6 presents the result of the fixed effect model. The adjusted R-squared value of 0.419219 shows that 
42% of the systematic cross-sectional variation in the dependent variable of audit report lag is explained or 
predicted by the explanatory variables of audit committee female representation, profitability of the firm, 
complexity of the firm, the firm size, and the auditor type. The coefficient of determination is a goodness-of-
fit measure of the extent to which the linear regression equation fits our data. The adjusted R-squared 
value of 42% is consistent with earlier studies by Ilaboya and Iyafekhe (2014) which reported adjusted R-
squared value of 42.3%. The result is also not significantly different from that of Owusu-Ansah and Leventis 
(2006) which reported adjusted R-squared value of 38%. Even though it differs significantly from the 29.3% 
reported by Iyoha (2012). 

On the basis of the overall statistical significance of the model, we observe that the F-statistic of 5.753694 
with a probability value of 0.000000<0.005 at the 95% confidence interval is indicative of a significant linear 
relationship between the regressand of audit report lag and the regressors. The Durbin-Watson statistics of 
1.827369 is relatively close to the 2.00 benchmark and indicative of the absence of first-order 
autocorrelation in the regression residuals. 

The study found that firm size is negative and statistically significant with a robust coefficient of -31.93721, 
t-value of -2.265946 and probability value of 0. 0240. The implication of this finding is that the size of the 
firm does not necessarily result in audit report lag. The justification for this finding is that larger firms have 
so much resources at their disposal to hire experts, put in place suitable internal control mechanism that 
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will at the end facilitate the work of the external auditors. The reputation of the large companies in terms of 
public confidence also require them to meet public expectations by reducing the level of audit report lag. 
Timeliness is a qualitative characteristic of financial statement. Therefore, firms, irrespective of size, are 
required to comply compulsorily with the relevant reporting standards. Therefore, the negative relationship 
between audit report lag and firm size may not be unexpected. 

The robust negative relationship between profits margin, a proxy for firm performance is beyond the 
likelihood of chance. From extant literature, it has been established that profit making organisations are 
likely to publish their good news faster than loss-making organisations who may be wary of the likely 
reputation liability arising from the bad news of the loss position of the organisation. 

The robust positive relationship between the variable of audit firm type and audit report lag is not 
unexpected. This is because about 71% of the sample under consideration were audited by the Big 4 audit 
firms. The implication of the result is that the use of Big 4 audit firms tends to increase the level of audit 
delay in the sample study. The client -base, of the Big 4 audit firms in Nigeria, is too high, and the 
reputation for delivering quality audit and the fact that most of the companies have 31 December as their 
year end, put too much pressure on the Big 4 audit firms. The pressure overstretches their capacity with 
fewer people attending to too much volume of work and hence the delay. 

The relationship between women representation in audit committee and audit report lag is negative but 
statistically insignificant having reported a t-value of -0.739538. The implication of this is that Women in the 
board tend to reduce the extent of audit report lag. The justification for this finding is that women tend to 
work more carefully and neatly in completing their tasks and tend to do the task better than men (Aditya, 
2012).  

The relationship between firm complexity and audit report lag is negative and statistically insignificant. The 
result shows that there is an insignificant relationship which is consistent with extant literature even though 
some others find a significant relationship between operational complexity and audit report lag (Ashton et 
al., 1987) 

Conclusion 
The paper sheds light on the determinants of audit report delay in a sample of 66 firms listed on the 
Nigerian Stock Exchange. The study revealed that there is a statistically significant and negative 
relationship between profitability, company size and audit delay; a negative but insignificant relationship 
between gender composition of the audit committee and audit delay. The study found a positive and 
significant relationship between audit firm type and audit delay. From the study, it can be concluded and 
inferred that larger companies have greater incentives to reduce both reporting delay and audit delay since 
they are closely monitored by investors, trade unions and regulatory agencies. Hence, the study 
recommends large firm status for Nigerian listed companies since size bestows reputation and increase 
resources which collectively act to reduce audit report lag. 

The study is limited by the fact that it is restricted to company ï related and audit ï related characteristics 
and the broader economic, institutional factors of law enforcement, governance and commerce that can 
significantly influence auditing process are not considered. 
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Abstract 
This study examines the impact of internal control system on the financial effectiveness of tertiary 
institutions in Nigeria. This is with the view of ascertaining whether strengthening of internal control system 
in tertiary institutions can have any effect on financial effectiveness. The study used a survey research 
design. Data were collected using structured questionnaire administered to bursary staff of selected tertiary 
institutions. This study employed quantitative method of data analysis using the regression analysis with 
the aid of the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS). The Ordinary Least Square Method was used 
to examine the impact of internal control on financial effectiveness. The findings showed that tertiary 
institutions with effective internal control unit make proper use of their finances. Based on this, it was 
observed that internal control significantly affects usage of capital grants, accumulated surplus, recurrent 
subvention, revenue from fees and investment policy. Hence, it was recommended that proper check and 
balance of all financial transactions should be encouraged and that disbursement of funds to tertiary 
institutions should be implemented as stipulated in the National Policy on Education. 

Keywords: Capital Grant, Financial Effectiveness, Internal Control, Tertiary Institutions  

Introduction 
Internal control system has gained importance especially in the public sector. This is as a result of its public 
interest and the preservation of government assets. However, this usually reflects the public funds. Hence, 
since public money represents a cornerstone in the survival of any country, only the internal control units 
became the first line of defence for protecting and managing government assets. It also helps to prevent 
them from manipulation and corruption which is a usual occurrence in the government sector (Ghneimat & 
Siam, 2011). Many government sectors in recent time in Nigeria have been accused of different financial 
scandals and misappropriation. One of such sectors that is at the forefront is the educational sector. 

Education in Nigerian is currently in crisis, because of alleged insufficient fund allocation to Tertiary 
education (Adewale, Ajayi & Enikanoselu, 2004). Education sectors complain of under-funding while the 
government accuses the sector of improper utilization of available resources. The donor suggested that 
capital grant on education should be reduced. At the same time, there is growing changes at the education 
level. Moreover, there are increasing complaints about poor standard of education at a period when 
globalization demands much from the educational system in term of preparation of skilful labour force. 
(Adewale, etal 2004). Currently, there is low-level of University Education funding and it is often a recurrent 
debatable issue among stakeholders with its effects on quality of university education in Nigeria. The World 
Bank study reported that the problem of higher education financing, particularly university education is 
more acute in Africa than the rest of the world. (World Bank 2010 in Olayiwola, 2010). 
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Government funding of education is very important in most, if not all countries because education is seen 
as a social service and government allocate a sizeable proportion of their annual budget to the provision of 
and finance of education. According to Benedict (2007), when capital grant is paid to institution of higher 
learning, it is meant for the erection or construction of new building, carrying out of major repairs of old 
structures and the purchase of hardware, school equipment such as laboratory equipment, etc. The amount 
of capital grant changes from year to year.  

The important of adequate financing of education cannot be over-stressed. Ozigi (1977) argued that no 
organization could carry out its functions effectively without adequate financial resources at its disposal 
.Money is needed to pay staff, maintain the plant and keep the service going. This argument supported 
earlier findings that finance is of vital importance to education and economic growth (Sheehan, 1973; 
Eaton, and Nofsinger, 2000; Taggert, 2003). However, people have claimed that funds availability to tertiary 
institutions is as equally important as ensuring that such funds are well utilised. That is, Nigerian tertiary 
institutions are seen to be capable of only demanding for more funds without given appropriate account for 
the previous funds collected. This is as a result of poor internal control associated with many tertiary 
institutions which has given room to fraudsters to loot the treasury of the institutions.  

No wonder, Public Universities these days have continued to register financial mismanagement even when 
there are guidelines for the utilization of funds (Tumwine, 2011). There is however, continued poor financial 
effectiveness, where capital grants, accumulated surplus, recurrent subventions and revenue from fees are 
not properly utilized and rules and regulations on the use of all these source of finance are not adhered to 
and there is massive unaccounted funds (Audit General, 2008). Thus, the purpose of this study is to 
examine and evaluate the impact of internal control system on financial effectiveness with a view of 
knowing whether strengthening of internal controls can have any effect on the usage of capital grant and 
usage of revenue from fees generated in tertiary institutions. 

Other sections of the paper include the literature review, methodology, data analysis and findings, 
conclusion and recommendations. 

Literature Review 

Concept of Internal Control 
Internal control refers to the measures instituted by an organisation so as to ensure attainment of the 
entityôs objectives, goals, and mission. They are a set of policies and procedures adopted by an entity in 
ensuring that an organisationôs transactions are processed in the appropriate manner to avoid waste, theft 
and misuse of organisation resources (Ndifon & Patrick 2014). According to Mwindi (2018), internal control 
are processes designed by those charge with governance, management, and other personnel to provide 
reasonable assurance about the achievement of an entityôs objective with regards to reliability of the 
financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and 
regulation. Also, (ARABOSAI, 2012) defined it as a set of methods and procedures used to develop efficient 
regulation and promote acceptance of sound policies and procedures in the Commission. This is used for 
checking the validity of information management, protection of assets, and for minimising mistakes. More 
so, the Audit Committee on methods of auditing procedures which emanated from the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), defined internal control as "organizational plan and all methods and 
procedures developed by the company management, which aim to preserve the company's assets and 
ensure the accuracy and correctness of accounting information, increase the reliability and operational 
efficiency, and to verify the employee commitment to administrative policies set by the administration.ò  
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Elements of the Internal Control System   
Internal control system is an organizational plan for a range of actions and issues adopted by the facility 
which consists of basic elements. However, these elements must be provided by management and 
committee in order to achieve its objectives (Rashid, 2012). They are:                                           
 

Separation of Responsibilities 

An established department must separate the responsibilities of their employees, and even reduce possible 
fraud or inadvertent errors in the financial statements and management. Thus, it is based on this 
assumption hard collusion between employees or more is used in the implementation of manipulation or 
hides any unintentional errors.  If proper separation between the responsibilities of employees depends on 
the separation of the functions of retained assets or possession of the evidence in the records and the 
certification authority (i.e. workers who have the authority to authorize operations), the cashier who keeps 
cash and account manager and his staff are doing a job of proof in the records. The Director of the 
Administrative and Financial Department approval of the job is the financial director of the administrative 
department. Thus, it is the person responsible for granting approvals.   
 
Clear Lines of Authority and Responsibility   
Large number of employees performs various functions in the facility. In order to achieve effective control 
over all the jobs, they must be held accountable through the allocation of specific responsibilities to specific 
individuals. In addition, it must be done through the manual mode (job description and powers), which 
should be known and not available to all employees.   

Administrative and Organizational Plan   
The system depends on the presence of an organizational plan and specific management objectives which 
clarifies the overall framework to guide and adjust the institution activity. This is done by having an 
organizational structure capable of clarifying authorityôs policies, determine responsibility, and provide 
procedures which do not allow anyone to breach internal control system through the creation of a clear link 
between the different functions.  

Accounting System   
Accounting system is based on an integrated set of documents, records, and classified evidence for 
calculations taken into account. Generally accepted accounting principles, documents, and records are 
considered as an essential foundation for documenting an enterprise's operations and information source 
for management decision-making. In addition, it aims at benefiting from the parties. Also, the statements 
cannot imagine the success of any facility in the provision of information without installing its operations in 
documents and in the records of any of its employeeôs memory.  The document is the beginning of the 
accounting system point. It contains the necessary data to prove the placement of each process in the 
institution. They are documenting what is going on from the activities and daily operations. Based on 
registration records and the issuing of various reports required by management or third parties (externally), 
great care should be taken by the employee.  Group accounting books is the basic support of the 
accounting system. Thus, it is considered as a tool for recording, analysis, and presentation. Furthermore, it 
also serves as a means for the preparation of financial statements and various reports that serve multiple 
objectives.     

Protect Assets and Records   
Institutions must have the necessary capabilities and procedures to protect and prevent all of the assets 
and records from damage, loss, waste, and misuse. Therefore, this is done through written instructions 
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shown through work methods, protection procedures, and the follow-up personnelôs commitment to these 
instructions. Thus, these instructions include saving money procedures and deposit in the bank, and the 
procedures for organizing stores. In addition, it helps to protect them from theft and manipulation, as well as 
noncurrent assets. For the records, it must be kept in places to prevent unauthorized access and make 
illegal adjustments. Also, a second copy of the records should be kept in the case of possible work.     

The Efficiency and Integrity of Staff   
The effectiveness of internal control depends on the efficiency and integrity of the employees in the 
institutions. Thus, this is despite the clarity of authority, lines of responsibility, and the correct distribution of 
jobs in accordance with the internal control system. However, there is a failure of any system in achieving 
its objectives due to inefficiency of the secretariat staff in the institution to perform the responsibilities 
entrusted to them.  Internal control system may be a good and effective to talented and qualified staff and 
Trustees. Although this system does not include specific detailed functions and authorities, it must therefore 
follow institution policy in hiring new employees or upgrading existing employees. This is done by taking 
into consideration the job description and qualifications required for occupancy jobs.    

Financial Effectiveness Procedures and System 
Owolabi (2010) says that financial effectiveness is more of installing and operating good and efficient 
management information systems. This is to include appropriate accounting information systems which will 
take care of all policies, rules, procedures and practices as well as the physical element that are used to 
record, process and communicate the financial information of an institution. A good accounting information 
system should be able to meet the need of the management, employees, students, tax authority, investors, 
suppliers and other stakeholders. Each of these groups should be able to collect statement of account as at 
when required. The financial situations of these parties should be able to be confirmed at any time. This 
enhances confidence, trust, reliability, and therefore quality of service delivered. Safeguarding of securities, 
insurance policies and other valuable papers are essential. 

The inquisitiveness to proffer lasting panacea to the ever-skyrocketing alleged insufficient funds allocation 
and fund mismanagement in tertiary institutions has given spur to increasing the debate on whether or not 
strengthening of internal controls can have any effect on financial effectiveness of tertiary institutions in 
Nigeria. This is viewed in the perspectives of developing countries. 

Al-Hawatmeh and Al-Hawatmeh (2016) studied the evaluation of internal control units for the effectiveness 
of financial control in administrative government units. In order to achieve the objectives of the study and 
the testing of hypotheses, the researcher designed a questionnaire. This questionnaire was distributed to 
managers and employees in the internal control of the administrative government units. Out of the 125 
questionnaires distributed, 96 were recovered with an adoption rate of 77%.  The results showed that the 
assessment of internal control units for the effectiveness of financial control in administrative government 
units typically became high with an arithmetic mean (4.099) and standard deviation (0.511). The researcher 
attributed this result to the data analysis, verification, and validation of the financial transactions. Based on 
the results of the study, the researcher recommended the need for attention to the human element as one 
of the main components of internal control system. 

Ejoh and Ejom (2014) studied The Impact of Internal Control activities on Financial Performance of tertiary 
institutions in Nigeria. The study aimed at establishing the relationship between internal control activities 
and financial performance in tertiary institution in Nigeria. Using Cross River State College of Education, 
Akamkpa as the case study, it was revealed that all activities of the college are initiated by the top 
management regarding control activities. The study also found out that there is clear separation of role in 
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the institutionsô finance and account department and that superior officer in the college supervised regularly 
work done by their subordinate. Also, the study found out that the institution financial statements are 
audited annually by external auditors. The study results further show that there is no significant relationship 
between internal control activities and financial performance of Cross River State College of Education. The 
investigation recommends proper checks and balances in all financial transactions. There should be 
effectiveness and efficient security network to reduce frequent theft, threat to life and property. Also 
recommends that management of the institution should organize regular training for staff on control 
mechanism. 

Adewuyi and Okemakinde (2013) studied higher education financing in Nigeria: issues and trends. This 
study investigated that the potential of the higher education system to act as an agent of growth and 
development in Nigeria is being challenged by the long standing problem of limited access, inadequate 
financing, poor governance, declining quality and relevance. The argument in this paper support increased 
public investment in higher education for many reasons. The study however recognizes the fact that 
government alone cannot provide all the resources needed to increase access into and promote quality of 
higher education. This study recommends the need for alternative financial mechanisms to complement 
public funds in higher education. 

Brian (2013) studied the effect of internal control on revenue collection in Kenya Revenue authority. The 
study closely looks at the internal control in operation at Kenya Revenue Authority with a view to establish 
whether internal controls have produced any meaningful results in increased collected revenue. The finding 
revealed that the five components of control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information 
and communication and monitoring must be available for internal control to work. The study establishes 
that weak internal controls have encouraged collusion of fraud, loss of revenue and embezzlement of 
collected revenue. The study therefore concludes that internal controls do function although with hiccups 
and that there is a significant effect between internal control and revenue collection in KRA. 

Abraham (2013) in his study tagged ñinternal control performance in Non Governmental Organizationsò. 
The study was to assess the impact of internal controls on performance of Non Governmental 
Organizations (NGO), case study of management sciences for health (MSH) Juba, South Sudan. The study 
found out that the payment procedures followed by management science for health (MSH) attracted a 
positive response with majority acknowledging it performed well. The internal audit function attracted a 
relatively fair response with some agreeing and others not. Meanwhile majority of respondents gave a 
negative view about the procurement process indicating it was fraud, likewise they didnôt appreciate the 
budgeting process. It was concluded therefore that internal control can affect performance of an 
organization. It was therefore recommended that the implementation of internal control system can be 
reviewed especially in the area of procurement and budgeting control. 

In the study of Abo Dalobh (2012), it was established that the effectiveness of financial control has a 
positive impact on the ability of financial institutions to minimize deviations of actual expenditures from the 
budget estimate and for achieving the rationalization of spending. Also, Tumwine Anne (2011) examines 
internal audit function, employee attitudes and financial performance of public universities. The finding of 
the study revealed a significant and positive relationship between internal audit function and financial 
performance and between employee attitudes and financial performance in public universities. The study 
recommended that public universities should adopt strong policy measures on the variables of internal audit 
function which are risk management and internal controls and also aim at creating a committed work force 
for better financial performance. 
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Ubogu (2011) researched on financing higher education in Nigeria. The finding revealed that one of the 
major problems now facing educations in Nigeria is the problem of under-funding. This is because 
government revenues have reduced sharply while the national economy itself is in chaos. The government, 
which statutorily bears the cost of higher education in the country, now faces tight budget constraints due to 
the collapse of the oil market, and the need to meet heavy and raising debt service obligations. The study 
examined the past and present trend of funding higher education in Nigeria, the effects of inadequate 
funding and possible resources of funding. To sustain higher education in the country, the study suggested 
that parent and guardians, the society in general; the private sector and non governmental agencies must 
become involved in financing education in the country. 

Benedict (2007) researched on the Alternative Strategies for sustaining the revenue base of tertiary 
institutions in Nigeria. The finding of the study revealed that the rising costs of higher education during a 
period of stagnant or declining public support and the consequence increases in non-tuition fees have 
triggered great concern about both the access to and quality of higher education. The finding revealed that 
tuition fees should be re-introduced to all undergraduate programmes in Nigerian universities as well as 
other institutions of higher learning in Nigeria, as opposed to the present situation whereby tuition is made 
free. However, this can only be achieved, if and only if, universities are granted full autonomy by the 
government. This will enable them to take decisions on sensitive matters affecting them like the issue of 
tuition payment. With the sharp reduction in government subventions to these institutions, and the 
seemingly enrolment upsurge in the universities and other institutions of higher learning, the institutions are 
left with no choice but to introduce tuition. The payment of tuition will make students to appreciate the value 
of education and also imbibe in them the spirit of hard work. Consequently, there will be an improvement in 
the overall quality of higher education. 

According to Udu (2006) while examining the financial control and accountability in local government 
opined that one of the ways by which management can discharge the responsibility of detecting and 
preventing fraud, waste, abuse and errors is by instituting an effective internal control system. Oshisami 
(2004) supported this claim by stating that internal control can do much to protect against both errors and 
irregularities and ensure the reliability of accounting data. 

Smith Jones (2000) Study was aimed at illustrating various ways to strengthen internal controls in the 
organizations and their importance, especially in the field of preventing and detecting errors, fraud, and 
mismanagement. The study depends on descriptive and analytical approach. A questionnaire was also 
prepared and distributed in coordination with the organizations in the United Kingdom and Australia.  It was 
discovered that internal control weaknesses would result in serious consequences. Thus, the most 
important is the lost through neglect and lack of attention.  This study then concluded that the possibility of 
fraud does exist, and that good internal control program-on paper-does not guarantee the commitment of 
individuals to control procedure 

Theoretical Review 
The need to anchor the concepts of internal control and financial effectiveness in tertiary institutions within 
the framework of certain theory cannot be over emphasized. The theory upon which this study was 
anchored was restricted to ñControl theoryò.Control theory has been described as ñan interdisciplinary 
branch of engineering and mathematics that deals with the behaviour of dynamical systems with inputsò. 
The external input of a system is called the reference. When one or more output variables of a system need 
to follow a certain reference over time, a controller manipulates the inputs to a system to obtain the desired 
effect on the output of the system (Brian, 2013). 
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The objective of a control theory is to calculate solutions for the proper corrective action from the controller 
that result in system stability, that is, the system will hold the set point and not oscillate around it. Systems 
have inputs and outputs to bring a product after processing and so inputs and outputs of a control system 
are generally related by differential equations (Brian, 2013).This theory is relevant to this study because 
setting objectives, budgets, plans and other expectations establish criteria for control. Control itself exists to 
keep performance or a state of affairs within what is expected, allowed or accepted. Control built within a 
process is internal in nature. It takes place with a combination of interrelated components-such as social 
environment effecting behaviour of employees, information necessary in control, and policies and 
procedures. Internal control structure is a plan determining how internal control consists of these elements 
(Brian, 2013). 

Previous studies on internal control such as Beyang (2011), Brian (2013) and Abraham (2013) have 
focused on financial performance and most of them did not mention the impact of internal control on 
various sources of finance of tertiary institution which makes their finance effective. Also Ubogu (2011), 
Benedict (2007) and Adewuyi, etal (2013) studied on higher education financing, the issues, trend and 
sources of finance. But they did not state how all these sources of finance can be effectively utilized and 
the impact of internal control on it to reduce or detect fraud and avoid embezzlement of fund. 

Methodology 
The population of this study is the ten state owned tertiary institutions in Ogun State. This was done 
because Ogun State has the largest number of tertiary institutions in the southwest of Nigeria. From this, 
samples of four institutions were selected using purposive sampling technique. The sample frame of this 
study is the bursary department staff of these selected institutions totalled 220. Out of this, one hundred 
and thirty five bursary staff was randomly chosen to form the sample size.  

Primary data was collected for this study through structured questionnaire. The purpose of using 
questionnaire survey is because of the direct response, feedback and the literacy level of the proposed 
respondents. One hundred and thirty five copies of questionnaire were administered to bursary staff of 
selected tertiary institutions in Ogun State and one hundred and twenty were returned for analysis. The 
questionnaire was constructed using a five-point Likert type scale.  

Furthermore, a pilot study was carried out in which 25 copies of the questionnaire were distributed and 20 
were returned to test its reliability. The result indicated that the instrument is reliable since the Cronbachôs 
alpha of the scales ranged from 0.703 to 0.928.  

Model Specification 
This study employed quantitative method of data using regression analysis with the aid of the Statistical 
Package for Social Science (SPSS). The ordinary least square (OLS) method was used to measure the 
impact of internal control on financial effectiveness. A multiple regression model was structured using the 
ordinary least squares (OLS) method. The model used a single independent variable (internal control) and 
a dependent variable (financial effectiveness) which has two variables (capital grant and revenue from 
fees). The multiple regression model is considered viable for this study because it can provide information 
about the proportion of criterion variance accounted for by the set of independent variables and it also gives 
information about each independent variable. 

 Hence, a functional equation that relates internal control to financial effectiveness is specified as follows: 
CAG= f(AUC, ADC, INA, QUC))éééééééé..............................................F1 
REF= f(AUC, ADC, INA, QUC))éééééééé..............................................F4 
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Where: FE= Financial Effectiveness 
 IC= Internal Control 
 y1 = Usage of Capital Grant (CAG) 

y2 = Usage of Revenue from Fees (REF) 
x1 = Audit Check (AUC) 

x2 = Administrative Control (ADC) 
x3 = Internal Audit (INA) 
x4 = Quality Control (QUC) 

Given the theoretical linkage between internal control and financial effectiveness, there is need to build 
linear equations that was used to capture their relationship. Therefore, the linear relationship between 
internal control and financial effectiveness is as shown in equations below: 
CAG = a0 + a1AUCi + a2ADCi + a3INAi + a4QUCi + µ.............................................i 
REF = a0 + a1AUC + a2ADC + a3INA + a4QUC + µ.............................................ii 
A Priori Expectation: 
ὥ,éé.ὥÉÓ greater than zero 

Where: a0 = Constant 
 a1, a2, a3, a4 = Model Co-efficient 
 µ = Error Term 
Measurement of Variables 
Independent Variable ï Internal Control 
This is the policy and procedure adopted by tertiary institutions to assist in achieving institutionsô objective 
of ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of the institutions. For the purpose of this study, the following 
are used as proxies for internal control: 

¶ Audit check (AUC) 
This is an examination of records or financial accounts to check accuracy. Questions 1 to 5 of ñSection Bò 
in the questionnaire were used to get necessary information on this. 

¶ Administrative Control (ADC) 
This is a set of procedure necessary for administrative and financial efficiency. Questions 6 to 10 of 
ñSection Bò in the questionnaire were used to get necessary information on this. 

¶ Internal Audit (INA) 
This is the frequent or ongoing audit conducted by tertiary institutionsô accountants to monitor operating 
results, verify financial records and evaluate internal control. Questions11 to 15 of ñSection Bò in the 
questionnaire were used to get necessary information on this. 

¶ Quality Control (QUC) 
This is a procedure or set of procedure intended to ensure that organisationsô operations adhere to a 
defined set of quality criteria or meets the lay down requirements by the institutions.Questions 16 to 20 of 
ñSection Bò in the questionnaire were used to get necessary information on this. 
Dependent Variable ï Financial Effectiveness 
This is the utilisation of funds in such a manner as to accomplish the objective of the institutions. For the 
purpose of this study, the following are used as proxies for financial effectiveness: 

¶ Capital grant (CAG) 
This is yearly money received by the institutions which is restricted to construction of infrastructural facilities 
within the institutionsô community. Questions 1 to 5 of ñSection Cò in the questionnaire were used to get 
necessary information on this. 

¶ Revenue from Fees (REF) 



138 
 

This is the money realised by the institution through the tuition fees collected from the students. Questions 
6 to 9 of ñSection Cò in the questionnaire were used to get necessary information on this. 
 
 
Data analysis and discussion of results 
Table 1: Regression Result of Model 1 

Model  Unstandardized coefficients T Sig. F Prob. R2 

  B Std. Error   51.919 0.000 0.644 

 (Constant) .331 .046 7.189 .000    

 AUC .345 .047 7.370 .000    

 ADC .126 .045 2.794 .006    

 INA .203 .047 4.286 .000    

 QUC .454 .065 7.027 .000    

Source: Researcherôs Field Survey 
 
The regression result of model one reveals a multiple regression result of the independent variables on the 
dependent variable. The result shows that there is a positive relationship between all the independent 
variables and the dependent variable and this is in line with the apriori expectation. This is invariably 
implies that a unit increase in all the independent variables (individually) will bring a corresponding increase 
on the dependent. 
 
The t-statistic revealed that all the parameters are individually significant. The R- Square of 0.644 reveals 
the explanatory power of independent variables; the result shows that 64.4% variation on the dependent 
variable is explained by all the independent variables. The F-statistic reveals that the parameter of the 
general model is significant at 0.000 which is less than 0.05 level significance. This implies that there also 
exists a joint significant effect of internal control on usage of capital grants. 
 
The above findings confirm to assertions by IIA (2001) which states that internal control provides a 
foundation for accountability in the usage of capital grants in tertiary institutions. It is further argued that 
internal controls are designed to ensure that tertiary institutions carry out its required function effectively 
and efficiently, that its financial reporting is reliable and complies with Audit check, Administrative Control, 
Internal audit and Quality control. (Policy Belief, 2004) 
 
Table 2: Regression Result of Model 2 

Model  Unstandardized coefficients T Sig. F Prob. R2 

  B Std. Error   42.001 .000 0.594 

 (Constant) -.145 .041 -3.571 .001    

 AUC .245 .041 5.906 .000    

 ADC -.383 .040 -9.556 .000    

 INA .107 .042 2.557 .012    

 QUC -.327 .057 -5.727 .000    

Source: Researcherôs Field Survey 
 
The regression result of model two reveals a multiple regression result of the independent variables on the 
dependent variable. The result shows that there is a positive relationship between some of the independent 
variables and the dependent variable, except administrative control and quality control every other 
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independent variable is in line with the apriori expectation. This invariably implies that a unit increase in the 
positive independent variables (individually) will bring a corresponding increase on the dependent, while on 
the other hand; an increase in the negatively signed variables will bring about a decrease in the dependent 
variable. 
 
Based on the above, it means that a positive change in internal control will bring a corresponding increase 
on the financial effectiveness of tertiary institutions. This assertion is in accordance with the findings of 
Tumwine (2011), Brian (2013), and Abraham (2013) that there is a significant and positive relationship 
between internal control and financial effectiveness of tertiary institutions. However, the result above is 
contrary to the findings of Ejoh and Ejom (2014) that states that there is no significant relationship between 
internal control activities and financial performance of Cross River State College of Education. 
 

Conclusions 
Sequel to the findings above, it is discovered that tertiary institutions have continued to register financial 
mismanagement even when there are guidelines for the utilisation of funds. There is however, continued 
poor financial effectiveness, where usage of capital grants, usage of accumulated surplus, usage of 
recurrent subventions and usage of revenue from fees are not properly utilised and rules and regulations 
on the use of all these sources of finance are not adhered to and there is massive unaccounted funds, 
uncompleted projects and deterioration of plants and equipment as a result of misuse of finance facing the 
system. Most respondents were of the view that there was a relationship between internal control and 
financial effectiveness. The financial effectiveness of a tertiary institution can be measured by the standard 
or the effectiveness of the internal control system.  

Based on this, the study concludes that internal control has a significant positive relationship to financial 
effectiveness in tertiary institutions. This implies that the usage of capital grants, usage of accumulated 
surplus, usage of recurrent subvention and usage of revenue from fees cannot yield any good result 
without efficient internal control.Also, it is concluded in the study that the institutions that had entrenched 
prudent internal control strategies were most likely to manage their finances better hence meeting their 
financial and other pertinent obligations almost seamlessly. 

As a result of the above, this study recommends that: 

¶ Disbursement of grants and subvention to tertiary institutions should be done as stipulated in the 
National Policy on Education. 

¶ There should be proper check and balances for all tertiary institutionsô financial transactions. 

¶ At least one member of the tertiary institutionsô Governing Council should be a financial expert. 

¶ Tertiary institutions should review their financial statements periodically and ensure that finance is 
used for the purpose in which they are meant for.  
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Abstract 
The study is predicated on the perception that there is a downward trend in the academic performance of 
students in tertiary institutions. Hence, the need to identify and examine factors as well as their influence on 
studentsô academic performance. These factors were moderated with studentsô perception. Furthermore, a 
twofold approach was used to examine factors that influence academic performance of undergraduate 
students in a privately owned university in Nigeria. This is significant to provide information that enhances 
the quality of academic competence bequeathed to students of Nigerian tertiary institutions. Questionnaire 
was used as the primary instrument for the study. The research instrument was administered to students in 
second, third and final year of a four-year Bachelor of Science degree programme in Accounting. 
Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to analyse data obtained from the questionnaire. The 
findings of the study add to the existing literature on the value-relevance of social, educational and financial 
factors that influence studentsô academic performance in tertiary institutions in Nigeria. The study found that 
demographic, academic, financial and religious factors affect studentsô academic performance with 
variations. Conclusively, more attention should be paid to the conduciveness of the learning environment 
as well as parental and peer pressure as factors that can be used to enhance academic performance. 

Keywords: academic performance, social factors, educational factors, undergraduates 

Introduction 
There are various factors that could influence students academic performance which range from stress, 
ability to comprehend, inadequate research facilities, inadequate materials for study, unstable environment 
to mention a few. However, factors that affect studentsô academic performance may vary based on 
programme being run (post-graduate, undergraduate, advanced level or pre-degree) or the course of study. 
Mlambo (2011) noted that poor academic performance of students could result in unacceptable levels of 
attrition, reduced level of students for Advanced level programmes and in turn undergraduate programmes. 
This could translate to reduced graduate throughput and increased cost for training the nation's future 
labour force. The main focus of this research is to examine the factors that affect academic performance of 
undergraduates at Bowen University, Iwo, Osun State Nigeria. 

There are factors  that could contribute to a student's academic performance which include but are not 
limited to; ability to do personal study, qualification (as well as expertise) of staff, access to study materials, 
conducive learning environment, communication skills, lecture environment, collaboration and cooperation. 



143 
 

Sansgiry, Bhosle and Sail (2006) noted that survey methods exist to measure the variables stated earlier. 
The Grade Point Average (GPA) for undergraduates is the common system used by administrators to 
measure studentsô performance. Olatunji, Aghimien, Oke and Olushola (2016) noted that successful 
performance of students is measured by most educators based on entry standards. Moreover, this may not 
be a very effective measure as academic success may be viewed differently by lecturers and students. 
There is also the increased concern on the performance of students as success in academics is widely 
considered in gaining good employment after graduation.  

The issue of improved academic performance has also become a source of concern for students across 
Nigerian universities. Similarly, stakeholders in the Nigerian educational system are equally concerned 
about studentsô performance (Akomolafe & Olurunfemi-Olabisi, 2011). This could be based on the fact that 
students are considered the greatest asset of any educational institute. More so, schools are established 
with the purpose of impacting knowledge (Fadokun, 2009). Thus, making poor academic performance a 
major concern for stakeholders in educational institutions. In addition, sponsors of students would desire 
value for money especially in Nigeria where the cost of education in privately owned institutions far 
outweighs the cost of state-run institutions. Various studies (Galiher, 2006; Lubinski & Camilia, 2006; Al- 
Mutairi, 2010; Yusoff, Rahim & Yaacob 2010; Akomolafe & Olorunfemi-Olabisi, 2011) have been carried 
out on undergraduate studentsô academic performance. However, this study seeks to examine factors that 
affect the performance of undergraduate students to determine whether the factors that affect academic 
performance in literature reviewed are similar to factors identified amongst Bowen University 
undergraduates. Olatunji et al., (2016) noted that study habits, studentôs self concept, teacher qualification, 
teaching method, school environment, and government factors affect studentsô performance.  The main 
focus of this study is to examine factors that affect the performance of undergraduate students in Bowen 
University. The paper makes the following contributions to knowledge; it provides insight on factors 
affecting performance of undergraduates and gives suggestions of better ways of improved studentsô 
performance. 

Research questions 
The following questions are answered by this research: 
RQ1: To what extent do demographic, academic, financial and religious (DAFR) factors affect academic 
performance? 
RQ2: What are studentsô perceptions of factors that impact their academic performance? 
Research hypothesis 
H01: Age has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H02: Gender has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H03: Entry type has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H04: Ordinary level type has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H05: Ordinary level result has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H06: Academic level has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H07: Financial status has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H08: Religious inclination has no significant influence on studentsô academic performance. 
H09: Demographic, academic, financial and religious factors collectively have no significant influence on 
studentsô academic performance. 
 
Literature Review 
Institutions are established for the purpose of passing knowledge to their major assets which are students 
and these institutions cannot exist in isolation of the students. Thus, it becomes necessary to be concerned 
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about the academic performance of the major assets of institutions. Literature is rife with studies on 
academic performance of students and especially in government owned institutions (Ali, Haider, Munir, 
Khan & Ahmed, 2013; Applegate & Daly, 2006; Hedjazi & Omidi, 2008; Al-Rofo, 2010). This research 
would contribute to the existing body of literature on undergraduate studentsô academic performance, by 
using a privately-owned instittuion. There is paucity of research on factors affecting performance of 
undergraduates in Private Institutions as compared to Government owned institutions in Nigeria. Most 
studies on factors affecting performance of undergraduate studies use the Grade Point Average (GPA) as a 
common factor to show the performance of students. Sansgiry, Bhosle and Sail (2006) noted that the GPA 
remains a primary indicator for performance in the academic environment. Various studies have examined 
factors affecting studentsô academic performance in general (Banard, 2004; Roberts, 2007; Shafiq, Farooq, 
Chaudhry & Berhanu, 2011) while others have focused on particular course of study (Mlambo, 2011; 
Jeffres, Barclay & Stolte, 2014; Suhas & Panya, 2016). Alos, Caranto and David (2015) noted that thinking 
skills and the ability of teachers to harness the thinking skills of the student could affect the student's 
performance.  
 
This was corroborated by Mushtaq and Khan (2012) who noted that communication skills affect studentsô 
academic performance. Communication skills when improved upon could give students better chances to 
perform better academically (Abdullah, 2011). According to Kirby 2002 cited in Hijazi and Naqvi (2006) 
impatience is another factor that could affect a student academic performance. Impatience could affect a 
student's ability to take in all that is being taught for not been patient to go through all lectures or the 
teacher's explanation of certain technical aspects. Also, access to improved learning materials and well 
equipped libraries could equally have impact on studentsô performance (Barkley, 2006).  
 
According to Chong, Cheung and Hui (2009) absenteeism is considered a major factor affecting 
performance of students. Brauer cited in Teixeira (2016) supports this and notes that absenteeism is likely 
to jeopardize teaching and learning. He notes that the reasons for absenteeism may have to do with factors 
such as; low quality instruction, students have already mastered the material or they can learn the material 
better by spending the same time studying in other ways. Contrarily Crede, Roch and Kieszczynka (2010) 
notes that class attendance is beneficial for learning, irrespective of the specific teaching mode or modes 
used by the instructor. Various researches (Chen & Lin, 2008; Romer, 1993; Schmulian & Coetzee, 2011) 
on studentsô academic performance reveal absenteeism as a major factor affecting studentsô performance. 
Similarly, Chen and Lin (2008) note that absenteeism can be associated with poor performance and thus 
should be monitored properly. Thus, attendance in class should be encouraged and enforced (Romer 1993 
& Brauer 1994). Conversely Stephenson (1994) noted that a captive audience may not be an ideal 
environment and mandatory attendance may distort the opportunity cost of absenteeism and impose 
welfare loss on the student. 
 
Furthermore, Kochhar (2002) opined that proper guidance could contribute to improved academic 
performance despite the factors identified earlier that affect studentsô academic performance. Student 
participation in class exercises and activities could also affect academic performance as active participation 
could indicate weak areas that could be improved upon. A study by Robert and Sampson (2011) on 
studentsô academic performance noted that active participation in the learning process could help to 
improve students' performance. However, Jeffres, Barclay and Stolte (2014) stated that the consideration of 
students as assets of the institution and subsequent treatment as customers has reduced the value placed 
on education. Thus, education is seen by the students as something that is owed them for the financial 
amount involved rather than as education to be earned  This creates the feeling that they are owed the 
services rendered and as such there is no motivation to strive to perform in their academic (Kopp, Zinn, 
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Jurich & Finney, 2011). Most studies have measured academic performance through the use of the Grade 
Point Average. This study also adopts the point grade system to measure academic performance. This is 
supported by Rock off 2003 and Kingdon 2006 who noted the common measure for studentsô performance 
to be test scores and students grade of the student. However, Tan and Yates 2007 note that academic 
performance can be measured based on past exam performance. The success of a student academically is 
seen as critical to employability in the labour market.  
 
This is particular for a country such as Nigeria where the number of unemployed graduates is on the 
increase. Kingdon (2006) and Rockoff (2003) noted that academic performance can be measured through 
grades and test scores. This is in consonance with this study as the grade of students converted to points 
will be used to measure academic performance. Various researches have been conducted on factors that 
affect studentsô performance in developed countries. However, not too many studies have been conducted 
in developing countries such as Nigeria. 
 
For the purpose of this study, academic performance is considered to be a students' success or failure at 
the end of the period for courses being taught. The Grade Point Average (GPA) is used as the measure for 
academic performance. This is supported by Kingdon (2006) who noted that academic performance is 
widely measured in terms of grades and test scores. Kochhar (2000) opined that proper guidance is 
necessary to help the students with problems like lack of correlation between talent and achievement, faulty 
study practice, imperfect methods of learning. 
Robert and Sampson (2011) noted that students who effectively participate in the learning procedure are 
seen to have a higher CGPA (cumulative grade point average). Despite the factors identified above that 
could impact on students performance, Ebenuwa-Okoh (2010) noted that academic performance of 
undergraduate students in Nigeria is on the decline. 
At this juncture, it is significant to assert that studies on academic performance measurement (Okafor & 
Egbon, 2011; Mushtaq & Khan, 2012; Teixeira, 2016) do not anchor their research on theories while others 
give a passing mention (e.g. Obasi, Urhoghide, & Archibong, 2015).  
Methodology 
This study focuses on undergraduate students of the Faculty of Social and Management Sciences with 
reference to students in the Department of Accounting. The study looks at factors affecting the academic 
performance of 200, 300 and 400 level students. A programme of four (4) years is run to obtain a degree in 
Accounting from Bowen University. However, for the purpose of this study 100 level students are excluded 
as it is considered that they are just new to the university system. 

The variables that are considered by this work are (1) demographics, which is limited to age and gender, 
which have been found to influence academic performance, (2) academic factors such as entry type 
(UTME/DE), ordinary level type (WAEC, NECO, CAMRIDGE etc.), ordinary level result, which was a 
computational cumulative of five requisite subjects (Mathematics, English Language, Economics and any 
other two subjects) as matriculation requirements, and academic level (200, 300 and 400). The third is the 
financial factor, which was measured using self-reported monthly allowance and (4) religious factor, with 
Chapel service attendance as proxy. Academic performance was measured using cumulative grade point 
average (CGPA). It is significant to state that A1, B2, B3, C4, C5 and C6 were coded 6, 5, 4, 3, 2, and 1 
respectively and cumulated to arrive at the result of each respondent. 

Simple statistical tables showing measures of central tendency (mean) and dispersion (standard deviation) 
were used for data presentation, while regression analysis was used in answering research question one 
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and correlation was used to answer research question two. Crosstabs was also used to control for 
studentsô perception and academic performance. 

Model specification for this study based on the regression model is stated as follows: 

ὈὩάέὫὶὥὴὬώ  ὪὃὫὩȟὋὩὲὨὩὶȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȢȣȣȣȣȣρ 

ὃὧὥὨὩάὭὧ ὪὥὧὸέὶίὪὉὲὸὶώ ὸώὴὩȟὕὰὩὺὩὰ ὸώὴὩȟὕὰὩὺὩὰ ὶὩίόὰὸȟὒὩὺὩὰȣȣȢȢȣȢȢς 

ὊὭὲὥὲὧὭὥὰ ὪὥὧὸέὶὪὓέὲὸὬὰώ ὥὰὰέύὥὲὧὩȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȢȢȣȣȢσ  

ὙὩὰὭὫὭέόί ὪὥὧὸέὶὪὅὬὥὴὩὰ ὥὸὸὩὲὨὥὲὧὩȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȢȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣτ  

ὃὧὥὨὩάὭὧ ὴὩὶὪέὶάὥὲὧὩ
 ὪὈὩάέὫὶὥὴὬώȟὃὧὥὨὩάὭὧ ὪὥὧὸέὶίȟὪὭὲὥὲὧὭὥὰ ὪὥὧὸέὶȟὶὩὰὭὫὭέόί ὪὥὧὸέὶȣȢȢȢυ 

ὃὧὥὨὩάὭὧ ὴὩὶὪέὶάὥὲὧὩ
 ‍  ‍ὈὩάέὫὶὥὴὬώ  ‍ὃὧὥὨὩάὭὧ Ὢὥὧὸέὶί ‍ὊὭὲὥὲὧὭὥὰ Ὢὥὧὸέὶ
‍ὙὩὰὭὫὭέόί Ὢὥὧὸέὶ ‐ȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȣȢȢȣȣȣφ 

Data analysis and discussion of results 
 

Response statistics 
Of the 250 copies of questionnaire that were prepared, only 169 were returned and found usable for 
analysis, which is 68%. It is important to state that the questionnaire was ethically administered and that 
some respondents did not respond to all questions, leaving the total in some questions less than 169.  
 

Demographic statistics 
The gender distribution of the respondents is 66% and 34% for female and male students respectively, 
while many (65%) of the respondents fall in the 19-22 years, while only one student is 27 years or more.  
 

Academic statistics 
Results also show that 78% of respondents gained admission using the WAEC SSCE and about 4% used 
combined results. More than 70% of our respondents are performing well academically in the second class 
upper and first class divisions, while only a few of about 4% are in the third class division. Respondents are 
fairly evenly distributed among the three levels (50, 51 and 57 for 200, 300 and 400 levels.) We present the 
statistics of results used in the admission of students in Table 1. 
 

Financial and religious statistics 
45% of the respondents claimed to receive about N10,000.00 to N24,999.00 monthly, while 39% of the 
respondents claimed to receive N25,000.00 toN39,999.00 and 16% claimed to receive more. 87% of 
respondents attend only the mandatory number of chapel services, while about 13% attend more services 
than the mandatory number. 
 

Table 1: Demographics 
 Freq. (n=169) % 

Gender 

Female 109 65.7 
Male 57 34.3 

Total 166 100.0 

Age 
15-18 years 49 29.3 
19-22 years 109 65.3 
23-26 years 8 4.8 
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27 years and above 1 .6 

Total 167 100.0 

Entry type 
UTME 144 87.8 
DE 20 12.2 

Total 164 100.0 

Oôlevel 

WAEC SSCE 128 77.6 
NECO SSCE 9 5.5 
WAEC GCE 17 10.3 
NECO GCE 1 .6 
CAMBRIDGE 3 1.8 
Combined results 7 4.2 

Total 165 100.0 

CGPA 

1.50-2.39 6 3.9 
2.40-3.49 36 23.5 
3.50-4.49 80 52.3 
4.50-5.00 31 20.3 

Total 153 100.0 

Level 

200 level 50 31.6 
300 level 51 32.3 
400 level 57 36.1 

Total 158 100.0 

Monthly 
allowance 

10,000-24,999 69 44.8 
25,000-39,999 60 39.0 
40,000-54,999 25 16.2 

Total 154 100.0 

Chapel 
attendance 

3 times in a week 141 86.5 
4 times in a week 18 11.0 
5 times in a week 1 .6 
6 times in a week 3 1.8 

Total 163 100.0 

 Math Eng Econ Other1 Other2 
 Freq % Freq % Freq % Freq % Freq % 

Grad
es 

C6 17 10.9 13 8.3 5 3.2 1 .7 2 1.4 
C5 10 6.4 12 7.6 7 4.5 4 2.8 3 2.2 
C4 25 16.0 32 20.4 27 17.3 18 12.7 13 9.4 
B3 23 14.7 46 29.3 40 25.6 23 16.2 24 17.3 
B2 53 34.0 44 28.0 44 28.2 24 16.9 35 25.2 
A1 28 17.9 10 6.4 33 21.2 72 50.7 62 44.6 

Total 156 100.0 157 100.0 156 100.0 142 100.0 139 100.0 

Source: Field survey, 2018 
  

Effect of demographic, academic, financial and religious factors on performance 
The first research question is on the effect of DAFR on academic performance. We use two methods to 
determine the influence of DAFR on academic performance; correlation and regression. Table 2 shows the 
results and it is evident that only age, gender and religious factors are statistically significant as shown by 
the correlation probability values, although both age and gender have negative correlation with academic 
performance, while religious factor has a positive relationship with academic performance.Nine hypotheses 
were formulated and tested using regression analysis and the results show that hypotheses 3 (r2=-.007), 4 
(r2=-.005), and 7 (r2=-.007) had a negative influence on academic performance, while the other six 
hypotheses had positive influence on academic performance.  
 

These results imply that age, gender, academic level, ordinary level result, attendance have positive, albeit 
insignificant influence on academic performance. Studies by Keith, Byerly, Floerchinger, Pence and 
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Thornberg (2006) noted that there is a positive relationship between age and academic performance. 
Contrarily, Kaur, Chung and Lee (2010) noted that age does not majorly affect studentsô academic 
performance.Using all of the factors (demographic, academic, financial and religious), we found that the 
r2=.154 (15%). Other issues that may have been left out of our study is the influence of cultural or ethnic 
inclinations, lecture attendance, quality of lecturers as well as the studentsô perception of each lecturer, 
family issues etc. This result differ from another study which used communication, learning facilities, proper 
guidance and family stress as independent variables and student performance as dependent with an 
adjusted R-square of 42% (Mushtaq & Khan, 2012). The stated values are the adjusted R square. 
 

 

Furthermore, the ANOVA output showed that hypotheses 1(p=.005), 2(p=.000), 5(p=.000), 8(p=.009), and 
9(p=.001) are statistically significant, while hypotheses 3(p=.901), 4(p=.595), 6(p=.120), and 7(p=.859) 
were not statistically significant. 
 

Table 2: Correlation between factors and academic performance 

 CGPA  

Respondents' gender 

Pearson 
Correlation 

-.354** 

Sig. (2-tailed) .000 
N 151 

Respondents' age 
bracket 

Pearson 
Correlation 

-.226** 

Sig. (2-tailed) .005 
N 153 

Respondents' type of 
entry path 

Pearson 
Correlation 

.010 

Sig. (2-tailed) .901 
N 150 

Ordinary level type 

Pearson 
Correlation 

-.044 

Sig. (2-tailed) .595 
N 150 

Respondents' level 

Pearson 
Correlation 

-.104 

Sig. (2-tailed) .213 
N 144 

Respondents' 
monthly allowance 

Pearson 
Correlation 

.015 

Sig. (2-tailed) .859 
N 141 

Attendance of chapel 
services 

Pearson 
Correlation 

.214** 

Sig. (2-tailed) .009 
N 148 

Variables R Square Adjusted R 
square 

ANOVA 

F Sig 
Age .051 .045 8.143 .005 
Gender .126 .120 21.398 .000 
Entry type .000 -.007 .016 .901 
OôLevel 
type 

.002 -.005 .284 .595 

Result .085 .079 13.960 .000 
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Level .017 .010 2.440 .120 
Financials .000 -.007 .032 .859 
Religion .046 .039 7.029 .009 
All factors .209 .154 3.804 .001 

Source: Field survey, 2018 

Demographic 

factors 

Academic factors Academic 

performance 

Financial factor 

Gender 

Religious factor 

Age 

Entry type 

Oôlevel type 

Result 

Level 

R2=.045 

R2=.039 

R2=-.007 

R2=.120 

R2=.154 

R2=-.007 

R2=-.005 

R2=.079 

R2=010 

Figure 2:Result of analysis (Hypothesis test result) 

Source: Field survey, 2018 
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Studentsô perception on factors that affect performance 

We asked respondents to identify their level of agreement on eight variables that literature have highlighted 
affect academic performance of students and we present the result showing frequency and percentage, 
sum (minimum of 0 for undecided/neutral to 4 for strongly agree), mean and standard deviation (ů2) in 
Table 3. 

Many of our respondents (62%) agreed that examination is a true test of knowledge hence can be inferred 
that they agree with examination results as indicative of their knowledge and understanding of the course. 
About 26% share a divergent view however while 11% chose to remain neutral. The mean score of 
2.54/4.00 is a suggestion that many of the respondents agree, however it should be taken with caution, as 
ů2 =1.310, which indicates high variation in responses. 

Only about 7% strongly agreed that their learning environment is conducive, and another 43% agreed. The 
number of respondents who chose neutral is very high. The mean score of 1.99 is rather low as well, 
although results also show very high variations in responses.Poor infrastructure seems to catch 
respondentsô attention as a significant determinant of academic performance. About 65% agreed that 
infrastructure has significant potential to affect studentsô academic performance. In the same vein, 76% of 
respondents agreed that emotional issues significantly affect academic performance. 

It is surprising that about 52% of respondents agreed that absolute dependence on external tutorials 
enhance studentsô academic performance. This may be due to the mode of tutorials, since past questions 
are extensively treated. From the results, it seems parental and peer pressure is the most significant factor 
that affects studentsô academic performance with a mean score of 2.96 and with the least standard 
deviation score. This implies that most of the respondents agree that this factor has a significant impact on 
performance of students, academically.  

About 49% of respondents agreed that religious activities, in excess of the ñnormò affect studentsô academic 
performance and finally, about 44% of respondents believe lecture attendance is still significant in 
enhancing academic performance. Only about 33% believe personal and self study without lecture 
attendance can enhance performance. In general, the number of respondents who chose not to respond by 
choosing neutral is on the high side. A correlation test among the eight variables is shown in Table 4. A 
cross tab of the variables was carried out with CGPA and the result is presented in Table 5. 
 

Table 3: Perceptive statistics of students 

Variables  
 U/N SD D A SA Total 

n=169 
Sum Mean ů2 

Are examinations a true test 
of knowledge? 

Freq 19 20 24 59 44 166 
421 2.54 1.310 

% 11.4 12.0 14.5 35.5 26.5 100.0 

Learning environ is 
conducive 

Freq 40 16 28 72 11 167 
332 1.99 1.326 

% 24.0 9.6 16.8 43.1 6.6 100.0 

Poor infrastructure and 
academic performance 

Freq 21 13 25 53 56 168 
446 2.65 1.345 

% 12.5 7.7 14.9 31.5 33.3 100.0 

Emotional problems and 
academic performance 

Freq 20 10 10 63 63 166 
471 2.84 1.323 

% 12.0 6.0 6.0 38.0 38.0 100.0 

Dependence on tutorials and Freq 47 6 26 60 27 166 346 2.08 1.479 
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academic performance % 28.3 3.6 15.7 36.1 16.3 100.0 

Parent and peer influence on 
academic performance 

Freq 14 7 6 85 56 168 
498 2.96 1.137 

% 8.3 4.2 3.6 50.6 33.3 100.0 

Religious activities and 
academic performance 

Freq 40 12 33 39 43 167 
407 2.44 1.506 

% 24.0 7.2 19.8 23.4 25.7 100.0 

Personal and self-study 
without lecture attendance 

Freq 39 19 54 25 30 167 
372 2.23 1.387 

% 23.4 11.4 32.3 15.0 18.0 100.0 

Source: Field survey, 2018 
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Table 4: Correlation table for studentsô perception 
Correlations 

 Examinations: a 
true test of 
knowledge 

Learning 
environ is 
conducive 

Poor 
infrastructure 

Emotional 
problems 

Dependence 
on tutorials  

Parent and 
peer 

influence 

Religious 
activities 

Personal and self-
study without 

lecture attendance 
Examinations: a true 
test of knowledge 

PC 1        
Sig.         
N 166        

Learning environ is 
conducive 

PC .032 1       
Sig. .688        
N 165 167       

Poor infrastructure PC .003 .178* 1      
Sig. .966 .021       
N 166 167 168      

Emotional problems  PC .022 .200** .463** 1     
Sig. .784 .010 .000      
N 164 165 166 166     

Dependence on 
tutorials 

PC .014 .093 .027 .108 1    
Sig. .855 .233 .727 .167     
N 164 165 166 164 166    

Parent and peer 
influence 

PC .035 .244** .266** .231** .063 1   
Sig. .650 .001 .000 .003 .419    
N 166 167 168 166 166 168   

Religious activities PC -.059 .015 -.120 -.064 -.029 -.017 1  
Sig. .451 .846 .122 .412 .709 .828   
N 165 166 167 165 165 167 167  

Personal and self-
study without lecture 
attendance 

PC -.044 .013 .084 .123 .113 .010 .040 1 
Sig. .573 .868 .283 .116 .148 .897 .611  
N 165 166 167 165 165 167 166 167 

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). 
**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). 
PC: Pearson Correlation  
The Sig. is 2-tailed 

Source: Field survey, 2018 
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Table 5: Crosstab with CGPA 

 
CGPA of respondents Total 

1.50-2.39 2.40-3.49 3.50-4.49 4.50-5.00 

Are examinations 
a true test of 
knowledge? 

Undecided/Neutral 0 5 11 3 19 
Strongly disagree 1 3 6 6 16 
Disagree 2 4 15 3 24 
Agree 2 11 30 12 55 
Strongly agree 1 12 17 7 37 

Total 6 35 79 31 151 

Learning environ 
is conducive 

Undecided/Neutral 1 9 20 9 39 
Strongly disagree 1 2 9 3 15 
Disagree 2 4 16 3 25 
Agree 2 18 29 14 63 
Strongly agree 0 3 5 2 10 

Total 6 36 79 31 152 

Poor 
infrastructure and 
academic 
performance 

Undecided/Neutral 0 5 10 2 17 
Strongly disagree 1 2 8 2 13 
Disagree 1 10 7 5 23 
Agree 1 12 28 8 49 
Strongly agree 3 7 27 14 51 

Total 6 36 80 31 153 

Emotional 
problems and 
academic 
performance 

Undecided/Neutral 1 4 7 4 16 
Strongly disagree 1 4 3 2 10 
Disagree 0 3 5 1 9 
Agree 2 15 32 8 57 
Strongly agree 2 10 31 16 59 

Total 6 36 78 31 151 

Dependence on 
tutorials and 
academic 
performance 

Undecided/Neutral 2 10 23 9 44 
Strongly disagree 0 2 4 0 6 
Disagree 0 5 13 5 23 
Agree 4 9 26 13 52 
Strongly agree 0 9 14 3 26 

Total 6 35 80 30 151 

Parent and peer 
influence on 
academic 
performance 

Undecided/Neutral 0 3 7 2 12 
Strongly disagree 1 2 2 1 6 
Disagree 0 2 3 1 6 
Agree 2 19 42 16 79 
Strongly agree 3 10 26 11 50 

Total 6 36 80 31 153 

Religious 
activities and 
academic 
performance 

Undecided/Neutral 2 4 23 7 36 
Strongly disagree 1 2 5 3 11 
Disagree 1 11 8 10 30 
Agree 2 8 20 7 37 
Strongly agree 0 11 24 3 38 

Total 6 36 80 30 152 

Personal and 
self-study without 
lecture 
attendance 

Undecided/Neutral 1 7 20 6 34 
Strongly disagree 1 4 9 3 17 
Disagree 2 10 25 13 50 
Agree 0 4 15 3 22 
Strongly agree 2 11 11 5 29 

Total 6 36 80 30 152 

Source: Field survey, 2018  
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Conclusions 
This study is limited to only one out of more than 160 universities in Nigeria. However, it provided answers 
to questions on the issue of factors that affect studentsô academic performance and adds to existing 
literature on studentsô perception of factors that affect studentsô academic performance. The study found 
that religious activities (Chapel attendance of 3 times per week) were significant in impacting academic 
performance. From the study, it shows that age and gender are not significant predictors of academic 
performance. 
 
An area that university administrators should look into is the conduciveness of the learning environment, 
which was found to be a significant factor that affects studentsô academic performance. This will ordinarily 
include spacious classroom and classroom space should be significant in class allocation, comfortable 
furniture and air conditioning systems. In addition, universities may begin to wield parental influence and 
regulate peer pressure to enhance academic performance, since it is found to be significant as well. This 
could be achieved through periodic feedback on wardsô performance to mitigate issues of late 
determination of studentsô performance after each semester. Lecture attendance standard must be 
enforced using technology enhanced system to ensure accurate attendance monitoring, which will then be 
used as a prerequisite for examination. Furthermore, universities may begin to give some relevance to the 
inclusion of religious activities as part of normal studentsô regular weekly activities, since it was found to be 
significant to academic performance. 
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